Public

[ CITY °F

-

Berkeley Homeless
Services Panel of Experts

REVISED REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
OCTOBER 4, 2023 - 7:00 PM
Berkeley Repertory Theater, Admin Office
Mercer-Golden Rehearsal Hall
999 Harrison St, Berkeley, CA 94710

Commission Chair: Jim Hynes (jimhynes@pacbell.net; 510-225-8128)
Commission Secretary: Josh Jacobs (jjacobs@berkeleyca.gov; 510-225-8035)

Mayor Arreguin: Rashi Kesarwani: Terry Taplin:
Carole Marasovic Megan Wachspress Denah Bookstein
Ben Bartlett: Kate Harrison: Sophie Hahn:
Paul Kealoha-Blake Mary Ann Meany Vacant
Susan Wengraf: Rigel Robinson: Mark Humbert
Alice Feller Donnell Jones Jim Hynes

All items are for discussion and possible action.

1. Roll Call.
2. Public comment for items not on the agenda.

Updates/Action Items:
3. Approval of Minutes from July 13, 2023. [Attachment 1].

Approval of the agenda.
Discussion of the land acknowledgement. Discussion and possible action.
Development of Good Neighbor Guidelines and Encampment Policy. Discussion and

possible action.

7. Discussion of the 2024 Homeless Services Panel of Experts meeting schedule.
Discussion and possible action.
8. Update on reports to council including serving inclement weather needs, RV

dwellers, and other vehicle dwellers, authorization for an additional homeless
services panel of experts meeting in October 2023, and incorporating
accommodations for literacy issues and cognitive impairments into Request for
Proposals (RFP) for providers in the community agency allocation funding process.
Discussion and possible action.

9. Update on Encampment Based Mobile Wellness Team, Health Housing and
Community Services new health assessment report, and additional funds to
Berkeley Food Network.

o gk

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 5" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510.225.8035 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510.981.5450
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx
mailto:jimhynes@pacbell.net
mailto:jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info

Public
Page 2 of 3
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda
October 4, 2023

10. Adjourn.

Attachments:
1. Minutes from July 13, 2023.
2. Draft Encampment Response Policy and Good Neighbor Guidelines.
3. Report: Serving inclement weather needs, RV dwellers, and other vehicle
dwellers.
4. Report: Authorization for an additional homeless services panel of experts
meeting in October 2023
5. Report and Companion Report: Accommodating client literacy and cogitative
challenges.
Senate Bill No. 326: The Behavioral Health Services Act.
Homeless Services Panel of Experts 2024 Meeting Schedule.
Options Recovery Services — Encampment-based Mobile Wellness Center
Project.
9. Budget Referral: Berkeley Food Network to address increased demand.

© N o

Correspondence and Notice of Decision Requests:

Deadlines for Receipt:
A) Supplemental Materials must be received by 5 PM the day before the meeting.
B) Supplemental Communications must be received no later than noon the day of the meeting.

Procedures for Distribution:

A) Staff will compile all Supplemental Materials and Supplemental Communications received by the
deadlines above into a Supplemental Packet, and will print 15 copies of this packet for the Commission
meeting.

B) For any Supplemental Material or Communication from a Commissioner received after these deadlines,
it is the Commissioner’s responsibility to ensure that 15 printed copies are available at the meeting.
Commissioners will not be reimbursed for any printing or materials expenses.

C) Staff will neither print nor distribute Supplemental Communications or Materials for subcommittee
meetings.

Procedures for Consideration:
A) The Commission must make a successful motion to accept and receive all Supplemental Materials and
Communications into the record. This includes the Supplemental Packet compiled by staff.

B) Each additional Supplemental Material or Communication received by or before the meeting that is not
included in the Supplemental packet (i.e., those items received after the respective deadlines above) must
be individually voted upon to be considered by the full Commission.

C) Supplemental Materials subject to a Commission vote that are not accepted by motion of the
Commission, or for which there are not at least 15 paper copies (9 for each Commission seat, one for staff
records, and 5 for the public) available by the scheduled start of the meeting, may not be considered by the
Commission.

*Supplemental Materials are defined as any items authored by one or more Commissioners, pertaining to
an agenda item but available after the agenda and packet for the meeting has been distributed, on which
the Commission is asked to take vote at the meeting. This includes any letter to Council, proposed Council
report, or other correspondence on behalf of the Commission for which a full vote of the Commission is
required.




Public
Page 3 of 3
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda
October 4, 2023

*Supplemental Communications are defined as written emails or letters from members of the public or
from one or more Commissioners, the intended audience of which is the full Commission. Supplemental
Communications cannot be acted upon by the Commission, and they may or may not pertain to agenda
items.

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this agenda will
be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services Department located at
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.

Public Comment Policy:

Members of the public may speak on any items on the Agenda and items not on the Agenda during the
initial Public Comment period. Members of the public may not speak more than once on any given item.
The Chair may limit public comments to 3 minutes or less.

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this agenda will
be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services Department located at
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.

COMMUNITY ACCESS INFORMATION

This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the
ADA Program Coordinator at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least 3 business days before the
meeting date. Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.

Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become part
of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail
addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any
communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the public record. If you do
not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver
communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or
committee. If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not include
that information in your communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or
committee for further information. The Health, Housing & Community Services Department does not take
a position as to the content. Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public
record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s
website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required,
but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the
public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public,
you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board,
commission or committee. If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please
do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant board,
commission or committee for further information. The Health, Housing & Community Services Department
does not take a position as to the content.

ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-
related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact
the ADA Program Coordinator at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before the
meeting date. Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.”




Public

[ CITY @F

[

Berkeley Homeless
Services Panel of Experts

MEETING MINUTES

July 13, 2023

1. Roll Call: 7:00 PM
Present: Meany, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Marasovic, Jones, Feller, Wachspress
(absent until 7:03 PM), and Hynes.
Absent: None.
Staff: Jacobs.
Council: None.
Public: 1.

2. Comments from the Public: 0.
3. Land acknowledgement.

Update/Action Items
4. Approval of Minutes from June 7, 2023.

Action: M/S/C Hynes/Meany move to approve the June 7 minutes as written.
Vote: Ayes: Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, and
Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Wachspress.
5. Agenda Approval.
Action: M/S/C Meany/Hynes move to approve the agenda as written.
Vote: Ayes: Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, and
Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Wachspress.
6. Acting chair update. Discussion.

Discussion; no action taken.

7. Approval of the report of one additional HSPE meeting in October. Discussion and
possible action.

Action: M/S/C Meany/Marasovic move to approve the report requesting one
additional regular meeting in October.

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 5" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510.225.8035 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

Public

Homeless Services Panel of Experts
July 13, 2023

8.

Vote: Ayes: Meany, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress and
Marasovic.
Noes: Hynes. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

Selection of upcoming site visits. Discussion and possible action.
Discussion; no action taken.

Discussion and possible recommendation of input into Mental Health Services Act
(MHSA) contract for Encampment-based Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team with
consideration to include inclement weather function, outreach to RVs and
encampments of one. Discussion and possible action.

Action: M/S/C Wachspress/Meany move to Council to refer to staff to include
providing services to meet inclement weather needs of the unhoused and provide
services to RV, and other vehicle, dwellers, as is feasible, within the parameters of
the state-approved Encampment Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team.

Vote: Ayes: Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress
and Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

10.Recommendation of incorporation accommodations for literacy issues and cognitive

11.

impairments into Request for Proposals (RFP) for providers in the community
agency allocation funding process. Discussion and possible action.

Action: M/S/C Meany/Wachspress move that Council refer to staff to include a
question, to homeless services providers, in the community agency allocation
funding RFP as to how homeless services providers plan to accommodate clients
with literacy and cognitive challenges.

Vote: Ayes: Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress
and Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

Establishing time limit policy on discussion on any one action item by an individual
commissioner. Discussion and possible action.

Discussion; no action taken.

12.Election of Chair. Discussion and possible action.

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Meany move to nominate Carole Marasovic.

Vote: Ayes: Meany, Marasovic, and Kealoha-Blake.

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 5" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510.225.8035 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450

E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

Public
Homeless Services Panel of Experts
July 13, 2023

Noes: Hynes, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress. Abstain: None. Absent:
None.

Motion fails.
Action: M/S/C Bookstein/Jones move to nominate Jim Hynes.

Vote: Ayes: Hynes, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress.
Noes: Meany, Marasovic, and Kealoha-Blake. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

13.Vice-chair election, if applicable. Discussion and possible action.
Discussion; no action taken.

14.Discussion of provider lack of compliance with City contracts. Discussion and
possible action.

Discussion; no action taken.

15. Discussion of HSPE impact on budget recommendations. Discussion and possible
action.

Discussion; no action taken.
16.Adjourn.
Meeting adjourned at 8:55 PM.

Minutes Approved on:

Josh Jacobs, Commission Secretary:

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 5" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510.225.8035 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

Public
/ CITY OF

-

o
m
5
m
—

m

Office of the City Manager

September 21, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: GOW{ Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Re: Draft Encampment Policy and Good Neighbor Guidelines

Introduction

In 2018, in light of a growing unsheltered homelessness crisis on the streets of Berkeley
and the greater Bay Area, the City Council sent three referrals to City staff regarding
homeless encampments and how best to address them:

e 4/26/2018: Direct the City Manager to return to Council with (1) an Ordinance
codifying Regulations for Sitting, Lying, Dogs and Objects on Sidewalks and in
Parklets, (2) a final Encampment Response Policy, and (3) necessary
amendments, if any, to existing policies, Administrative Regulations and/or code
sections impacted by the proposed Ordinance and Policy, for Council adoption.

e 10/16/2018:

o In light of the 9th Circuit Court of Appeal’'s September 4, 2018 ruling in
Martin v. City of Boise, refer to the City Manager further analysis of
Council’'s April 26, 2018 proposed “Regulations for Sitting, Lying, Dogs
and Objects on Sidewalks and in Parklets” and analysis of Berkeley’s
existing regulations and practices, including but not limited to ordinances,
administrative regulations, training protocols and other policies and
practices, related to use and limits to use of sidewalks, parklets, streets,
parks and other City property.

o Refer to the City Manager to collaborate with the offices of the Mayor and
Councilmember Hahn to amend existing and, as necessary, draft new
policies and procedures compliant with the above analysis, and report
back to Council with recommendations for compliant policies.

e 10/16/2018: Refer to the City Manager the development of non-criminal options
for the enforcement of Berkeley laws and regulations related to use of public
space that:

o Reduce, delay or, if possible, eliminate criminal penalties;

o Offer positive alternatives; and

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager



mailto:manager@CityofBerkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager

Public
Page 2
September 21, 2023
Re: Draft Encampment Response Policy and Good Neighbor Guidelines

o Ensure that the City has effective tools for enforcement of laws and
regulations.

o While ensuring effective enforcement, options should delay or avoid
pursuing infractions and misdemeanors and provide options to cure
violations through positive actions such as mandated and verified
community service, education, or participation in social service programs.

Since then, three aspects of these staff referrals have been satisfied:

e Council has since passed a sidewalk ordinance (BMC Section 14.48.120) and
the City Manager has promulgated Administrative Regulation 10.2 to implement
this ordinance.

e The City Attorney’s Office, in July 2021, sent Council a privileged and confidential
memo providing an analysis of Berkeley’s various ordinances and administrative
regulations in light of the Martin v. Boise ruling.

e With the passage of the FY22 budget in June of 2021, the Council created the
Homeless Response Team (HRT) which the City Manager launched in
September 2021. Since that time, the HRT has performed 97 encampment and
RV operations across the City; throughout all this, and despite some very
challenging situations, the HRT has issued citations for infractions or
misdemeanors and has issued fewer than 5 custodial arrests during the course
of encampment operations. Instead, the HRT focuses resolving encampments
through outreach, service referrals, and voluntary compliance, making over 576
shelter offers with an overall acceptance rate of 44%, removing over 950,000
pounds of debris from encampments, issuing 1,151 courtesy public notices, and
greatly reducing the health and safety impacts and overall footprint of
encampments across the City. In sum, the HRT already effectuates the use of
non-criminal options for the enforcement of applicable laws and regulations.

However, in part because of the emergence of a global pandemic and subsequent CDC
guidance pertaining to encampments, a rapidly evolving landscape of case law and
legal risk, and changes in staff leadership, City staff have been unable to respond to the
referral to develop an Encampment Response Policy. With two years and nearly 100
major operations completed; critical lessons learned from both successes and
challenges on the ground; and observations regarding the limits of a city like Berkeley’s
ability to end unsheltered homelessness, the HRT now feels that this is an appropriate
and opportune time to respond to this referral, and will be taking the attached draft
Encampment Response Policy (see Attachment 1) and Good Neighbor Guidelines (see
Attachment 2) to the Homeless Services Panel of Experts for discussion and possible
action at their October 4, 2023 meeting.

Rationale for Encampment Response Policy

Homeless encampments affect nearly every person who lives in, works in, and visits
Berkeley—not the least of whom are the people living in them. Because so many
stakeholders and community members are meaningfully impacted, a robust public

Page 2



Public
Page 3
September 21, 2023
Re: Draft Encampment Response Policy and Good Neighbor Guidelines

process to develop a final Encampment Response Policy will be necessary before it can
be adopted by the full City Council. Accordingly, staff do not believe that the attached
draft policy is complete, but rather represents a starting point for the discussion. We are
hopeful that the Homeless Services Panel of Experts, as well as the greater Berkeley
community, will weigh in and shape this policy over the coming weeks and months.

Nevertheless, there are several important parameters that staff firmly believe should be
established as this discussion begins:

e First, this policy must not be confused with or mistaken for a strategic plan to
address homelessness in Berkeley. In the past two years, the City Council has
adopted or endorsed both a County strategic plan to end homelessness! as well
as a regional action plan to reduce unsheltered homelessness in particular.?
Permanent housing is the solution to homelessness, and Berkeley remains
committed to that solution. However, the policy precipitants to our current
homelessness situation have taken decades to unfold, and will likely take
decades to address and undo. The work to implement these strategic plans is
well underway, but they are long-term undertakings, and encampments present
immediate challenges that need policy guidance now.

e Meanwhile, Berkeley as well as the entire State of California, which has roughly
13% of the nation’s general population but half of the unsheltered homeless
population,® finds itself in a short-term affordable housing and shelter crisis. Over
the last year, the City has lost more year-round interim shelter capacity than it
has gained: while we have added 27 beds at the Berkeley Inn and 23 beds at the
new Super 8 program, we have lost 50 beds at Horizon and 40 safe RV parking
spaces at SPARK (both at 742 Grayson, which closed in December 2022) and
22 beds at the Emergency Respite trailer program (which ended June 2023) for a
net loss of 62 beds/interim spaces. On any average day, the HRT has fewer than
10 vacancies to work with across the entire shelter system, meaning that under
the Ninth Circuit’s rulings many encampments in our city must be able to remain
in place. City staff have brought in close to $10M in State Encampment
Resolution Funding grants to establish three new noncongregate shelters for
encampments in the last 18 months—a noteworthy feat for a city that otherwise
is considered too small to receive direct State homeless funding—but we cannot
take on more administrative burden at current staffing levels, and the rate at
which people are becoming unsheltered is outpacing the rate of our work to
respond to it.

e Thus, it is critical to understand and accept that unsheltered homelessness
is our new normal as a community. It is not an acceptable new normal, and we
must strive as a city and community to do better. But as we work towards a

1 See: https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-04/2022-04-
26%201tem%2008%20Endorsement%200f%20the%20Alameda%20County%20Home%20T ogether.pdf
2 See: https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07-
13%20Item%2012%20Endorse%20Al1%20Home%20CA%20Regional%20Action.pdf

3 See: https://www.ppic.org/blog/homeless-populations-are-rising-around-california/

Page 3


https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-04/2022-04-26%20Item%2008%20Endorsement%20of%20the%20Alameda%20County%20Home%20Together.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-04/2022-04-26%20Item%2008%20Endorsement%20of%20the%20Alameda%20County%20Home%20Together.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07-13%20Item%2012%20Endorse%20All%20Home%20CA%20Regional%20Action.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-07-13%20Item%2012%20Endorse%20All%20Home%20CA%20Regional%20Action.pdf
https://www.ppic.org/blog/homeless-populations-are-rising-around-california/

Public
Page 4
September 21, 2023
Re: Draft Encampment Response Policy and Good Neighbor Guidelines

shared vision of ending unsheltered homelessness, pretending that
encampments will somehow self-resolve, or that City staff will eventually be able
to resolve all of them, is naive. Encampments are born of necessity when people
have nowhere else to go; few people voluntarily choose to live in encampments
and, in the HRT’s experience, most would prefer to live inside if presented with
the right option. And research and data refute the myth that all encampment
residents migrate to generous cities like Berkeley from elsewhere for services.

e Nevertheless, and despite the reality that encampments and unsheltered
homelessness will continue to exist in Berkeley and other communities,
encampments often present very serious health and safety impacts, both to their
residents and the broader public. Better managing these impacts while we
simultaneously work towards policy and funding approaches to solve
homelessness is imperative. Doing so is akin to the now widely-accepted
practice of harm reduction for intravenous drug use: practices like needle
exchanges or safe injection sites do not encourage or enable drug use, but
instead reduce the serious community health impacts of unsafe practices like
needle sharing while the community simultaneously works to reduce the supply
of drugs and help connect those addicted to drugs to treatment. Similarly, city
staff believe that the objective harms of living in dangerous encampments can be
better managed while we simultaneously work to implement strategic,
community-wide plans to end unsheltered homelessness.

Policy Overview

The attached draft Encampment Response Policy reflects two years of HRT experience
as well as known approaches in other peer jurisdictions, federal best practices, and
practical applications of relevant case law. The focus of the policy is on reducing and
eliminating the worst health and safety impacts that encampments have on their
residents and the broader community, and it describes how staff prioritize impacts and
what interventions will be used to address them.

Importantly, the policy affirms that the Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) governs all who
live in, visit, or work in Berkeley, irrespective of housing status; housing status itself
should confer no immunity to the laws and codes that govern us all. However, the policy
reflects the following truths:

e In a shelter crisis, it may not be possible for people living outside to comply with
every existing code and regulation in Berkeley. The Good Neighbor guidelines
are intended to provide straightforward, harm-reduction oriented guidance to
encampment residents and those who support them about how the City
prioritizes interventions: encampments that can meet these basic health and
safety standards will be deprioritized, while those that do not will be eligible for
City intervention.

¢ Even among those encampments not meeting the Good Neighbor Guidelines,
City staff do not have the resources to enforce every Municipal Code everywhere
and all at once. Staff already make internal decisions about how to prioritize

Page 4



Public
Page 5
September 21, 2023
Re: Draft Encampment Response Policy and Good Neighbor Guidelines

limited resources; this policy would provide formal guidance to staff about how to
prioritize application of the BMC.

e This draft policy is silent as to considerations of prioritizing specific locations,
except those that are otherwise addressed in the BMC and present acute safety
concerns (namely, traffic medians and creekbeds in weather specific conditions).
Council may wish to contend with whether and how to prioritize other specific
locations, but should consider how doing so would comport with a policy
framework that focuses on reducing health and safety impacts.

e Finally, criminalizing the status of being unsheltered (i.e., citations/arrests for
sleeping outside or violating overnight parks rules when they have nowhere else
to go) is ineffective and contrary to Berkeley’s values. The policy affirms
Berkeley’s commitment to non-criminal alternatives to enforcement, and to avoid
citation and arrest wherever possible. That said, an open question for the Council
and community to contend with is what to do about those people who refuse or
are non-compliant with non-criminal alternatives, and yet continue to create
impacts to their neighbors.

City staff do not recommend a new encampment ordinance, but rather making this
policy an Administrative Regulation that the Council adopts by Resolution.

Anticipated Process

We will be bringing this policy to the Homeless Services Panel of Experts at their
October 4, 2023 meeting, from 7-9 pm. All members of the public are welcome and
encouraged to attend, and to accommodate as many community members as
possible—and to provide easy access to the meeting for those residents living in the
largest encampments in West Berkeley—the Berkeley Rep has graciously agreed to
host the meeting at their space at 999 Harrison Street (the entrance is on Ninth St north
of Harrison St). Staff will recommend that the Panel provide feedback on the policy, but
immediately refer it to the full Council, who can then assign it to an appropriate policy
subcommittee for further development.

If you should have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact Peter Radu,
Assistant to the City Manager, at 510-981-7045 or pradu@berkeleyca.gov.

cC:
Peter Radu, Assistant to the City Manager
LaTanya Bellow, Deputy City Manager
Anne Cardwell, Deputy City Manager
Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator
Jenny Wong, City Auditor
Mark Numainville, City Clerk
Matthai Chakko, Assistant to the City Manager
Farimah Brown, City Attorney

Page 5


mailto:pradu@berkeleyca.gov

Public

ATTACHMENT 1

DRAFT City of Berkeley Encampment Response Policy

Draft Date: 9/21/23

Statement of Values:

O

Encampments—while inherently unhealthy for residents and frequently problematic for
surrounding neighbors and businesses—are nevertheless born of necessity for basic
human needs (like sleep, shelter, and community) among residents who lack viable
alternatives. Few people voluntarily choose to be unsheltered and live in encampments.
Resolving encampments requires working with their residents to find viable alternatives
to their unsheltered status. Permanent housing is the solution to homelessness, and
Berkeley is committed to achieving this solution.

In the meanwhile, so long as our State and region remain in an affordable housing and
shelter crisis, unsheltered and encampment homelessness will continue to exist, and
people without shelter must, necessarily, exist in public space.

The City must balance the needs and rights of unsheltered residents with the reasonable
expectation of other community members to safe, clean, and accessible public space.
Finding this balance requires a new social contract, one in which all community
members recognize and respect each other.

Criminalizing unsheltered homelessness itself is ineffective and inconsistent with
Berkeley’s values, but encampments that violate basic standards of public health and
safety have no place in our community.

Definition of Encampment:

@)

An encampment is defined as one or more individuals or households, who:
= Areinvoluntarily unhoused and inhabiting a vehicle or other place not meant for
human habitation, as defined by the Federal Housing and Urban Development
Department (HUD); and
= Meet at least one of the following conditions:
e Use temporary sheltering accommodations such as tents or improvised
structures that they leave at such public location; and/or
e Have accumulated Objects larger than 9 square feet (as defined in
Administrative Regulation 10.2) that they possess or leave at such public
or City property.

A New Social Contract: Good Neighbor Guidelines

O

Berkeley’s encampment Good Neighbor Guidelines (see Attachment 1) are the basic
standards that Berkeley expects of all encampments and unsheltered residents in our
City. Encampments that meet these standards will be deprioritized for City
interventions, while encampments that do not meet these standards will be prioritized
for interventions (types of interventions are defined below).

Respect for the Good Neighbor Guidelines has no bearing on eligibility for outreach or
other services, though the city may periodically concentrate services and resources on
higher-needs encampments to help reduce health and safety issues there.

How the City prioritizes encampments for response:




Public

o Nobody should have to live outside and Berkeley is committed to ending the
unsheltered status of every resident with resources tailored to the person’s needs. Since
resources are limited, City interventions (defined below) are prioritized in the following
fashion and the City Manager shall have the final authority on determining relative
priorities:

=  Lowest Priority:

e Encampments meeting the Good Neighbor guidelines.

e Tents/vehicles with an external footprint of belongings or debris that is
less than 9 square feet as required in Administrative Regulation 10.2,
and not otherwise creating ADA accessibility issues. Since most tents
cannot meet the 9 square foot maximum, the size of an individual tent
itself shall not be included in this assessment.

= Medium Priority:

e Accumulated possessions, trash and debris exceeding 9 square feet.

e ADA-passage obstructions of the public right-of-way and extension of
belongings/debris into the roadway.

e Interference with businesses and residences and public infrastructure.

e Hindrances to construction or other City-issued permits.

e Vehicles that meet community caretaking standards for removal, as
defined in California state law®.

e Impacts to water quality.

= Highest Priority

e Extreme environmental hazards, including impacts to fish and wildlife
and exposure to toxic materials.

e Imminent health hazards, including rodents and rodent harborage
conditions, syringes, and raw sewage.

e Imminent fire or life safety hazards, including, unsafe structures,
accumulation of combustible materials, and imminently unsafe location
such as a street median or a creekbed in flash flood conditions.

o The mere act of living in a vehicle is not illegal in Berkeley. For the wellbeing of the
unsheltered given the City’s shelter crisis, vehicles used as shelter, absent any
parking/municipal code violations and/or community caretaking needs, will not be
prioritized for a city intervention as defined in this policy.

e Types of Interventions:

o The City is committed to harm-reduction approaches to resolving problems stemming
from encampments: first and foremost, we aim to reduce and eliminate health and
safety violations. Closing an encampment may not always be necessary to abate such
violations.

o The Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) governs all Berkeley residents and visitors,
sheltered and unsheltered alike. Persistent violations of the Good Neighbor Guidelines
or other Municipal Code violations may result in enforcement of the BMC as applicable

1See: https://legiscan.com/CA/text/AB2876/id/1817442



https://legiscan.com/CA/text/AB2876/id/1817442

Public

and as resources permit. In so doing, the City prefers not to cite and arrest anyone, and
citation and arrest will be avoided whenever possible.

o The City may apply, as resources permit, one or more of the following non-criminal (i.e.,
non citation/arrest) alternatives to enforcement. Application of these interventions is
situation-specific and not every intervention may be necessary or appropriate:

=  Public noticing and encouragement to voluntarily relocate/comply with rules.

= Health and hygiene interventions — dumpsters, toilets/wash stations, mobile
shower and laundry.

=  Voluntary trash and debris removal.

= Deep cleanings, in which medium- or high-priority encampments (defined
above) will be addressed without requiring the encampment to be closed.

= Encampment Closure:

e Encampment closures require relocation of the individuals and their
possessions from a particular location. This includes towing of vehicles
that meet community caretaking standards, as defined in State law.

e Closures are reserved for instances when medium and high-priority
violations cannot be resolved with less intensive interventions.
Whenever possible, given limited city resources, closures shall be
performed in accordance with Federal best practices and all applicable
laws.? At a minimum, shelter or other housing resources shall be offered
to everyone living in the encampment prior to its closure.

o Citation/arrest will be reserved for case-by-case situations where the situation cannot
be resolved with non-criminal interventions. This policy shall not preempt the Berkeley
Police Department or Berkeley Fire Department from responding to public safety calls
for service at encampments.

2 See: https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset library/Principles for Addressing Encampments 1.pdf



https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Principles_for_Addressing_Encampments_1.pdf

ATTACHMENT 2

Good Neighbor Guidelines for Encampments

In order to create a safe, clean environment for everyone in this encampment community, please try to follow these guidelines:

1.

Please throw away your trash and old food. To prevent rats, please try to keep good food in closed containers and throw away
old food and trash. To help assist with this, the City can provide you with rolls of trash bags to help stash your trash, and can provide
trash removal service as well. Please call the Homeless Response Team at 510-529-5376. These are no-cost ways to keep your area
and the community a little cleaner.

Please keep your belongings out of the road. The closer you and your belongings are to moving traffic, the greater chance there is
for accidents and injuries to you and others. To prevent this, please keep everything out of the roadway and parking spaces. To help
assist with this, the City can help find storage options or can work with you to schedule a clean-up in your area. For help with either

of these, please call the Homeless Response Team at 510-529-5376.

Please do not build any structures out of wood, metal, or other materials that can create a fire hazard or injury risk. To assist
you with this, the City and other nonprofit organizations may be able to provide new tents or sheltering materials to replace unsafe
structures. Please contact the Homeless Response Team at 510-529-5376 for more information.

Please try to stay to one sidewalk side of the street. Our sidewalks are for everyone’s use. Blocking sidewalks on both sides of the
street prevents people from safely walking to catch the bus or get to work, so please try to keep one of the two sidewalks on every
street clear. To help assist with this, the City can work with you to schedule a clean-up in your area. For help with this or to discuss
shelter options, please call the Homeless Response Team at 510-529-5376.

Please be fire safe. Warming or cooking fires on the sidewalk are not permitted in Berkeley and can be very unsafe. But if you need
to use fire, please be fire safe: use a commercial device or sturdy, non-combustible container intended for the type of fire you're
using, such as a charcoal barbeque, and keep fire at least 10 feet away from combustible materials (like wood, fuel, paper, plastic
tarps, tents, etc.) whenever possible. Never use fire under a tarp, inside a tent, or in an enclosed space. The fire could easily spread
to the tarp or tent and toxic fumes and gases from the fire and smoke could accumulate and harm you. If you would like more fire
safety information, please contact Fire Prevention at 510-981-5585.

Though the City may still need to intervene for other reasons, sticking to these rules will help avoid the need for City interventions, such as
encampment deep cleanings or closures. An ongoing lack of respect for these rules may result in a Public Notice and/or a City intervention.

IF YOU ARE HAVING A MENTAL HEALTH CRISIS: Call the Specialized Care Unit at (510) 948-0075. For the Alameda County Suicide and Crisis Lifeline, please
call 988 or (800) 309-2131. To leave a direct message for the Berkeley Mobile Crisis Team, call (510) 981-5254



Page 1 of 2

23

( CITY °F

-

o
m
7
-
II'_I"
=

Homeless Services
Panel of Experts

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 12, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Homeless Services Panel of Experts
Submitted by: Carole Marasovic, Acting Chair, Homeless Services Panel of Experts

Subject: Serving inclement weather needs, RV dwellers, and other vehicle dwellers
through the Encampment Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team, as is
feasible, within parameters of the state-approved project plan

RECOMMENDATION

That Council refer to staff to include providing services to meet inclement weather needs
of the unhoused and provide services to RV, and other vehicle, dwellers, as is feasible,
within the parameters of the state-approved plan.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION

The fiscal impacts have already been met under the state-approved Mental Health
Services Act plan for an Encampment Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team to provide
mental health wellness services to support unhoused persons in encampments in
Berkeley for 4-5 years for a total of $2.8 million dollars in MHSA monies.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

The state of California has already approved a plan for 4-5 years for Berkeley to
implement an Encampment Mental Health Wellness Mobile Team which provide support
services in a client-centered manner, to encampments of unhoused persons. Under this
plan, the services would be provided consistent with the unhoused persons wishes as to
what they want and need to promote their mental health wellness. This plan will be
implemented with Mental Health Services Act monies for a total of about 2.8 million over
a 4-5 year period. The provider has been selected but not yet, publicly announced as of
this writing.

Last year, the unhoused, who were unsheltered, suffered a brutal winter where they often
were left without equipment and warm clothing. In particular, they were in need of tents,
rain gear and clothing such as gloves and hats. It is expected that these inclement
weather needs will continue unless provisions are made for regular delivery of these
items.

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099 Page 193
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Page 2 of 2

Public
Serving inclement weather needs, RV dwellers, CONSENT CALENDAR
and other vehicle dwellers September 12, 2023

RV dwellers, and other vehicle dwellers, are a visible number of unhoused persons in the
community who also have wellness needs and could benefit from the Encampment
Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team consistent with the state-approved plan.

BACKGROUND
On July 13, 2023, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts passed the following motion:

Action: M/S/C Wachspress/Meany move to Council to refer to staff to include providing
services to meet inclement weather needs of the unhoused and provide services to RV,
and other vehicle, dwellers, as is feasible, within the parameters of the state-approved
Encampment Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team.

Vote: Ayes:. Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress
and Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS

With client-centered mental health wellness services provided by the Encampment
Mental Health Wellness Mobile Team, there should be an improved environmental and
climate impact. The services to RVs and vehicle dwellers and meeting inclement weather
needs of all of Berkeley's unhoused encampments should further improve those impacts.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION

The Homeless Services Panel of Experts appreciates the MHSA state-approved plan for
Encampment-based Mobile Mental Health Wellness Team services. Incorporating
meeting inclement weather services’ needs, such as providing warm clothing and tents,
and defining encampments to include RVs and other vehicle dwellers, should be easily
accomplished, if feasible, within the parameters of the state-approved plan.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
To leave the plan standing as is.

CITY MANAGER
The City Manager takes no position on the content and recommendations of the
Commission’s report.

CONTACT PERSON
Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator, Neighborhood Services, (510) 225-5435

Page 194



Page 1 of 3

24

( CITY °F

-

o
m
7
-
II'_I"
=

Homeless Services
Panel of Experts

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 12, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Homeless Services Panel of Experts
Submitted by: Carole Marasovic, Acting Chair, Homeless Services Panel of Experts

Subject: Authorization for an Additional Homeless Services Panel of Experts meeting
in October 2023

RECOMMENDATION

Adopt a Resolution authorizing one additional meeting of the Homeless Services Panel
of Experts in October 2023, which would restore one general meeting given that 3
special meetings were otherwise used to address Measure P allocations.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
The only fiscal impacts are the cost of the room rental for commission meetings and
commission stipends for those commissioners who financially qualify.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

The ordinance mandating the number of commission meetings allotted each year
provides for only 10 meetings per calendar year without returning to Council for
approval for additional meetings.

In order for the Homeless Services Panel of Experts (HSPE) to review and make
Measure P recommendations to meet Council's deadlines, three special meetings were
held.

In January, 2024, HSPE will be conducting an intensive review of funding proposals
under the community agency allocation funding process. Due to the three special
meetings that had to be called, without the restoration of one regular monthly meeting,
HSPE would not have an opportunity to meet between August-December to discuss
homeless policy and make recommendations to Council. As such, HSPE would not
have any meetings for the last five months in 2023. Without the granting of one
additional meeting, HSPE would not meet until January, 2024 when they will be
involved in the community agency allocation process reviewing and scoring funding
proposals.

During the current funding process, HSPE believes that they need additional information
brought to them by staff and to have fact-gathering and exploratory discussions

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099 Page 195
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Page 2 of 3

Restore one monthly meeting of HSPE CONSENT CALENDAR
September 12, 2023

between funding cycles. This cannot be done without the addition of an eleventh
meeting this October.

BACKGROUND
On June 7, 2023, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts passed the following motion:

Action: M/S/C Meany/Marasovic move to restore 1 monthly meeting of Homeless
Services Panel of Experts in order to conduct regular monthly meetings in October.

Vote: Ayes:. Meany, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, and Marasovic.
Noes: Hynes. Abstain: None. Absent: Feller, Jones, Wachspress (Leave of
absence).

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no significant environmental effects.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION

The Homeless Services Panel of Experts is entrusted with not only making
recommendations for funding but also to know the full landscape of homeless services
in Berkeley and to recognize gaps that need to be addressed. The Homeless Services
Panel of Experts is also entrusted with making policy recommendations even more
under its mandate since the Homeless Commission was folded into HSPE. In order to
do so, HSPE needs Council’'s approval to be able to conduct one additional monthly
meeting in October 2023, if granted it will be the only meeting during the last five
months of 2023.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
To not have 1 meeting restored so that HSPE cannot secure information needed to fulfill
their mandated responsibilities and not make any policy recommendations to Council.

CITY MANAGER
The City Manager takes no position on the content and recommendations of the
Commission’s report.

CONTACT PERSON
Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator, Neighborhood Services, (510) 225-5435

Attachments:
1: Resolution

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099 Page 196
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Page 3 of 3

Restore one monthly meeting of HSPE CONSENT CALENDAR
September 12, 2023

RESOLUTION NO. ## ###-N.S.

AUTHORIZING (1) ADDITIONAL MEETING FOR
THE HOMELESS SERVICES PANEL OF EXPERTS

Whereas, Resolution No. 68,258-N.S. stipulates how many annual meetings are allowed for
Berkeley’'s commissions and places the Homeless Commission in Category B, with a maximum
of 10 meetings per year; and

Whereas, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts was created to continue the ongoing function
previously performed by the Homeless Commission pursuant to BMC 7.52.190(J), and no
updated resolution has been passed giving authority to the Homeless Services Panel
of Experts to hold more than 10 meetings; and

Whereas, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts plans to hold an additional meeting in
October for the purpose of conducting fact finding, discussing policy, and making
recommendations to City Council.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Berkeley that the Council
authorizes one additional meeting in 2023 for the Homeless Services Panel of Experts.

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099 Page 197
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Page 198



Page 1 of 2

25a

( CITY °F

-

o
m
7
-
II'_I"
=

Homeless Services
Panel of Experts

CONSENT CALENDAR
September 12, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Homeless Services Panel of Experts
Submitted by: Carole Marasovic, Acting Chair, Homeless Services Panel of Experts

Subject: Accommodating Client Literacy and Cognitive Challenges in Community
Agency Allocation Funding Process as to Homeless Providers

RECOMMENDATION

That Council refer to staff to include in the community agency allocation funding RFP a
guestion to homeless services providers as to how homeless services providers plan to
accommodate clients with literacy and cognitive challenges.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
There should be minimal, if any, fiscal impacts.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

Many persons who engage with the homeless services system have literacy and cognitive
challenges. They are frequently provided documents to sign without knowing the content
of those documents. Homeless services providers should be providing accommodations
to these persons so that they understand the nature of what they are agreeing to in these
documents.

BACKGROUND
On July 13, 2023, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts passed the following motion:

Action: M/S/C Meany/Wachspress move that Council refer to staff to include a question,
to homeless services providers, in the community agency allocation funding RFP as to
how homeless services providers plan to accommodate clients with literacy and cognitive
challenges.

Vote: Ayes: Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress and
Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no known identifiable environmental impacts.

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099 Page 199
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Page 2 of 2

Accommodating Client Literacy CONSENT CALENDAR
and Cognitive Challenges September 12, 2023

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
HSPE can only make recommendations to Council instead of directly to staff.

During previous site visits to homeless services programs, clients of programs indicated
that literacy and cognitive challenges were a major issue for clients who frequently are
presented with forms requiring their consent that they do not understand.

The community agency allocation funding process is an opportunity for providers to
respond to this important issue and how they will accommodate these clients. Staff, in a
prior community agency funding cycle, incorporated the Homeless Commission’s concern
on another matter, grievance procedures, into RFPs. Thus, this issue can be easily
addressed.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
To not take any action.

CITY MANAGER
See City Manager's companion report.

CONTACT PERSON
Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator, Neighborhood Services, (510) 225-5435

Page 200



Page 1 of 2

/ CITY oF 25b

-

Office of the City Manager
CONSENT CALENDAR

September 12, 2023

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager
Submitted by: Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator, City Manager’s Office

Subject: Companion Report: Accommodating Client Literacy and Cognitive Challenges
in Community Agency Allocation Funding Process as to Homeless Providers

RECOMMENDATION

Take no action on the Homeless Services Panel of Experts’ recommendation, as staff
have already included in the community agency allocation funding Request for Proposals
(RFP) a question to homeless services providers as to how they plan to accommodate
clients with literacy and cognitive challenges.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
There should be minimal, if any, fiscal impacts.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

Staff agree that many persons who engage with the homeless services system have
literacy and cognitive challenges, and after the Homeless Service Panel of Experts
approved their recommendation, voluntarily agreed to add a question to assess how
homeless service providers are providing accommodations to these persons as part of
the agency allocation funding process.

BACKGROUND
On July 13, 2023, the Homeless Services Panel of Experts passed the following motion:

Action: M/S/C Meany/Wachspress move that Council refer to staff to include a question,
to homeless services providers, in the community agency allocation funding RFP as to
how homeless services providers plan to accommodate clients with literacy and cognitive
challenges.

Vote: Ayes:. Meany, Hynes, Kealoha-Blake, Bookstein, Feller, Jones, Wachspress and
Marasovic.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

In response, staff have preemptively added a question to address these concerns to the
agency allocation funding process.

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099 Page 201
E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Page 2 of 2

Companion Report: Accommodating Client Literacy and Cognitive Challenges CONSENT CALENDAR
September 12, 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
There are no known identifiable environmental effects.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
There is no action needed as staff have already addressed the concern raised by the
panel.

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED
To add further questions to the RFP process.

CONTACT PERSON
Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator, Neighborhood Services, (510) 225-5435

Page 2 Page 202



Senate Bill No. 326

Passed the Senate September 14, 2023

Secretary of the Senate

Passed the Assembly September 12, 2023

Chief Clerk of the Assembly
Thisbill was received by the Governorthis________ day
of , 2023, at o' clock ___m.

Private Secretary of the Governor



SB 326 —2—

CHAPTER

An act to amend, repeal, and add Section 99277 of the Education
Code, to amend, repeal, and add Section 131315 of the Health and
Safety Code, to amend, repeal, and add Section 19602.5 of the
Revenue and Taxation Code, to amend, repeal, and add Section
1095.5 of the Unemployment Insurance Code, and to amend
Sections 4090, 4094, 4096.5, 5675, and 5813.6 of, to amend and
repeal Sections 5840.5, 5840.8, 5846, 5847, 5848, 5878.2, 5895,
and 5899 of, to amend, repeal, and add Sections 5604, 5604.1,
5604.2, 5604.3, 5604.5, 5610, 5613, 5614, 5664, 5771.1, 5805,
5806, 5813.5, 5830, 5835, 5835.2, 5840, 5840.6, 5840.7, 5845,
5845.5, 5848.5, 5849.1, 5849.2, 5849.3, 5852.5, 5868, 5878.1,
5878.3, 5881, 5886, 5890, 5891, 5891.5, 5892, 5892.1, 5892.5,
5893, 5897, 5898, 14197.7, and 14707.5 of , to add Sections 5831,
5845.1, and 14197.71 to, to add Part 4.1 (commencing with Section
5887) to Division 5 of, to add Chapter 3 (commencing with Section
5963) to Part 7 of Division 5 of, to add and repeal Section 5892.3,
and to repeal Section 5963.06 of, the Welfare and Institutions
Code, relating to behavioral health, and declaring the urgency
thereof, to take effect immediately.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL’S DIGEST

SB 326, Eggman. The Behavioral Health ServicesAct.

(1) Existing law, the Mental Health Services Act (MHSA), an
initiative measure enacted by the voters as Proposition 63 at the
November 2, 2004, statewide general election, funds a system of
county mental health plans for the provision of mental health
services. Existing law authorizes the MHSA to be amended by a
7, vote of the Legidature if the amendments are consistent with
and further the intent of the MHSA. Existing law authorizes the
Legislature to add provisions to clarify procedures and terms of
the MHSA by magjority vote.

If approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, thisbill would recast the MHSA by, among other things,
renaming it the Behavioral Health ServicesAct (BHSA), expanding
it to include treatment of substance use disorders, changing the
county planning process, and expanding servicesfor which counties

91



—3— SB 326

and the state can use funds. The bill would revise the distribution
of MHSA moneys, including allocating up to $36,000,000 to the
department for behavioral health workforce funding. The bill would
authorize the department to require a county to implement specific
evidence-based practices.

This bill would require a county, for behavioral health services
eligible for reimbursement pursuant to the federal Social Security
Act, to submit the clams for reimbursement to the State
Department of Health Care Services (the department) under specific
circumstances. The bill would require counties to pursue
reimbursement through various channels and would authorize the
counties to report issues with managed care plans and insurers to
the Department of Managed Health Care or the Department of
Insurance.

The MHSA establishes the Mental Health Services Oversight
and Accountability Commission and requiresit to adopt regul ations
for programs and expenditures for innovative programs and
prevention and early intervention programs established by the act.
Existing law requires counties to develop plans for innovative
programs funded under the MHSA.

This bill would rename the commission the Behavioral Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission and would
change the composition and duties of the commission, as specified.
Thebill would delete the provisionsrel ating to innovative programs
and instead would require the counties to establish and administer
aprogram to provide housing interventions. The bill would provide
that “low rent housing project,” as defined, does not apply to a
project that meets specified criteria.

This bill would make extensive technical and conforming
changes.

(2) Existing law, the Bronzan-McCorquodale Act, contains
provisions governing the operation and financing of community
mental health services for persons with mental disordersin every
county through locally administered and locally controlled
community mental health programs. Existing law further provides
that, to the extent resources are available, community mental health
services should be organized to provide an array of treatment
options in specified areas, including, among others, case
management and individual service plans. Under existing law,

91



SB 326 —4—

mental health services are provided through contracts with county
mental health programs.

The bill would authorize the State Department of Health Care
Services to develop and revise documentation standards for
individual service plans, as specified. The bill would revise the
contracting process, including authorizing the department to
temporarily withhold funds or impose monetary sanctions on a
county behavioral health department that isnot in compliance with
the contract.

(3) Thebill would provide that its provisions are severable.

(4) The bill would provide for the submission of specified
sections of thisbill and AB 531 to the voters at the March 5, 2024,
statewide primary election, as specified.

(5) Thishill would declarethat it isto take effect immediately
as an urgency statute.

The people of the Sate of California do enact as follows:

SECTION 1. The people of the State of California hereby find
and declare al of the following:

(@ Onein20adultsin Californiaisliving with aserious mental
illness (SM1). One in 13 children in California has a serious
emotional disturbance (SED) and 30 percent of youth 12 to 24
years of age experience serious psychological distress.

(b) Onein 10 Californians meet the criteriafor a substance use
disorder.

() Thenumber of amphetamine-related emergency department
(ED) visits increased nearly 50 percent between 2018 and 2020,
whilethe number of non-heroin-related opioid ED visits, including
fentanyl ED visits, more than doubled in the same period. Data
shows a 121% increase in opioid deaths between 2019 and 2021.

(d) Nationally, suicide rates among youth between 10 and 18
years of age have increased. Hospitals have reported a significant
increase in the number of adol escents seeking psychiatric treatment
in emergency departments.

(e) Veterans have a higher rate of suicide than the general
population and experience higher rates of menta illness or
substance abuse disorder. In 2020, there were over 10,000
Californian veterans experiencing homel essness.

91



—5— SB 326

(f) Recent research from the University of California, San
Francisco found that the majority of homeless Californians (82%)
reported a period in their life where they experienced a serious
mental health condition. More than one quarter (27%) had been
hospitalized for amental health condition. Nearly two-thirds (65%)
reported having had a period in their life in which they regularly
used illicit drugs.

(g) Cdifornia’s behavioral hedlth care system must serve the
state’'s diversity of people, families, and communities and reduce
gaps in access and outcomes for al—including gaps due to
geography, age, gender, race, ethnicity, or other factors identified
by data.

(h) Research shows that incarcerating the mentaly ill is
counterproductive to rehabilitation and long-term public safety
due to recidivism. It costs $100,000 per person to incarcerate an
estimated 150,000 peoplewho are mentally ill; treatment provides
far better outcomes at far less cost.

(i) The limited availability of community-based care facilities
to support rehabilitation and recovery contributes to the growing
crisis of homelessness and incarceration among those living with
a mental health disorder. Research indicates that the state has a
shortage of over 2,700 subacute and nearly 3,000 community
residential beds. This shortage leadsto hugeincreasesin emergency
department visits for mental health treatment at a very high cost.

SEC. 2. The purposes and intent in enacting this act are as
follows:

(& In2004, Californiavoters passed Proposition 63, the Mental
Health ServicesAct (MHSA) to expand mental health support and
services in Californiacommunities.

(b) The time has come to modernize the MHSA to focus funds
where they are most needed: expanding services to include
treatment for those with substance use disorders and prioritizing
care for those with the most serious mental illness, including the
disproportionate number experiencing unsheltered homel essness.

() Reforms will provide guaranteed, ongoing resources for
housing for those needing behaviora health servicesand continuing
support for prevention and early intervention. Thisincludestaking
awhole person approach that is streamlined and seamlessin service
delivery, and supports the individual’s recovery and well-being.

91



SB 326 —6—

(d) Reformswill require strict accountability measuresto ensure
funds are focused on outcomes for al California families and
communities and provide transparency for the public, utilizing all
available behavioral health fund sources that local governments
have at their disposal. Strong oversight will ensure investments
are being made in effective, equitable and high-quality care.

(e) Reformswill provide funding for arobust behavioral health
workforce, including thousands of counselors and psychologists.
The state will lead efforts to recruit, train, and create pathways to
high-quality jobs that can meet the growing and changing
behavioral health care needs of Californians.

(f) Reforms will provide ongoing funding to build and sustain
the necessary treatment centers and professional workforceto treat
people with mental illness to avoid incarceration.

(g9) Reformswill include bond funding that isintended to build
more than 10,000 new treatment beds and supportive housing.
Over 100,000 people per year with behavioral health conditions
will get treatment, including those experiencing homelessness,
veterans, and youth.

(h) The bond will dedicate funding for veterans experiencing
challenges with mental health or substance abuse and
homel essness.

(i) Overall, this measure strengthens the continuum of care for
al Cadlifornians and especially the most vulnerable. It provides
substantial state investment, improves statewide accountability,
and increases Californians' access to behavioral health services.

SEC. 3. Section 99277 of the Education Code is amended to
read:

99277. (a) Uponreceiving funding for purposes of thischapter,
UCSF, the UC college named in Section 92200, and the UC/CSU
California Collaborative on Neurodiversity and Learning shall
each appoint one member from the respective institutions. This
group shall be charged with the development and oversight of the
initiative, and shall function as the institute’'s management
committee. The management committee shall be permitted, but
not obligated, to retain a program director to assist in the
implementation of the initiative.

(b) An advisory board, with itstitle and members to be named
by the institute, shall be established to serve as an oversight body
for theinitiativein order to monitor progress and provide leadership

91



—7— SB 326

from the perspectives of their respective participating organizations,
departments, and divisions, and to facilitate collaboration among
researchers, practitioners, administrators, legisators, and
community stakeholders. The advisory board shall provide
expertise and support to the management committee. The
membership of the advisory board shall be constituted as set forth
in subdivision (c). The advisory board shall be a check on
accountability in order to ensure that the initiative is meeting its
goals. The advisory board shall also conduct afiscal review of the
distribution of funds to ensure alignment with the goals of the
initiative.

(c) The members of the advisory board shall be representatives
from thefollowing institutions, organizations, agencies, and groups.

(1) UCSF.

(2) UC college named in Section 92200.

(3) The UC/CSU Cadlifornia Collaborative for Learning and
Neurodiversity.

(4) The Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission.

(5) A Member of the Assembly selected by the Speaker of the
Assembly.

(6) A Senator selected by the President pro Tempore of the
Senate.

(7) Community  representatives, including  formerly
justice-involved persons and their family members, selected by
the Governor, the Speaker of the Assembly, and the President pro
Tempore of the Senate.

(d) The advisory board shall meet twice per year, with the
potential for additional working group meetings. At each meeting,
the advisory board shall participatein areview of reports, including
updates on research, practice, and policy efforts, as well as fiscal
reporting.

(e) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 4. Section 99277 isadded to the Education Code, to read:

99277. (&) Upon receiving funding for purposes of thischapter,
UCSF, the UC college named in Section 92200, and the UC/CSU
California Collaborative on Neurodiversity and Learning shall

91



SB 326 —8—

each appoint one member from the respective institutions. This
group shall be charged with the development and oversight of the
initiative and shall function as the ingtitute’'s management
committee. The management committee shall be permitted, but
not obligated, to retain a program director to assist in the
implementation of theinitiative.

(b) (1) An advisory board, with its title and members to be
named by theinstitute, shall be established to serve asan oversight
body for the initiative in order to monitor progress and provide
leadership from the perspectives of their respective participating
organizations, departments, and divisons and to facilitate
collaboration among researchers, practitioners, administrators,
legislators, and community stakeholders.

(2) The advisory board shall provide expertise and support to
the management committee.

(3) The advisory board shall be a check on accountability to
ensure that the initiative is meeting its goals.

(4) The advisory board shall conduct a fiscal review of the
distribution of funds to ensure alignment with the goals of the
initiative.

(5) The membership of the advisory board shall be constituted
as set forth in subdivision (c).

(c) The members of the advisory board shall be representatives
from thefollowing institutions, organi zations, agencies, and groups.

(1) UCSF.

(2) UC college named in Section 92200.

(3) The UC/CSU Cadlifornia Collaborative for Learning and
Neurodiversity.

(4) The Behaviora Heath Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission.

(5) A Member of the Assembly selected by the Speaker of the
Assembly.

(6) A Senator selected by the President pro Tempore of the
Senate.

(7) Community  representatives, including  formerly
justice-involved persons and their family members, selected by
the Governor, the Speaker of the Assembly, and the President pro
Tempore of the Senate.

(d) (1) The advisory board shall meet twice per year, with the
potential for additional working group meetings.

91



—9— SB 326

(2) At each meeting, the advisory board shall participate in a
review of reports, including updates on research, practice, and
policy efforts, aswell asfiscal reporting.

(e) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 5. Section 131315 of the Health and Safety Code is
amended to read:

131315. If the Office of Suicide Prevention is established
pursuant to Section 131300, all of the following shall apply:

(@ The Office of Suicide Prevention shall consult with the
Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission
to implement suicide prevention efforts consistent with the Mental
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission’'s
Suicide Prevention Report “Striving for Zero” and described
pursuant to Provision 1 of Item 4560-001-3085 of Section 2.00 of
the Budget Act of 2020.

(b) This section does not authorize the Office of Suicide
Prevention to perform any of the duties required by the commission
under Part 3.7 (commencing with Section 5845) of Division 5 of,
or administer any program funded by Part 4.5 (commencing with
Section 5890) of Division 5 of, the Welfare and Institutions Code.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repeal ed.

SEC. 6. Section 131315 isadded to the Health and Safety Code,
to read:

131315. (@) If the Office of Suicide Prevention is established
pursuant to Section 131300, both of the following shall apply:

(1) The Office of Suicide Prevention shall consult with the
Behavioral Health Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission to implement suicide prevention efforts consistent
with the Suicide Prevention Report “Striving for Zero,” as
described pursuant to Provision 1 of Item 4560-001-3085 of
Section 2.00 of the Budget Act of 2020.

(2) This section does not authorize the Office of Suicide
Prevention to perform any of the dutiesrequired by the commission
under Part 3.7 (commencing with Section 5845) of Division 5 of,

91



SB 326 — 10—

or administer a program funded by Part 4.5 (commencing with
Section 5890) of Division 5 of, the Welfare and Institutions Code.

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 7. Section 19602.5 of the Revenue and Taxation Code
is amended to read:

19602.5. (a) Thereisin the State Treasury the Mental Health
Services Fund (MHS Fund). The estimated revenue from the
additional tax imposed under Section 17043 for the applicable
fiscal year, as determined under subparagraph (B) of paragraph
(3) of subdivision (c), shall be deposited to the MHS Fund on a
monthly basis, subject to an annual adjustment asdescribed inthis
section.

(b) (1) Beginning with fiscal year 2004-05 and for each fiscal
year thereafter, the Controller shall deposit on a monthly basisin
the MHS Fund an amount equal to the applicable percentage of
net personal income tax receipts as defined in paragraph (4).

(2) (A) Except asprovided in subparagraph (B), the applicable
percentage referred to in paragraph (1) shall be 1.76 percent.

(B) For fiscal year 200405, the applicable percentage shall be
0.70 percent.

(3) Beginning with fiscal year 2006—07, monthly deposits to
the MHS Fund pursuant to this subdivison are subject to
suspension pursuant to subdivision (f).

(4) For purposes of this subdivision, “net personal income tax
receipts’ refers to amounts received by the Franchise Tax Board
and the Employment Devel opment Department under the Personal
Income Tax Law, as reported by the Franchise Tax Board to the
Department of Finance pursuant to law, regulation, procedure, and
practice (commonly referred to as the “102 Report”) in effect on
the effective date of the act establishing this section.

(c) No later than March 1, 2006, and each March 1 thereafter,
the Department of Finance, in consultation with the Franchise Tax
Board, shall determine the annual adjustment amount for the
following fiscal year.

(1) The “annual adjustment amount” for any fiscal year shall
be an amount equal to the amount determined by subtracting the
“revenue adjustment amount” for the applicabl e revenue adjustment
fiscal year, as determined by the Franchise Tax Board under

91



— 11— SB 326

paragraph (3), from the “tax liability adjustment amount” for
applicable tax liability adjustment tax year, as determined by the
Franchise Tax Board under paragraph (2).

(2) (A) (i) The“tax liability adjustment amount” for atax year
isegual to the amount determined by subtracting the estimated tax
liability increase from the additional tax imposed under Section
17043 for the applicable year under subparagraph (B) from the
amount of the actual tax liability increase from the additional tax
imposed under Section 17043 for the applicable tax year, based
on thereturnsfiled for that tax year.

(if) For purposes of the determinations required under this
paragraph, actual tax liability increase from the additional tax
means the increase in tax liability resulting from the tax of 1
percent imposed under Section 17043, as reflected on the original
returns filed by October 15 of the year after the close of the
applicable tax year.

(iii) Theapplicabletax year referred to in this paragraph means
the 12-calendar month taxable year beginning on January 1 of the
year that is two years before the beginning of the fiscal year for
which an annual adjustment amount is cal culated.

(B) (i) Theestimated tax liability increase from the additional
tax for the following tax yearsis:

Estimated Tax Liability Increase

Tax Year from the Additional Tax
2005 $634 million
2006 $672 million
2007 $713 million
2008 $758 million

(if) The“estimated tax liability increase from the additional tax”
for the tax year beginning in 2009 and each tax year thereafter
shall be determined by applying an annual growth rate of 7 percent
to the “ estimated tax liability increase from additional tax” of the
immediately preceding tax year.

(3) (A) The“revenueadjustment amount” isequal to theamount
determined by subtracting the “estimated revenue from the
additional tax” for the applicablefiscal year, as determined under
subparagraph (B), from the actual amount transferred for the
applicable fiscal year.

91



SB 326 —12—

(B) (i) The*“estimated revenue from the additional tax” for the
following applicable fiscal yearsis:

Estimated Revenue from

Applicable Fiscal Year Additional Tax
2004-05 $254 million
2005-06 $683 million
2006-07 $690 million
2007-08 $733 million

(i) The “estimated revenue from the additional tax” for
applicable fiscal year 2007-08 and each applicable fiscal year
thereafter shall be determined by applying an annual growth rate
of 7 percent to the “estimated revenue from the additional tax” of
the immediately preceding applicable fiscal year.

(iii) The applicable fiscal year referred to in this paragraph
means the fiscal year that is two years before the fiscal year for
which an annual adjustment amount is calculated.

(d) The Department of Finance shall notify the Legislature and
the Controller of the results of the determinations required under
subdivision (c) no later than 10 business days after the
determinations are final.

(e) If theannual adjustment amount for afiscal year isapositive
number, the Controller shall transfer that amount from the General
Fund to the MHS Fund on July 1 of that fiscal year.

(f) If theannual adjustment amount for afiscal year isanegative
number, the Controller shall suspend monthly transferstothe MHS
Fund for that fiscal year, as otherwise required by paragraph (1)
of subdivision (b), until the total amount of suspended deposits
for that fiscal year equals the amount of the negative annual
adjustment amount for that fiscal year.

(g) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repeal ed.

SEC. 8. Section 19602.5 isadded to the Revenue and Taxation
Code, to read:

19602.5. (a) There is in the State Treasury the Behavioral
Health Services (BHS) Fund. The estimated revenue from the
additional tax imposed under Section 17043 for the applicable

91



— 13— SB 326

fiscal year, as determined under subparagraph (B) of paragraph
(3) of subdivision (c), shall be deposited to the BHS Fund on a
monthly basis, subject to an annual adjustment asdescribed inthis
section.

(b) (1) Each fiscal year, the Controller shall deposit on a
monthly basisin the BHS Fund an amount equal to the applicable
percentage of net personal income tax receipts as defined in
paragraph (4). _

(2) The applicable percentage referred to in paragraph (1) shall
be 1.76 percent.

(3) Monthly deposits to the BHS Fund pursuant to this
subdivision are subject to suspension pursuant to subdivision (f).

(4) For purposes of this subdivision, “net personal income tax
receipts’ refers to amounts received by the Franchise Tax Board
and the Employment Devel opment Department under the Personal
Income Tax Law, as reported by the Franchise Tax Board to the
Department of Finance pursuant to law, regulation, procedure, and
practice (commonly referred to as the “102 Report”) in effect on
the effective date of the act establishing this section.

(c) No later than March 1, 2006, and each March 1 thereafter,
the Department of Finance, in consultation with the Franchise Tax
Board, shall determine the annual adjustment amount for the
following fiscal year.

(1) The “annual adjustment amount” for afiscal year shall be
an amount equal to the amount determined by subtracting the
“revenue adjustment amount” for the applicabl e revenue adjustment
fiscal year, as determined by the Franchise Tax Board under
paragraph (3), from the “tax liability adjustment amount” for
applicable tax liability adjustment tax year, as determined by the
Franchise Tax Board under paragraph (2).

(2) (A) (i) The“tax liability adjustment amount” for atax year
isequal to the amount determined by subtracting the estimated tax
liability increase from the additional tax imposed under Section
17043 for the applicable year under subparagraph (B) from the
amount of the actual tax liability increase from the additional tax
imposed under Section 17043 for the applicable tax year, based
on the returns filed for that tax year.

(if) For purposes of the determinations required under this
paragraph, actual tax liability increase from the additional tax
means the increase in tax liability resulting from the tax of 1

91



SB 326 — 14—

percent imposed under Section 17043 as reflected on the original
returns filed by October 15 of the year after the close of the
applicable tax year.

(iii) Theapplicabletax year referred to in this paragraph means
the 12-calendar month taxable year beginning on January 1 of the
year that is two years before the beginning of the fiscal year for
which an annual adjustment amount is calculated.

(B) The “estimated tax liability increase from the additional
tax” for each tax year shall be determined by applying an annual
growth rate of 7 percent to the “estimated tax liability increase
from additional tax” of the immediately preceding tax year.

(3) (A) The“revenueadjustment amount” isequal to theamount
determined by subtracting the “estimated revenue from the
additional tax” for the applicablefiscal year, as determined under
subparagraph (B), from the actual amount transferred for the
applicablefiscal year.

(B) (i) The “estimated revenue from the additional tax” for
each applicable fiscal year shall be determined by applying an
annual growth rate of 7 percent to the “estimated revenue from
the additional tax” of the immediately preceding applicable fiscal
year.

(i) Theapplicablefiscal year referred toin this paragraph means
the fiscal year that istwo years before the fiscal year for which an
annual adjustment amount is calculated.

(d) The Department of Finance shall notify the Legislature and
the Controller of the results of the determinations required under
subdivision (c) no later than 10 business days after the
determinations are final.

(e) If theannual adjustment amount for afiscal year isapositive
number, the Controller shall transfer that amount from the General
Fund to the BHS Fund on July 1 of that fiscal year.

(f) If theannual adjustment amount for afiscal year isanegative
number, the Controller shall suspend monthly transfersto the BHS
Fund for that fiscal year, as otherwise required by paragraph (1)
of subdivision (b), until the total amount of suspended deposits
for that fiscal year equals the amount of the negative annual
adjustment amount for that fiscal year.

(g) Totheextent that there are moneysremaining in the Mental
Health Services Fund on the date this section becomes operative,
those moneysshall betransferred to the Behaviora Health Services

91



— 15— SB 326

Fund. Amounts owed or encumbered at the time of transfer shall
be used in the manner required by the MHSA.. Any funds not owed
or encumbered by the MHSA may be used in the same manner as
any other moneysin the BHS Fund.

(h) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 9. Section 1095.5 of the Unemployment Insurance Code
is amended to read:

1095.5. (@) (1) The director shall permit the use of any
information in their possession to the extent necessary to enable
the Mental Heath Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission to receive quarterly wage data of mental health
consumers served by the California public mental health system
for the purpose of monitoring and eval uating employment outcomes
to determine the effectiveness of those services.

(2) Thedirector may require reimbursement for al direct costs
incurred in providing any information specified in this section.

(3) The information shall be provided to the extent permitted
under applicable federal statute and regulation.

(b) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 10. Section 1095.5 is added to the Unemployment
Insurance Code, to read:

1095.5. (a) (1) The director shall permit the use of any
information in their possession to the extent necessary to enable
the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission to receive quarterly wage data of individuals with a
mental health disorder or a substance use disorder, or both, served
by the California public mental health and substance use disorder
system for the purpose of monitoring and eval uating employment
outcomes to determine the effectiveness of those services.

(2) Thedirector may require reimbursement for al direct costs
incurred in providing any information specified in this section.

(3) The information shall be provided to the extent permitted
under applicable federal statute and regulation.

91



SB 326 — 16—

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 11. Section 4090 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
amended to read:

4090. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services shall
establish, by regulation, standards for the programs listed in
Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 5670) of Part 2 of Division
5. These standards shall also be applied by the department to any
facility licensed as a socia rehabilitation facility pursuant to
paragraph (7) of subdivision (a) of Section 1502 of the Health and
Safety Code.

(b) In establishing the standards required by this section, the
department shall not establish standards that in themselvesimpose
any new or increased costs on the programs or facilities affected
by the standards.

(©) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), pursuant to Section
5963.05, the State Department of Headlth Care Services may
develop and revise documentation standards for socid
rehabilitation facilities and community residential treatment
programs to be consistent with the standards devel oped pursuant
to paragraph (3) of subdivision (h) of Section 14184.402.

(2) The department shall require social rehabilitation facilities
and community residential treatment programsto implement these
documentation standards and shall monitor compliance with these
standards as part of program reviews.

SEC. 12. Section 4094 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

4094. (a) The State Department of Mental Heath shall
establish, by regulations adopted at the earliest possible date, but
no later than December 31, 1994, program standardsfor any facility
licensed asacommunity treatment facility. This section shall apply
only to community treatment facilities described in this subdivision.

(b) Commencing July 1, 2012, the State Department of Health
Care Services may adopt or amend regulations pertaining to the
program standards for any facility licensed as a community
treatment facility.

(c) A certification of complianceissued by the State Department
of Health Care Services shall be a condition of licensure for the
community treatment facility by the State Department of Social

91



— 17— SB 326

Services. The department may, upon the request of a county,
delegate the certification and supervision of acommunity treatment
facility to the county department of mental health.

(d) The State Department of Health Care Services shall adopt
regulations to include, but not be limited to, the following:

(1) Procedures by which the Director of Health Care Services
shall certify that a facility requesting licensure as a community
treatment facility pursuant to Chapter 3 (commencing with Section
1500) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Codeisin compliance
with program standards established pursuant to this section.

(2) Procedures by which the Director of Health Care Services
shall deny a certification to afacility or decertify afacility that is
licensed as a community treatment facility pursuant to Chapter 3
(commencing with Section 1500) of Division 2 of the Health and
Safety Code, but no longer complying with program standards
established pursuant to this section, in accordance with Chapter 5
(commencing with Section 11500) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title
2 of the Government Code.

(3) Provisionsfor site visits by the State Department of Health
Care Servicesfor the purpose of reviewing afacility’s compliance
with program standards established pursuant to this section.

(4) Provisions for the community care licensing staff of the
State Department of Social Services to report to the State
Department of Health Care Serviceswhen thereisreasonable cause
to believe that acommunity treatment facility isnot in compliance
with program standards established pursuant to this section.

(5) Provisionsfor the State Department of Health Care Services
to provide consultation and documentation to the State Department
of Social Services in any administrative proceeding regarding
denial, suspension, or revocation of acommunity treatment facility
license.

(e) The standards adopted by regulations pursuant to
subdivisions (a) and (b) shall include, but not be limited to,
standards for treatment, staffing, and for the use of psychotropic
medication, discipline, and restraintsin thefacilities. The standards
shall also meet the requirements of Section 4094.5.

() (1) A community treatment facility shall not be required by
the State Department of Health Care Services to have 24-hour
onsite licensed nursing staff, but shall retain at least one full-time,

91



SB 326 — 18—

or full-time-equivalent, registered nurse onsite if all of the
following are applicable:

(A) Thefacility does not use mechanical restraint.

(B) Thefacility only admits children who have been assessed,
at the point of admission, by alicensed primary care provider and
alicensed psychiatrist, who have concluded, with respect to each
child, that the child does not require medical servicesthat require
24-hour nursing coverage. For purposes of thissection, a“primary
care provider” includes a person defined in Section 14254, or a
nurse practitioner who has the responsibility for providing initial
and primary careto patients, for maintaining the continuity of care,
and for initiating referral for specialist care.

(C) Other medical or nursing staff shall be available on call to
provide appropriate services, when necessary, within one hour. In
order for a placement in a community treatment facility to be
funded with federal Aid to Families with Dependent
Children-Foster Care on behaf of an eligible child, the facility
shall maintain registered or licensed nursing staff and other licensed
clinical staff who are onsite, according to the facility’s treatment
model, and who are available 24 hours a day and 7 days a week.
If consistent with the facility's treatment model, a community
treatment facility may access the same nursing resources as those
made available to a short-term residential therapeutic program
pursuant to Section 4096.55.

(D) All direct care staff shall be trained in first aid and
cardiopulmonary resuscitation, and in emergency intervention
techniques and methods approved by the Community Care
Licensing Division of the State Department of Social Services.

(2) The State Department of Health Care Services may adopt
emergency regulations as necessary to implement this subdivision.
The adoption of these regulations shall be deemed to be an
emergency and necessary for the immediate preservation of the
public peace, hedth and safety, and general welfare. The
regulations shall be exempt from review by the Office of
Administrative Law and shall become effectiveimmediately upon
filing with the Secretary of State. The regulations shall not remain
in effect more than 180 days unless the adopting agency complies
with all the provisions of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,

91



— 19— SB 326

as required by subdivision (e) of Section 11346.1 of the
Government Code.

(g) During theinitial public comment period for the adoption
of the regulations required by this section, the community care
facility licensing regulations proposed by the State Department of
Social Services and the program standards proposed by the State
Department of Health Care Services shall be presented
simultaneously.

(h) A minor shall be admitted to acommunity treatment facility
only if the requirements of Section 4094.5 of this code, Section
1530.9 of the Health and Safety Code, and either of the following
conditions are met:

(1) The minor is within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court,
and has made voluntary application for mental health services
pursuant to Section 6552.

(2) Informed consent isgiven by aparent, guardian, conservator,
or other person having custody of the minor.

(i) Any minor admitted to acommunity treatment facility shall
have the same due process rights afforded to a minor who may be
admitted to a state hospital, pursuant to the holding in In re Roger
S. (1977) 19 Cal.3d 921. Minors who are wards or dependents of
the court and to whom this subdivision applies shall be afforded
due processin accordance with Section 6552 and related case law,
including In re Michael E. (1975) 15 Cal.3d 183. Regulations
adopted pursuant to Section 4094 shall specify the procedures for
ensuring theserights, including provisionsfor notification of rights
and the time and place of hearings.

() (1) Notwithstanding subdivisions (a) and (b), pursuant to
Section 5963.05, the State Department of Health Care Services
may develop and revise documentation standards for community
treatment facilities to be consistent with the standards devel oped
pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (h) of Section 14184.402.

(2) The department or the department’s delegate shall require
community treatment facilitiesto implement these documentation
standards and shall monitor compliance with these standards as
part of the program reviews required for certification pursuant to
subdivision (c).

SEC. 13. Section 4096.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

91



SB 326 — 20—

4096.5. (a) Thissectiongovernsstandardsfor the mental health
program approval for short-term residential therapeutic programs,
which isrequired under subdivision (c) of Section 1562.01 of the
Health and Safety Code.

(b) All short-term residential therapeutic programs that serve
children who have either been assessed as meeting the medical
necessity criteria for Medi-Cal specialty mental health services,
as provided for in Section 1830.205 or 1830.210 of Title 9 of the
California Code of Regulations, or who have been assessed as
seriously emotionally disturbed, as defined in subdivision (a) of
Section 5600.3, shall obtain and have in good standing a mental
health program approvad and a Medi-Ca mental health
certification, asdescribed in Section 11462.01, issued by the State
Department of Health Care Services or a county mental health
plan to which the department has delegated approval authority.
This approval, which is required pursuant to subdivision (c) of
Section 1562.01 of the Health and Safety Code, is acondition for
receiving an Aid to Familieswith Dependent Children-Foster Care
rate pursuant to Section 11462.01.

(©) (1) A short-term residential therapeutic program shall not
directly provide speciaty mental health serviceswithout a current
mental health program approval. A licensed short-term residential
therapeutic program that has not obtained aprogram approval shall
provide children in its care access to appropriate mental health
services.

(2) County mental health plans shal ensure that Medi-Cal
specialty mental health services, including, but not limited to,
services under the Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and
Treatment benefit, are provided to all Medi-Cal beneficiaries served
by short-term residential therapeutic programs who meet medical
necessity criteria, asprovided for in Section 1830.205 or 1830.210
of Title 9 of the California Code of Regulations.

(d) (1) The State Department of Health Care Services or a
county mental health plan to which the department has del egated
mental health program approval authority shall approve or deny
mental health program approval requests within 45 days of
receiving arequest. The State Department of Health Care Services
or a county mental health plan to which the department has
delegated mental health program approval authority shall issue
each mental health program approval for a period of one year,

91



—21— SB 326

except for approvals granted pursuant to paragraph (2) and
provisional approvals granted pursuant to regulations promul gated
under subdivision (e), and shall specify the effective date of the
approval. Approved entities shall meet all program standards to
be reapproved.

(2) (A) Between January 1, 2017, and December 31, 2017, the
State Department of Health Care Services, or a county mental
health plan to which the department has delegated mental health
program approval authority, shall approve or deny amental health
program approval request within 90 days of receipt.

(B) Between January 1, 2017, and December 31, 2017, the State
Department of Health Care Services, or a county mental health
plan to which the department has del egated mental health program
approval authority, may issue a mental health program approval
for aperiod of less than one year.

(e) (1) The State Department of Health Care Services and the
county mental health plansto which the department has del egated
mental health program approval authority may enforce the mental
health program approval standards by taking any of the following
actions against a noncompliant short-term residential therapeutic
program:

(A) Suspend or revoke a mental health program approval.

(B) Impose monetary penalties.

(C) Place amental health program on probation.

(D) Require a mental health program to prepare and comply
with a corrective action plan.

(2) The State Department of Health Care Servicesand the county
mental health plans to which the department has del egated mental
health program approval authority shall provide short-term
residential therapeutic programswith due process protections when
taking any of the actions described in paragraph (1).

(f) The State Department of Health Care Services, in
consultation with the State Department of Socia Services, shall
promulgate regulations regarding program standards, oversight,
enforcement, issuance of mental heath program approvals,
including provisional approvals that are effective for a period of
lessthan one year, and due process protectionsrelated to the mental
health program approval process for short-term residential
therapeutic programs.

91



SB 326 —22—

(9) (1) Exceptfor mental health program approval of short-term
residential therapeutic programs operated by a county, the State
Department of Health Care Services may, upon the request of a
county, delegateto that county mental health plan the mental health
program approval of short-term residential therapeutic programs
within its borders.

(2) Any county to which mental health program approval is
delegated pursuant to paragraph (1) shall be responsible for the
oversight and enforcement of program standards and the provision
of due process for approved and denied entities.

(h) The State Department of Health Care Services or a county
mental health plan to which the department has delegated mental
health program approval authority shall notify the State Department
of Socia Servicesimmediately upon the termination of any mental
health program approval issued in accordance with subdivisions
(b) and (d).

(i) The State Department of Social Services shall notify the
State Department of Health Care Services and, if applicable, a
county to which the department has delegated mental health
program approval authority, immediately upon the revocation of
any licenseissued pursuant to Chapter 3 (commencing with Section
1500) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code.

()) Revocation of alicense or amental health program approval
or failure to meet the requirements of subdivision (c) of Section
1562.01 of the Hedlth and Safety Code shall be a basis for rate
termination.

(k) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (f), pursuant to Section
5963.05, the State Department of Health Care Services may
develop and revise documentation standards to be consistent with
the standards devel oped pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision
(h) of Section 14184.402.

(2) The department shal require short-term residential
therapeutic programs to implement the documentation standards
developed pursuant to paragraph (1) and shall monitor compliance
with these standards as part of program reviews.

SEC. 14. Section 5604 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5604. (a) (1) Each community mental health service shall
have a mental health board consisting of 10 to 15 members,
depending on the preference of the county, appointed by the

91



— 23— SB 326

governing body, except that boards in counties with a population
of fewer than 80,000 may have a minimum of five members. A
county with more than five supervisors shall have at least the same
number of members as the size of its board of supervisors. This
section does not limit the ability of the governing body to increase
the number of members above 15.

(2) (A) The board shall serve in an advisory role to the
governing body, and one member of the board shall be a member
of the local governing body. Local mental health boards may
recommend appointees to the county supervisors. The board
membership should reflect the diversity of the client population
in the county to the extent possible.

(B) Fifty percent of the board membership shall be consumers,
or the parents, spouses, siblings, or adult children of consumers,
who arereceiving or have received mental health services. At least
20 percent of the total membership shall be consumers, and at |east
20 percent shall be families of consumers.

(C) (i) In counties with a population of 100,000 or more, at
least one member of the board shall be a veteran or veteran
advocate. In countieswith apopulation of fewer than 100,000, the
county shall give a strong preference to appointing at least one
member of the board who is a veteran or a veteran advocate.

(if) To comply with clause (i), a county shall notify its county
veterans service officer about vacancies on the board, if a county
has a veterans service officer.

(D) In addition to the requirements in subparagraphs (B) and
(C), counties are encouraged to appoint individuals who have
experience with, and knowledge of, the mental health system. This
would include members of the community that engage with
individuals living with mental illness in the course of daily
operations, such as representatives of county offices of education,
large and small businesses, hospitals, hospital districts, physicians
practicing in emergency departments, city police chiefs, county
sheriffs, and community and nonprofit service providers.

(3) (A) Incountieswith apopulation that isfewer than 80,000,
at least one member shall be a consumer and at least one member
shall beaparent, spouse, sibling, or adult child of aconsumer who
isreceiving, or has received, mental health services.

(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A), aboardin acounty with
apopulation that isfewer than 80,000 that elects to have the board

91



SB 326 — 24—

exceed the five-member minimum permitted under paragraph (1)
shall be required to comply with paragraph (2).

(b) The mental health board shall review and evaluate the local
public mental health system, pursuant to Section 5604.2, and advise
the governing body on community mental health servicesdelivered
by thelocal mental health agency or local behavioral health agency,
as applicable.

(c) The term of each member of the board shall be for three
years. The governing body shall equitably stagger the appointments
so that approximately one-third of the appointments expirein each
year.

(d) If two or morelocal agenciesjointly establish acommunity
mental health service pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with
Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the
Government Code, the mental health board for the community
mental health service shall consist of an additional two members
for each additional agency, one of whom shall be a consumer or
a parent, spouse, sibling, or adult child of a consumer who has
received mental health services.

(e) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), a member of the
board or the member’s spouse shall not be afull-time or part-time
county employee of a county mental health service, an employee
of the State Department of Health Care Services, or an employee
of, or a pad member of the governing body of, a mental health
contract agency.

(2) A consumer of mental health services who has obtained
employment with an employer described in paragraph (1) and who
holds aposition in which the consumer does not have any interest,
influence, or authority over any financial or contractual matter
concerning the employer may be appointed to the board. The
member shall abstain from voting on any financial or contractual
issue concerning the member’s employer that may come before
the board.

(f) Membersof theboard shall abstain from voting on any issue
in which the member has afinancial interest as defined in Section
87103 of the Government Code.

(g) Ifitisnot possibleto secure membership asspecifiedinthis
section from among persons who reside in the county, the
governing body may substitute representatives of the public interest
in mental health who are not full-time or part-time employees of

91



— 25— SB 326

the county mental health service, the State Department of Health
Care Services, or on the staff of, or apaid member of the governing
body of, amental health contract agency.

(h) The mental health board may be established as an advisory
board or acommission, depending on the preference of the county.

(i) For purposesof thissection, “veteran advocate” meanseither
aparent, spouse, or adult child of a veteran, or an individual who
ispart of aveterans organization, including the Veterans of Foreign
Wars or the American Legion.

() If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2026, is repealed.

SEC. 15. Section 5604 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5604. (@) (1) (A) Eachcommunity mental health service shall
have a behavioral health board consisting of 10 to 15 members,
depending on the preference of the county, appointed by the
governing body, except that a board in a county with a population
of fewer than 80,000 may have a minimum of 5 members.

(B) A county with more than five supervisors shall have at |east
the same number of members asthe size of itsboard of supervisors.

(C) Thissectiondoesnot limit the ability of the governing body
to increase the number of members above 15.

(2) (A) (i) The board shal serve in an advisory role to the
governing body, and one member of the board shall be a member
of the local governing body.

(if) Local behavioral health boards may recommend appointees
to the county supervisors.

(iii) The board membership shall reflect the diversity of the
client population in the county to the extent possible.

(B) (i) Fifty percent of the board membership shall be
consumers, or the parents, spouses, siblings, or adult children of
consumers, who are receiving or have received behavioral health
services. At least one of these members shall be an individual who
is 25 years of age or younger.

(i) At least 20 percent of the total membership shall be
consumers, and at least 20 percent shall be families of consumers.

(C) (i) In acounty with a population of 100,000 or more, at
least one member of the board shall be a veteran or veteran

91



SB 326 — 26—

advocate. In acounty with a popul ation of fewer than 100,000, the
county shall give a strong preference to appointing at least one
member of the board who is a veteran or a veteran advocate.

(if) To comply with clause (i), a county shall notify its county
veterans service officer about vacancies on the board, if the county
has a veterans service officer.

(D) (i) At least one member of the board shall be an employee
of alocal education agency.

(if) To comply with clause (i), a county shall notify its county
office of education about vacancies on the board.

(E) (i) In addition to the requirements in subparagraphs (B),
(C), and (D), counties are encouraged to appoint individuals who
have experience with, and knowledge of, the behaviora health
system.

(i) Thiswould include members of the community who engage
with individuasliving with mental illness or substance use disorder
inthe course of daily operations, such asrepresentatives of county
offices of education, large and small businesses, hospitals, hospital
districts, physicians practicing in emergency departments, city
police chiefs, county sheriffs, and community and nonprofit service
providers.

(3) (A) Incountieswithapopulation that isfewer than 80,000,
at least one member shall be aconsumer and at least one member
shall beaparent, spouse, sibling, or adult child of aconsumer who
IS recelving, or has received, mental health or substance use
disorder treatment services.

(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A), aboardin acounty with
apopulation that isfewer than 80,000 that elects to have the board
exceed the five-member minimum permitted under paragraph (1)
shall be required to comply with paragraph (2).

(b) (1) The behavioral health board shall review and evaluate
the local public mental health system, pursuant to Section 5604.2,
and review and evaluate the local public substance use disorder
treatment system.

(2) Thebehavioral health board shall advise the governing body
on community mental health and substance use disorder services
delivered by the local mental health agency or local behavioral
health agency, as applicable.

(©) (1) Theterm of each member of the board shall befor three
years.

91



— 27— SB 326

(2) Thegoverning body shall equitably stagger the appointments
so that approximately one-third of the appointments expirein each
year.

(d) If two or morelocal agenciesjointly establish acommunity
mental health service pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with
Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Divison 7 of Title 1 of the
Government Code, the behavioral health board for the community
mental health service shall consist of an additional two members
for each additional agency, one of whom shall be a consumer or
a parent, spouse, sibling, or adult child of a consumer who has
received mental health or substance use disorder treatment services.

() (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), a member of the
board or the member’s spouse shall not be afull-time or part-time
county employee of a county mental health and substance use
disorder service, an employee of the State Department of Health
Care Services, or an employee of, or a paid member of the
governing body of, a mental health or substance use disorder
contract agency.

(2) (A) A consumer of behavioral health services who has
obtained employment with an employer described in paragraph
(1) and who holds a position in which the consumer does not have
an interest, influence, or authority over afinancial or contractual
matter concerning the employer may be appointed to the board.

(B) The member shall abstain from voting on a financial or
contractual issue concerning the member’s employer that may
come before the board.

(f) Members of the board shall abstain from voting on an issue
in which the member has afinancial interest as defined in Section
87103 of the Government Code.

(g) Ifitisnot possibleto secure membership asspecifiedinthis
section from among persons who reside in the county, the
governing body may substitute representatives of the public interest
in behavioral health who are not full-time or part-time employees
of the county behavioral health service, the State Department of
Health Care Services, or on the staff of, or a paid member of the
governing body of, a behavioral health contract agency.

(h) The behavioral health board may be established as an
advisory board or a commission, depending on the preference of
the county.

91



SB 326 — 28—

() For purposes of this section, “veteran advocate” meanseither
aparent, spouse, or adult child of a veteran, or an individual who
ispart of aveterans organization, including the Veterans of Foreign
Wars or the American Legion.

() This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 16. Section 5604.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5604.1. (a) Loca mental hedth advisory boards shall be
subject to the provisions of Chapter 9 (commencing with Section
54950) of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code,
relating to meetings of local agencies.

(b) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
el ection, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2026, is repealed.

SEC. 17. Section 5604.1 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5604.1. (@) Local behavioral health boards are subject to the
provisions of Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 54950) of Part
1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code, relating to
meetings of local agencies.

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary.

SEC. 18. Section 5604.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5604.2. (a) The local mental health board shall do al of the
following:

(1) Review and evaluate the community’s public mental health
needs, services, facilities, and special problems in any facility
within the county or jurisdiction where mental health evaluations
or services are being provided, including, but not limited to,
schools, emergency departments, and psychiatric facilities.

(2) Review any county agreements entered into pursuant to
Section 5650. The local mental health board may make
recommendations to the governing body regarding concerns
identified within these agreements.

91



—29— SB 326

(3) Advise the governing body and the local mental health
director asto any aspect of thelocal mental health program. Local
mental health boards may request assistance from theloca patients
rights advocates when reviewing and advising on mental health
evaluations or services provided in public facilities with limited
access.

(4) Review and approve the procedures used to ensure citizen
and professional involvement at all stages of the planning process.
Involvement shall include individuals with lived experience of
mental illness and their families, community members, advocacy
organizations, and mental health professionals. It shall alsoinclude
other professionalsthat interact with individualsliving with mental
illnesses on adaily basis, such as education, emergency services,
employment, health care, housing, law enforcement, local business
owners, social services, seniors, transportation, and veterans.

(5) Submit an annual report to the governing body on the needs
and performance of the county’s mental health system.

(6) Review and make recommendations on applicants for the
appointment of alocal director of mental health services. The board
shall be included in the selection process prior to the vote of the
governing body.

(7) Review and comment on the county’s performance outcome
data and communicate its findings to the California Behavioral
Health Planning Council.

(8) Thispart doesnot limit the ability of the governing body to
transfer additional duties or authority to a mental health board.

(b) It isthe intent of the Legidature that, as part of its duties
pursuant to subdivision (a), the board shall assess the impact of
therealignment of servicesfrom the state to the county, on services
delivered to clients and on the local community.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2026, is repealed.

SEC. 19. Section 5604.2 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5604.2. (a) Thelocal behaviora health board shall do all of
the following:

(1) Review and evaluate the community’s public behavioral
health needs, services, facilities, and special problemsin afacility

91



SB 326 —30—

within the county or jurisdiction where mental health or substance
use disorder evaluations or services are being provided, including,
but not limited to, schools, emergency departments, and psychiatric
facilities.

(2) (A) Review county agreements entered into pursuant to
Section 5650.

(B) The local behaviora heath board may make
recommendations to the governing body regarding concerns
identified within these agreements.

(3) (A) Advise the governing body and the local behavioral
health director as to any aspect of the local behavioral health
systems.

(B) Local behavioral health boards may request assistance from
the local patients’ rights advocates when reviewing and advising
on mental health or substance use disorder evaluations or services
provided in public facilities with limited access.

(4) (A) Review and approve the procedures used to ensure
citizen and professional involvement at all stages of the planning
process.

(B) Involvement shall includeindividualswith lived experience
of mental illness, substance use disorder, or both, and their families,
community members, advocacy organizations, and behavioral
health professionals. It shall also include other professionals who
interact with individuals living with mental illnesses or substance
use disorders on a daily basis, such as education, emergency
services, employment, health care, housing, public safety, local
business owners, socia services, older adults, transportation, and
veterans.

(5) Submit an annual report to the governing body on the needs
and performance of the county’s behavioral health system.

(6) (A) Review and make recommendations on applicants for
the appointment of alocal director of behavioral health services.

(B) The board shall be included in the selection process prior
to the vote of the governing body.

(7) Review and comment on the county’s performance outcome
data and communicate its findings to the California Behavioral
Health Planning Council.

(8) Thispart doesnot limit the ability of the governing body to
transfer additional dutiesor authority to abehavioral health board.

91



—31— SB 326

(b) It isthe intent of the Legislature that, as part of its duties
pursuant to subdivision (a), the board shall assess the impact of
therealignment of servicesfrom the state to the county on services
delivered to clients and on the local community.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 20. Section 5604.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5604.3. (a) The board of supervisors may pay from any
available funds the actual and necessary expenses of the members
of the mental health board of a community mental health service
incurred incident to the performance of their official duties and
functions. The expenses may include travel, lodging, childcare,
and meals for the members of an advisory board while on official
business as approved by the director of the local mental health
program.

(b) Governing bodies are encouraged to provide a budget for
the local mental health board, using planning and administrative
revenues identified in subdivision (c) of Section 5892, that is
sufficient to facilitate the purpose, duties, and responsibilities of
the local mental health board.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2026, is repealed.

SEC. 21. Section 5604.3 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5604.3. (@) (1) The board of supervisors may pay from
available funds the actual and necessary expenses of the members
of the behavioral health board of a community mental health
serviceincurred incident to the performance of their official duties
and functions.

(2) The expenses may include travel, lodging, childcare, and
meals for the members of the board while on official business as
approved by the director of the local behavioral health program.

(b) Governing bodies are encouraged to provide a budget for
thelocal behaviora health board using planning and administrative
revenues identified in paragraph (1) of subdivision (e) of Section

91



SB 326 —32—

5892, that is sufficient to facilitate the purpose, duties, and
responsibilities of the local behavioral health board.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 22. Section 5604.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5604.5. Thelocal mental health board shall develop bylawsto
be approved by the governing body which shall do al of the
following:

(@) Establish the specific number of members on the mental
health board, consistent with subdivision (a) of Section 5604.

(b) Ensure that the composition of the mental health board
represents and refl ects the diversity and demographics of the county
as awhole, to the extent feasible.

(c) Establish that a quorum be one person more than one-half
of the appointed members.

(d) Establishthat the chairperson of the mental health board be
in consultation with the local mental health director.

(e) Establish that there may be an executive committee of the
mental health board.

(f) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2026, is repealed.

SEC. 23. Section 5604.5 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5604.5. Thelocal behavioral health board shall devel op bylaws
to be approved by the governing body that shall do al of the
following:

(a) Establish the specific number of members on the behavioral
health board, consistent with subdivision (a) of Section 5604.

(b) Ensure that the composition of the behavioral health board
represents and refl ects the diversity and demographics of the county
as awhole, to the extent feasible.

(c) Establish that a quorum be one person more than one-half
of the appointed members.

(d) Establishthat the chairperson of the behavioral health board
be in consultation with the local behavioral health director.

91



—33— SB 326

(e) Establish that there may be an executive committee of the
behavioral health board.

(f) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 24. Section 5610 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5610. (&) Eachcounty mental health system shall comply with
reporting requirements developed by the State Department of
Health Care Services, in consultation with the California
Behavioral Health Planning Council and the Mental Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission, which shall
be uniform and simplified. The department shall review existing
data requirements to eliminate unnecessary requirements and
consolidate requirements that are necessary. These requirements
shall provide comparability between countiesin reports.

(b) The department shall develop, in consultation with the
Performance Outcome Committee, the California Behavioral
Health Planning Council, and the Mental Health Services Oversight
and Accountability Commission, pursuant to Section 5611, and
with the California Health and Human Services Agency, uniform
definitions and formats for a statewide, nonduplicative client-based
information system that includes all information necessary to meet
federal mental health grant requirements and state and federal
Medicaid reporting requirements, and any other state requirements
established by law. The data system, including performance
outcome measures reported pursuant to Section 5613, shall be
developed by July 1, 1992.

(c) Unless determined necessary by the department to comply
with federal law and regulations, the data system developed
pursuant to subdivision (b) shall not be more costly than that in
place during the 1990-91 fiscal year.

(d) (1) The department shall develop unique client identifiers
that permit development of client-specific cost and outcome
measures and related research and analysis.

(2) The department’s collection and use of client information,
and the development and use of client identifiers, shall be
consistent with clients' constitutional and statutory rightsto privacy
and confidentiality.

91



SB 326 — 34—

(3) Datareported to the department may include name and other
personal identifiers. That information is confidential and subject
to Section 5328 and any other state and federal laws regarding
confidential client information.

(4) Persona client identifiers reported to the department shall
be protected to ensure confidentiality during transmission and
storage through encryption and other appropriate means.

(5) Information reported to the department may be shared with
local public mental health agencies submitting recordsfor the same
person and that information is subject to Section 5328.

(e) All client information reported to the department pursuant
to Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 4030) of Part 1 of Division
4, Sections 5328 to 5772.5, inclusive, Chapter 8.9 (commencing
with Section 14700) of Part 3 of Division 9, and any other state
and federal laws regarding reporting requirements, consistent with
Section 5328, shall not be used for purposes other than those
purposes expressly stated in the reporting requirements referred
to in this subdivision.

(f) The department may adopt emergency regulations to
implement this section in accordance with the Administrative
Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code). The
adoption of emergency regulations to implement this section that
are filed with the Office of Administrative Law within one year
of the date on which the act that added this subdivision took effect
shall be deemed to be an emergency and necessary for the
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, or
general welfare and shall remain in effect for no more than 180
days.

(g) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 25. Section 5610 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5610. (a) (1) Each county behavioral health system shall
comply with reporting requirements developed by the State
Department of Heath Care Services, in consultation with the
CaliforniaBehaviora Health Planning Council and the Behavioral

91



—35— SB 326

Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission, which
shall be uniform and simplified.

(2) The department shall review existing data requirements to
eliminate unnecessary requirements and consolidate requirements
that are necessary.

(3) These requirements shall provide comparability between
counties in reports.

(b) (1) The department and the California Health and Human
Services Agency shall develop, in consultation with the
Performance Outcome Committee, the California Behavioral
Health Planning Council, and the Behavioral Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission, pursuant to Section
5611, uniform definitions and formats for a statewide,
nonduplicative, client-based information system that includes all
information necessary to meet federal mental health grant
requirements, state and federal Medicaid reporting requirements,
and other state requirements established by law.

(2) Thedatasystem, including performance outcome measures
reported pursuant to Section 5613, shall be developed by July 1,
1992.

(c) Unless determined necessary by the department to comply
with federal law and regulations, the data system developed
pursuant to subdivision (b) shall not be more costly than that in
place during the 1990-91 fiscal year.

(d) (1) The department shall develop unique client identifiers
that permit development of client-specific cost and outcome
measures and related research and analysis.

(2) The department’s collection and use of client information,
and the development and use of client identifiers, shall be
consistent with clients’ constitutional and statutory rightsto privacy
and confidentiality.

(3) (A) Datareported to the department may include name and
other personal identifiers.

(B) Thatinformationisconfidential and subject to Section 5328
and any other state and federal law regarding confidential client
information.

(4) Persona client identifiers reported to the department shall
be protected to ensure confidentiality during transmission and
storage through encryption and other appropriate means.

91



SB 326 — 36—

(5) (A) Information reported to the department may be shared
with local public behavioral health agencies submitting records
for the same person.

(B) The information described in this paragraph is subject to
Section 5328.

(e) All client information reported to the department pursuant
to Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 4030) of Part 1 of Division
4 and Sections 5328 to 5772.5, inclusive, Chapter 8.9 (commencing
with Section 14700), and any other state and federal law regarding
reporting requirements, consistent with Section 5328, shall not be
used for purposes other than those purposes expressly stated in the
reporting requirements referred to in this subdivision.

(f) The department may adopt emergency regulations to
implement this section in accordance with the Administrative
Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of
Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code). The
adoption of emergency regulations to implement this section that
are filed with the Office of Administrative Law within one year
of the date on which the act that added this subdivision took effect
shall be deemed to be an emergency and necessary for the
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety, or
general welfare and shall remain in effect for no more than 180
days.

(g) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 26. Section 5613 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5613. (a) Countiesshall annually report data on performance
measures established pursuant to Section 5612 to the local mental
health advisory board and to the Director of Health Care Services.

(b) The Director of Health Care Services shall annually make
data on county performance available to the L egislature, and post
that data on the department’s Internet Web site, by no later than
March 15 of each year.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

91



— 37— SB 326

SEC. 27. Section 5613 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5613. (a) Countiesshall annually report data on performance
measures established pursuant to Section 5612 to the local
behavioral health board and to the Director of Health Care Services.

(b) The Director of Heath Care Services shall annualy make
data on county performance available to the Legislature and post
that data on the department’s internet website by no later than
March 15 of each year.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 28. Section 5614 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5614. (a) Thedepartment, in consultation with the Compliance
Advisory Committee that shall have representatives from relevant
stakeholders, including, but not limited to, local behavioral health
departments, local behavioral health boards and commissions,
private and community-based providers, consumers and family
members of consumers, local educational agency representatives
including, but not limited to, educators and school staff, and
advocates, shall establish a protocol for ensuring that local
behavioral health departments meet statutory and regulatory
requirements for the provision of publicly funded community
mental health services provided under this part.

(b) The protocol shall include a procedure for review and
assurance of compliancefor all of thefollowing elements, and any
other element required in law or regulation:

(1) Financia maintenance of effort requirements provided for
under Section 17608.05.

(2) Eachlocal behavioral health board has approved procedures
that ensure citizen and professional involvement in thelocal mental
health and substance use disorder planning process.

(3) Children’sservicesare funded pursuant to the requirements
of Sections 5704.5 and 5704.6.

(4) The loca behaviora hedth department complies with
reporting requirements developed by the department.

(5) To the extent resources are available, the local behavioral
health department maintains the program principles and the array

91



SB 326 —38—

of treatment options required under Sections 5600.2 to 5600.9,
inclusive.

(6) Thelocal behavioral health department meets the reporting
required by the performance outcome systems for adults and
children.

(¢) (1) Theprotocol developed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall
focus on law and regulations and shall include, but not be limited
to, the items specified in subdivision (b).

(2) Theprotocol shall include data collection procedures so that
state review and reporting may occur.

(3) Theprotocol shall aso include aprocedurefor the provision
of technical assistance and formal decision rules and procedures
for enforcement consequences when the requirements of law and
regulations are not met.

(4) These standards and decision rules shall be established
through the consensual stakeholder process established by the
department.

(d) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 29. Section 5614 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5614. (@) Thedepartment, in consultation with the Compliance
Advisory Committee that shall have representatives from relevant
stakeholders, including, but not limited to, local behavioral health
departments, local behavioral health boards and commissions,
private and community-based providers, consumers and family
members of consumers, local education agency representatives
including, but not limited to, educators and school staff, and
advocates, shall establish a protocol for ensuring that local
behavioral health departments meet statutory and regulatory
requirements for the provision of publicly funded community
mental health services provided under this part.

(b) The protocol shall include a procedure for review and
assurance of compliancefor all of thefollowing elements, and any
other element required in law or regulation:

(1) Financia maintenance of effort requirements provided for
under Section 17608.05.

91



—39— SB 326

(2) Eachlocal behavioral health board has approved procedures
that ensure citizen and professional involvement in thelocal mental
health and substance use disorder planning process.

(3) Children’sservicesare funded pursuant to the requirements
of Sections 5704.5 and 5704.6.

(4) The loca behaviora hedth department complies with
reporting requirements developed by the department.

(5) To the extent resources are available, the local behavioral
health department maintains the program principles and the array
of treatment options required under Sections 5600.2 to 5600.9,
inclusive.

(6) Thelocal behavioral health department meets the reporting
required by the performance outcome systems for adults and
children.

(©) (1) Theprotocol developed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall
focus on law and regulations and shall include, but not be limited
to, the items specified in subdivision (b).

(2) Theprotocol shall include datacollection procedures so that
state review and reporting may occur.

(3) Theprotocol shall asoinclude aprocedurefor the provision
of technical assistance, and formal decision rules and procedures
for enforcement consequences when the requirements of law and
regulations are not met.

(4) These standards and decision rules shall be established
through the consensual stakeholder process established by the
department.

(d) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 30. Section 5664 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5664. (a) In consultation with the County Behavioral Health
DirectorsAssociation of California, the State Department of Health
Care Services, the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, the California Behavioral Health
Planning Council, and the California Health and Human Services
Agency, county behaviora health systems shall provide reports
and data to meet the information needs of the state, as necessary.

(b) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary

91



SB 326 — 40—

election, this section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repeal ed.

SEC. 31. Section 5664 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5664. (a) In consultation with the County Behavioral Health
DirectorsAssociation of California, the State Department of Health
Care Services, the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, the California Behavioral Health
Planning Council, and the California Health and Human Services
Agency, county behaviora health systems shall provide reports
and data to meet the information needs of the state, as necessary.

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 32. Section 5675 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
amended to read:

5675. (a) (1) Menta health rehabilitation centers shall only
be licensed by the State Department of Heath Care Services
subsequent to application by counties, county contract providers,
or other organizations.

(2) Inthe application for amental health rehabilitation center,
program evaluation measures shall include, but not be limited to,
all of the following:

(A) That theclientsplacedinthefacilities show improved global
assessment scores as measured by preadmission and postadmission
tests.

(B) That theclientsplacedinthefacilities demonstrateimproved
functiona behavior as measured by preadmission and
postadmission tests.

(C) That the clients placed in the facilities have reduced
medication levels as determined by comparison of preadmission
and postadmission records.

(b) The State Department of Health Care Services shall conduct
annual licensing inspections of mental health rehabilitation centers.

(©) (1) Allregulationsrelating to thelicensing of mental health
rehabilitation centers, heretofore adopted by the State Department
of Mental Health, or its successor, shall remain in effect and shall
be fully enforceable by the State Department of Health Care
Services with respect to any facility or program required to be
licensed as a mental health rehabilitation center, unless and until

91



—41— SB 326

readopted, amended, or repealed by the Director of Health Care
Services.

(2) The State Department of Health Care Services shall succeed
to and be vested with all duties, powers, purposes, functions,
responsibilities, and jurisdiction of the State Department of Mental
Health, and its successor, if any, asthey relate to licensing mental
health rehabilitation centers.

(d) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (c), pursuant to Section
5963.05, the State Department of Health Care Services may
develop and revise documentation standardsfor individual service
plans to be consistent with the standards developed pursuant to
paragraph (3) of subdivision (h) of Section 14184.402.

(2) The department shall require mental health rehabilitation
centers to implement these documentation standards and shall
conduct annua licensing inspections and investigations to
determine compliance with these standards.

SEC. 33. Section 5771.1 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code
isamended to read:

5771.1. (&) The members of the Mental Heath Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission established pursuant
to Section 5845 are members of the California Behavioral Health
Planning Council. They serve in an ex officio capacity when the
council isperforming its statutory duties pursuant to Section 5772.
This membership does not affect the composition requirements
for the council specified in Section 5771.

(b) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 34. Section 5771.1 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5771.1. (a) The members of the Behavioral Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission established pursuant
to Section 5845 are members of the California Behavioral Health
Planning Council.

(b) These members serve in an ex officio capacity when the
council isperforming its statutory duties pursuant to Section 5772.

(c) This membership does not affect the composition
requirements for the council specified in Section 5771.

91



SB 326 — 42—

(d) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 35. Section 5805 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
amended to read:

5805. (a) The State Department of Health Care Services shall
require counties to use available state and matching funds for the
client target population as defined in Section 5600.3 to develop a
comprehensive array of servicesasdefined in Sections 5600.6 and
5600.7.

(b) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 36. Section 5805 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5805. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services shall
require counties to use funds distributed pursuant to subdivision
(c) of Section 5891 for eligible adults and older adults, as defined
in Section 5892, to develop a comprehensive array of services, as
defined in Sections 5600.6 and 5600.7, and substance use disorder
treatment services, as defined in Section 5891.5.

(b) A county may include services to address first episode
psychosis.

(c) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 37. Section 5806 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
amended to read:

5806. The State Department of Heath Care Services shall
establish service standards that ensure that members of the target
population are identified, and services provided to assist them to
live independently, work, and reach their potential as productive
citizens. The department shall provide annual oversight of grants
issued pursuant to this part for compliance with these standards.
These standards shall include, but are not limited to, all of the
following:

(@ A service planning and delivery process that is target
population based and includes the following:

91



— 43— SB 326

(1) Determination of the numbers of clients to be served and
the programs and servicesthat will be provided to meet their needs.
The local director of mental health shall consult with the sheriff,
the police chief, the probation officer, the mental health board,
contract agencies, and family, client, ethnic, and citizen
constituency groups as determined by the director.

(2) Plans for services, including outreach to families whose
severely mentally ill adult is living with them, design of mental
health services, coordination and access to medications, psychiatric
and psychological services, substance abuse services, supportive
housing or other housing assistance, vocational rehabilitation, and
veterans' services. Plans also shall contain evaluation strategies
that shall consider cultura, linguistic, gender, age, and special
needs of minorities in the target populations. Provision shall be
made for aworkforce with the cultural background and linguistic
skills necessary to remove barriers to mental health services due
to limited-English-speaking ability and cultural differences.
Recipients of outreach services may include families, the public,
primary care physicians, and others who are likely to come into
contact with individuals who may be suffering from an untreated
severe mental illness who would be likely to become homeless if
the illness continued to be untreated for a substantial period of
time. Outreach to adults may include adults voluntarily or
involuntarily hospitalized as aresult of a severe mental illness.

(3) Provisionfor servicesto meet the needs of target population
clients who are physically disabled.

(4) Provision for services to meet the special needs of older
adults.

(5) Provision for family support and consultation services,
parenting support and consultation services, and peer support or
self-help group support, where appropriate for the individual.

(6) Provision for servicesto be client-directed and that employ
psychosocial rehabilitation and recovery principles.

(7) Provisionfor psychiatric and psychological servicesthat are
integrated with other services and for psychiatric and psychological
collaboration in overall service planning.

(8) Provision for services specificaly directed to seriously
mentally ill young adults 25 years of age or younger who are
homeless or at significant risk of becoming homeless. These
provisions may include continuation of services that till would

91



SB 326 — 44—

be received through other funds had eligibility not been terminated
due to age.

(9) Services reflecting special needs of women from diverse
cultural backgrounds, including supportive housing that accepts
children, personal services coordinator therapeutic treatment, and
substance treatment programs that address gender-specific trauma
and abuseinthelives of personswith mental illness, and vocational
rehabilitation programs that offer job training programs free of
gender bias and sensitive to the needs of women.

(10) Provision for housing for clients that is immediate,
transitional, permanent, or all of these.

(11) Provision for clients who have been suffering from an
untreated severe mental illness for less than one year, and who do
not require the full range of services but are at risk of becoming
homeless unless a comprehensive individual and family support
services plan is implemented. These clients shall be served in a
manner that is designed to meet their needs.

(12) Provision for services for veterans.

(b) A client shal have a clearly designated mental health
personal services coordinator who may be pat of a
multidisciplinary treatment team who is responsiblefor providing
or assuring needed services. Responsibilities include complete
assessment of the client’s needs, development of the client’s
personal services plan, linkage with all appropriate community
services, monitoring of the quality and followthrough of services,
and necessary advocacy to ensure that the client receives those
services that are agreed to in the personal services plan. A client
shall participatein the development of their personal servicesplan,
and responsi ble staff shall consult with the designated conservator,
if one has been appointed, and, with the consent of the client,
consult with the family and other significant persons as appropriate.

(¢) The individual personal services plan shall ensure that
members of the target population involved in the system of care
receive age-appropriate, gender-appropriate, and culturally
appropriate services or appropriate services based on any
characteristic listed or defined in Section 11135 of the Government
Code, to the extent feasible, that are designed to enable recipients
to:

(1) Live in the most independent, least restrictive housing
feasible in the local community, and for clients with children, to

91



— 45— SB 326

live in a supportive housing environment that strives for
reunification with their children or assists clients in maintaining
custody of their children asis appropriate.

(2) Engage in the highest level of work or productive activity
appropriate to their abilities and experience.

(3) Create and maintain a support system consisting of friends,
family, and participation in community activities.

(4) Access an appropriate level of academic education or
vocational training.

(5) Obtain an adequate income.

(6) Self-manage their illness and exert as much control as
possible over both the day-to-day and long-term decisions that
affect their lives.

(7) Accessnecessary physical health care and maintain the best
possible physical health.

(8) Reduce or eliminate serious antisocial or criminal behavior
and thereby reduce or eliminate their contact with the criminal
justice system.

(9) Reduce or eliminate the distress caused by the symptoms of
mental illness.

(10) Have freedom from dangerous addictive substances.

(d) The individual personal services plan shall describe the
service array that meets the requirements of subdivision (c) and,
to the extent applicable to the individual, the requirements of
subdivision (a).

(e) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 38. Section 5806 is added to the Welfare and I nstitutions
Code, to read:

5806. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services shall
establish service standards so that adults and older adults in the
target population are identified and receive needed and appropriate
services from qualified staff in the least restrictive environment
to assist them to live independently, work, and thrive in their
communities. This section shall not apply to services covered by
the Medi-Cal program and services covered by ahealth care service
plan or other insurance coverage. These standards shall include,
but are not limited to, all of the following:

91



SB 326 — 46—

(1) For services funded pursuant to subdivision (@) of Section
5892, the county may consult with the stakeholders listed in
paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 5963.03.

(2) (A) Outreach to adults with a serious mental illness or a
substance use disorder to provide coordination and access to
behaviora health services, medications, housing interventions
pursuant to Section 5830, supportive services, as defined in
subdivision (g) of Section 5887, and veterans' services.

(B) Service planning shall include evaluation strategies that
consider cultural, linguistic, gender, age, and specia needs of the
target populations.

(C) Provision shall be made for a workforce with the cultural
background and linguistic skills necessary to remove barriers to
mental health services and substance use disorder treatment
services due to limited-English-speaking ability and cultural
differences.

(D) Recipients of outreach services may include families, the
public, primary care physicians, hospitals, including emergency
departments, behavioral health urgent care, and others who are
likely to comeinto contact with individuals who may be suffering
from either an untreated serious mental illness or substance use
disorder, or both, who would likely become homeless or
incarcerated if theillness continued to be untreated for asubstantial
period of time.

(E) Outreach to adults may include adults voluntarily or
involuntarily hospitalized as aresult of a serious mental illness.

(3) Provision for services for populations with identified
disparitiesin behavioral health outcomes.

(4) Provision for full participation of the family in all aspects
of assessment, service planning, and treatment, including, but not
limited to, family support and consultation services, parenting
support and consultation services, and peer support or self-help
group support, where appropriate and when supported by the
individual .

(5) Treatment for clients who have been suffering from an
untreated serious mental illness or substance use disorder, or both,
for less than one year and who do not require the full range of
servicesbut are at risk of becoming homeless or incarcerated unless
comprehensiveindividual and family support servicesare provided
consistent with the planning process specified in subdivision (d).

91



— 47— SB 326

Thisincludes servicesthat are available and designed to meet their
needs, including housing for clientsthat isimmediate, transitional,
permanent, or all of these services.

(6) (A) Provision for services to be client-directed and to
employ psychosocial rehabilitation and recovery principles.

(B) Services may be integrated with other services and may
include psychiatric and psychological collaboration in overal
service planning.

(7) Provision for services specifically directed to young adults
25 years of age or younger with either a serious mental illness or
substance use disorder, or both, who are chronically homeless,
experiencing homelessness or are at risk of homelessness, as
defined in subdivision (j) of Section 5892, or experiencing first
episode psychosis. These provisions may include continuation of
services that still would be received through other funds had
eligibility not been terminated due to age.

(8) Provisionfor servicesfor frequent users of behavioral health
urgent care, crisis stabilization units, and hospitals or emergency
room services as the primary resource for mental heath and
substance use disorder treatment.

(9) Provision for services to meet the specia needs of clients
who are physically disabled, clients who are intellectually or
developmentally disabled, veterans, or persons of American Indian
or Alaska Native descent.

(10) Provision for servicesto meet the special needs of women
from diverse cultural backgrounds, including supportive housing
that accepts children and youth, personal services coordinators,
therapeutic treatment, and substance use disorder treatment
programs that address gender-specific trauma and abuse in the
lives of persons with either a serious mental illness or a substance
use disorder, or both, and vocational rehabilitation programs that
offer job training programs free of gender bias and sensitive to the
needs of women.

(b) Each adult or older adult shall have a clearly designated
personal services coordinator, or case manager who may be part
of a multidisciplinary treatment team who is responsible for
providing case management services. The personal services
coordinator may be a person or entity formally designated as
primarily responsible for coordinating the services accessed by

91



SB 326 — 48—

the client. The client shall be provided information on how to
contact their designated person or entity.

(c) A personal services coordinator shall perform al of the
following:

(1) Conduct a comprehensive assessment and periodic
reassessment of aclient’s needs. The assessment shall include all
of the following:

(A) Taking the client’s history.

(B) ldentifying the individual’s needs, including reviewing
available records and gathering information from other sources,
including behavioral health service providers, medical providers,
family members, social workers, and others needed to form a
compl ete assessment.

(C) Assessing the client’s living arrangements, employment
status, and training needs.

(2) Plan for services using information collected through the
assessment. The planning process shall do al of the following:

(A) Identify the client’'s goals and the behaviora health,
supportive, medical, educational, social, prevocational, vocational,
rehabilitative, housing, or other community services needed to
assist the client to reach their goals.

(B) Include active participation of the client and others in the
development of the client’s goals.

(C) Identify acourse of action to address the client’s needs.

(D) Address the transition of care when a client has achieved
their goals.

(3) Assist the client in accessing needed behavioral health,
supportive, medical, educational, social, prevocational, vocational
rehabilitative, housing, or other community services.

(4) Coordinate the services the county furnishes to the client
between settings of care, including appropriate discharge planning
for short-term hospital and institutional stays.

(5) Coordinate the services the county furnishes to the client
with the services the client receives from managed care
organizations, the Medicaid fee-for-service delivery system, other
human services agencies, and community and social support
providers.

(6) Ensure that, in the course of coordinating care, the client’s
privacy is protected in accordance with all federal and state privacy
laws.

91



— 49— SB 326

(d) The county shall ensure that each provider furnishing
services to clients maintains and shares, as appropriate, client
health records in accordance with professional standards.

(e) The service planning process shall ensure that adults and
older adults receive age-appropriate, gender-appropriate, and
culturally appropriate services, or appropriate services based on a
characteristic listed or defined in Section 11135 of the Government
Code, to the extent feasible, that are designed to enable recipients
to:

(1) (A) Liveinthe most independent, least restrictive housing
feasible in the local community and for clients with children and
youth, to live in a supportive housing environment that strives for
reunification with their children and youth or assists clients in
maintaining custody of their children and youth, as appropriate.

(B) Assist individuals to rgjoin or return to a home that had
previously been maintained with a family member or in a shared
housing environment that is supportive of their recovery and
stabilization.

(2) Engage in the highest level of work or productive activity
appropriate to their abilities and experience.

(3) Create and maintain a support system consisting of friends,
family, and participation in community activities.

(4) Access an appropriate level of academic education or
vocational training.

(5) Obtain an adequate income.

(6) Self-manage their illness and exert as much control as
possible over both the day-to-day and long-term decisions that
affect their lives.

(7) Accessnecessary physical health care and maintain the best
possible physical health.

(8) Reduce or eliminate serious antisocia or criminal behavior
and thereby reduce or eliminate their contact with the justice
system.

(9) Reduce or eliminate the distress caused by the symptoms of
either serious mental illness or substance use disorder, or both.

(10) Utilize trauma-informed approachesto reduce traumaand
avoid retraumati zation.

(f) (1) (A) Theclient’sclinical record shall describethe service
array that meets the requirements of subdivisions (c) and (€) and,

91



SB 326 —50—

to the extent applicable to the individual, the requirements of
subdivisions (a) and (b).

(B) The State Department of Health Care Servicesmay develop
and revise documentation standards for service planning to be
consistent with the standards devel oped pursuant to paragraph (3)
of subdivision (h) of Section 14184.402.

(2) Documentation of the service planning processintheclient’s
clinical record pursuant to paragraph (1) may fulfill the
documentation requirements for both the Medi-Cal program and
this section.

(g) For purposes of this section, “behavioral health services’
shall have the meaning as defined in subdivision (j) of Section
5892.

(h) For purposes of this section, “ substance use disorder” shall
have the meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

(i) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 39. Section 5813.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

5813.5. Subject to the availability of funds from the Mental
Health Services Fund, the state shall distribute funds for the
provision of services under Sections 5801, 5802, and 5806 to
county mental health programs. Services shall be availableto adults
and seniors with severe illnesses who meet the eligibility criteria
in subdivisions (b) and (c) of Section 5600.3. For purposes of this
act, “seniors’” means older adult persons identified in Part 3
(commencing with Section 5800) of this division.

(8 Funding shall be provided at sufficient levels to ensure that
counties can provide each adult and senior served pursuant to this
part with the medically necessary mental health services,
medications, and supportive services set forth in the applicable
treatment plan.

(b) The funding shall only cover the portions of those costs of
services that cannot be paid for with other funds, including other
mental health funds, public and private insurance, and other local,
state, and federal funds.

(c) Each county mental health program’s plan shall provide for
services in accordance with the system of care for adults and

91



—51— SB 326

seniors who meet the éligibility criteriain subdivisions (b) and (c)
of Section 5600.3.

(d) Planning for services shall be consistent with the philosophy,
principles, and practices of the Recovery Vision for mental health
CONSUMEYs:

(1) To promote concepts key to the recovery for individuals
who have mental illness: hope, persona empowerment, respect,
socia connections, self-responsibility, and self-determination.

(2) To promote consumer-operated servicesasaway to support
recovery.

(3) Toreflect the cultural, ethnic, and racial diversity of mental
health consumers.

(4) To plan for each consumer’sindividual needs.

(e) The plan for each county mental health program shall
indicate, subject to the availability of funds as determined by Part
4.5 (commencing with Section 5890) of this division, and other
funds available for mental health services, adults and seniorswith
a severe mental illness being served by this program are either
receiving services from this program or have a mental illness that
is not sufficiently severe to require the level of services required
of this program.

(f) Each county plan and annual update pursuant to Section
5847 shall consider ways to provide services similar to those
established pursuant to the Mentally 11l Offender Crime Reduction
Grant Program. Funds shall not be used to pay for persons
incarcerated in state prison. Funds may be used to provide services
to persons who are participating in a presentencing or
postsentencing diversion program or who are on parole, probation,
postrelease community supervision, or mandatory supervision.
When included in county plans pursuant to Section 5847, funds
may be used for the provision of mental health services under
Sections 5347 and 5348 in counties that elect to participate in the
Assisted Outpatient Trestment Demonstration Project Act of 2002
(Article 9 (commencing with Section 5345) of Chapter 2 of Part
1), and for the provision of services to clients pursuant to Part 8
(commencing with Section 5970).

(g) The department shall contract for services with county
mental health programs pursuant to Section 5897. After November
2, 2004, the term “grants,” as used in Sections 5814 and 5814.5,
shall refer to those contracts.

91



SB 326 —52—

(h) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 40. Section 5813.5 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5813.5. (a) Counties shall use funds distributed pursuant to
subdivision (c) of Section 5891 for the provision of behavioral
health services under Sections 5801, 5802, 5806, and 5891.5 to
county behavioral health programs. This part does not obligate the
counties to use funds from any other source for services pursuant
to this part.

(b) Servicesshall beavailableto eligible adultsand older adults,
as defined in Section 5892.

(c) Funding shall be provided at sufficient levels to ensure
counties can provide each adult and older adult served pursuant
to this part with the medically necessary mental health and
substance use disorder treatment services and medications
identified during the service planning process pursuant to Section
5806, which are in the applicable client clinical record.

(1) To maximize federal financial participation in furtherance
of subdivision (d) of Section 5890, a county shall submit claims
for reimbursement to the State Department of Health Care Services
in accordance with applicable Medi-Cal rules and procedures for
a behavioral heath service or supportive service eligible for
reimbursement pursuant to Title X1X or XXI of thefederal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396, et seq. and 1397aa, et seq.)
when such service is paid, in whole or in part, using funds from
the Behavioral Health Services Fund established pursuant to
Section 5890.

(2) (A) Tomaximizefunding from other sources, acounty shall
seek reimbursement for a behavioral health service, supportive
service, housing intervention, or other related activity provided
pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 5892 that is covered by or
can be paid from another avail able funding source, including other
mental health funds, substance use disorder funds, public and
private insurance, and other local, state, and federal funds. This
paragraph does not require counties to exhaust other funding
sources before using behavioral health services fund moneys to
pay for aservice or related activity.

91



—53— SB 326

(B) A county shall make a good faith effort to enter into
contracts, single case agreements, or other agreements to obtain
reimbursement with health care service plans and disability
insurance plans, pursuant to Section 1374.72 of the Health and
Safety Code and Section 10144.5 of the Insurance Code.

(C) A county shall submit requests for prior authorization for
services, request letters of agreement for payment as an
out-of-network provider, and pursue other means to obtain
reimbursement in accordance with state and federal laws.

(3) (A) A county may report to the Department of Managed
Health Care or the Department of Insurance, as appropriate,
complaints about a health plan’s or a health insurer’s failure to
make a good faith effort to contract or enter into a single case
agreement or other agreements to obtain reimbursement with the
county.

(B) A county may also report to the Department of Managed
Health Care or the Department of Insurance, respectively, afailure
by a health plan or insurer to timely reimburse the county for
services the plan or insurer must cover as required by state or
federal law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1374.72 and
1374.721 of the Health and Safety Code and Sections 10144.5 and
10144.52 of the Insurance Code.

(C) Upon receipt of acomplaint from a county, the Department
of Managed Health Care or the Department of Insurance, as
applicable, shall timely investigate the complaint.

(d) Each county behavioral health program’s integrated plan
pursuant to Section 5963.02 shall provide for servicesto eligible
adults and older adults, as defined in Section 5892, in accordance
with the system of care for adults and older adults.

(e) Planning for servicesshall be consistent with the philosophy,
principles, and practices of the Recovery Vision for behavioral
health consumers:

(1) To promote concepts key to the recovery for individuals
who have amental illness or substance use disorder, or both: hope,
personal  empowerment, respect, social  connections,
self-responsibility, and self-determination.

(2) To promote consumer-operated servicesasaway to support
recovery.

91



SB 326 —54—

(3) To reflect the cultural, ethnic, and racial diversity of
behavioral health consumers by addressing the inequities in
behavioral health service delivery.

(4) To planfor each consumer’sindividual needs.

(f) The integrated plan for each county pursuant to Section
5963.02 shall indicate, subject to the availability of funds as
determined by Part 4.5 (commencing with Section 5890) and other
fundsavailablefor behavioral health services as defined in Section
5892, that eligible adults and older adults, as defined in Section
5892, being served by this program are either receiving services
from this program or have a menta illness or substance use
disorder that is not sufficiently severe to require the level of
services required of this program.

(g9) (1) Eachcounty integrated plan and annual update pursuant
to Section 5963.02 shall consider ways to provide mental health
services similar to those established pursuant to the Mentally Il
Offender Crime Reduction Grant Program.

(2) Funds shall not be used to pay for persons incarcerated in
state prison.

(3) Funds may be used to provide services to persons who are
participating in a presentencing or postsentencing diversion
program or who are on parole, probation, postrelease community
supervision, or mandatory supervision or in acommunity reentry
program.

(4) Whenincluded in county integrated plans pursuant to Section
5963.02, funds may be used for the provision of mental health
services under Sections 5347 and 5348 in counties that elect to
participate in the Assisted Outpatient Treatment Demonstration
Project Act of 2002 (Article 9 (commencing with Section 5345)
of Chapter 2 of Part 1) and for the provision of servicesto clients
pursuant to Part 8 (commencing with Section 5970).

(h) (1) The department shall contract for services with county
behavioral health programs pursuant to Section 5897.

(2) After November 2, 2004, the term “grants” as used in
Sections 5814 and 5814.5, shall refer to those contracts.

(i) For purposes of this section, “behavioral health services’
shall have the meaning as defined in subdivision (j) of Section
5892.

()) For purposes of this section, “ substance use disorder” shall
have the meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

91



—55— SB 326

(k) For purposes of this section, “substance use disorder
treatment services’ shall have the meaning as defined in
subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

() For purposesof this section, “ supportive services’ shall have
the meaning as defined in subdivision (h) of Section 5887.

(m) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 41. Section 5813.6 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5813.6. (a) (1) By July 1 of each year, the Director of Health
Care Services shall submit to the Legidature final budget
enactment information regarding the expenditure of Proposition
63 funding for each state department, and for each major program
category specified in the measure, for local assistance.

(2) Thisshall include actual past-year expenditures, estimated
current-year expenditures, and projected budget-year expenditures
of local assistance funding.

(3) It shall aso include a complete listing of state support
expenditures for the current year and for the budget year by the
State Department of Health Care Services, including the number
of state positions and any contract funds.

(4) A description of these state expenditures shall accompany
the fiscal information the director is required to submit to the
Legislature pursuant to this section.

(b) (1) During each fisca year, the Director of Health Care
Services shall submit to the fiscal committees of the Legisature,
30 days in advance, written notice of the intention to expend
Proposition 63 local assistance funding in excess of the amounts
presented in its May Revision projection for that fiscal year.

(2) The written notice shall include information regarding the
amount of the additional spending and its purpose.

SEC. 42. Section 5830 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5830. County mental health programs shall develop plans for
innovative programs to be funded pursuant to paragraph (6) of
subdivision (@) of Section 5892.

(8 Theinnovative programs shall have the following purposes:

(1) To increase access to underserved groups.

91



SB 326 —56—

(2) To increase the quality of services, including better
outcomes.

(3) To promote interagency collaboration.

(4) Toincrease accessto services, including, but not limited to,
services provided through permanent supportive housing.

(b) All projects included in the innovative program portion of
the county plan shall meet the following requirements:

(1) Address one of the following purposes as its primary
purpose:

(A) Increase accessto underserved groups, which may include
providing access through the provision of permanent supportive
housing.

(B) Increase the quality of services, including measurable
outcomes.

(C) Promote interagency and community collaboration.

(D) Increase access to services, which may include providing
access through the provision of permanent supportive housing.

(2) Support innovative approaches by doing one of the
following:

(A) Introducing new mental health practices or approaches,
including, but not limited to, prevention and early intervention.

(B) Making a change to an existing mental health practice or
approach, including, but not limited to, adaptation for anew setting
or community.

(C) Introducing a new application to the mental health system
of apromising community-driven practice or an approach that has
been successful in nonmental health contexts or settings.

(D) Participating in a housing program designed to stabilize a
person’s living situation while also providing supportive services
on site.

(c) An innovative project may affect virtually any aspect of
mental health practices or assess anew or changed application of
apromising approach to solving persistent, seemingly intractable
mental health challenges, including, but not limited to, any of the
following:

(1) Administrative, governance, and organizational practices,
processes, or procedures.

(2) Advocacy.

(3) Education and training for service providers, including
nontraditional mental health practitioners.

91



—57— SB 326

(4) Outreach, capacity building, and community development.

(5) System development.

(6) Public education efforts.

(7) Research. If research is chosen for an innovative project,
the county mental health program shall consider, but isnot required
to implement, research of the brain and its physica and
biochemical processes that may have broad applications, but that
have specific potential for understanding, treating, and managing
mental illness, including, but not limited to, research through the
Cal-BRAIN program pursuant to Section 92986 of the Education
Code or other collaborative, public-private initiatives designed to
map the dynamics of neuron activity.

(8) Services and interventions, including prevention, early
intervention, and treatment.

(9) Permanent supportive housing development.

(d) If an innovative project has proven to be successful and a
county choosesto continueit, the project workplan shall transition
to another category of funding as appropriate.

(e) County mental health programs shall expend fundsfor their
innovation programs upon approval by the Mental Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission.

(f) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 43. Section 5830 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5830. (@) (1) Each county shall establish and administer a
program for housing interventions to serve persons who are
chronically homeless or experiencing homelessness or are at risk
of homelessness, as defined in Section 5892, and meet one of the
following conditions:

(A) Eligible children and youth, as defined in Section 5892.

(B) Eligible adultsand older adults, as defined in Section 5892.

(2) Housing interventions shall not be limited to individuals
enrolled in full-service partnerships pursuant to subdivision (d) of
Section 5887.

(3) Housing interventions shall not be limited to individuals
enrolled in Medi-Cal.

91



SB 326 —58—

(4) Housing interventions shall not discriminate against or deny
accessto housing for individualsthat are utilizing medications for
addiction treatment or other authorized medications.

(5) Housing interventions shall comply with the core
components of Housing First, as defined in subdivision (b) of
Section 8255, and may include recovery housing, as defined by
the federal Department of Housing and Urban Devel opment.

(b) (1) County programsfor housing interventions may include
any of the following:

(A) Rental subsidies.

(B) Operating subsidies.

(C) Shared housing.

(D) Family housing for eligible children and youth who meet
the criteria specified in subdivision (a).

(E) The nonfederal sharefor transitional rent.

(F) Other housing supports, as defined by the State Department
of Health Care Services, including, but not limited to, the
community supports policy guide.

(G) Capital development projects, including affordable housing,
as described in paragraph (2).

(H) Project-based housing assistance, including master leasing
of project-based housing.

(1) Funds pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section
5892 shall not be used for mental health and substance use disorder
treatment services.

(2) (A) County programsfor housing interventions may include
capital devel opment projects, under the provisions of Section 5831,
to either construct or rehabilitate housing units, or both, for the
persons meeting the criteria specified in subdivision (@) consistent
with the State Department of Health Care Services guidelines for
this purpose.

(B) Theunitsfunded pursuant to thisprovision shall be available
in a reasonable timeframe, as specified by the State Department
of Health Care Services and consistent with the county integrated
plan pursuant to Section 5963.02, and shall meet a cost-per-unit
threshold as specified by the State Department of Heath Care
Services.

(C) For purposes of this section and Section 5831, “affordable
housing” includes supportive housing. “Supportive housing” has

91



—59— SB 326

the same meaning as defined in Section 50675.14 of the Health
and Safety Code.

(3) County programs for housing interventions shall comply
with al requirements specified by the State Department of Health
Care Services, pursuant to Section 5963.05, for the purposes of
administering paragraphs (1) and (2).

(©) (1) Totheextentthat necessary federal approvalshave been
obtained for the Medi-Cal program to cover housing interventions
and federal financial participation is available and not otherwise
jeopardized, the housing interventions funds distributed pursuant
to paragraph (1) of subdivision (@) of Section 5892 may be used
for the nonfederal share of Medi-Cal covered housing related
services. The housing intervention funds distributed pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 5892 shall only cover
the costs that cannot be paid for with Medi-Cal program funds,
including costs for Medi-Ca members enrolled in a Medi-Cal
managed care plan, as defined in subdivision (j) of Section
14184.101, that does not cover those services.

(2) Funds shall not be used for housing interventions covered
by a Medi-Cal managed care plan, as defined in subdivision (j) of
Section 14184.101.

(d) Notwithstanding any other law, acapital development project
funded pursuant to this section shall not constitute a “low rent
housing project,” as provided for in subdivision (e).

(e) “Low rent housing project,” asdefined in Section 1 of Article
XXXIV of the California Constitution, does not apply to aproject
that meets any of the following criteria

(1) The project meets both of the following criteria:

(A) Is privately owned housing, receiving no ad valorem
property tax exemption other than exemptions granted pursuant
to subdivision (f) or (g) of Section 214 of the Revenue and Taxation
Code, not fully reimbursed to all taxing entities.

(B) Not more than 49 percent of the dwellings, apartments, or
other living accommaodations of the devel opment may be occupied
by persons of low income.

(2) The project is privately owned housing, is not exempt from
ad valorem taxation by reason of public ownership, and is not
financed with direct long-term financing from a public body.

(3) The project is intended for owner-occupancy, which may
include alimited-equity housing cooperative, as defined in Section

91



SB 326 — 60—

50076.5 of the Health and Safety Code, cooperative, or
condominium ownership rather than for rental-occupancy.

(4) Theproject consists of newly constructed, privately owned,
one- to four-family dwellings not located on adjoining sites.

(5) Theproject consists of existing dwelling unitsleased by the
state public body from the private owner of these dwelling units.

(6) The project consists of the rehabilitation, reconstruction,
improvement, or addition to, or replacement of, dwelling units of
a previously existing low-rent housing project or a project
previously or currently occupied by lower income households, as
defined in Section 50079.5 of the Health and Safety Code.

(7) The project consists of the acquisition, rehabilitation,
reconstruction, or improvement, or any combination thereof, of a
project that, prior to the date of the transaction to acquire,
rehabilitate, reconstruct, or improve, or any combination thereof,
was subject to acontract for federal or state public body assistance
for the purpose of providing affordable housing for low-income
households and maintains, or entersinto, a contract for federal or
state public body assistance for the purpose of providing affordable
housing for low-income households.

(8) The project consists of the acquisition, rehabilitation,
reconstruction, alterations work, or new construction, or a
combination thereof, of lodging facilities or dwelling units using
moneys received from the Behavioral Health Services Fund
established pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 5890.

(f) This section shall be implemented only to the extent that
funds are provided from the Behavioral Health Services Fund for
purposes of this section. This section does not obligate the counties
to use funds from any other source for services pursuant to this
section.

(g) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 44. Section 5831 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5831. (@) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, a capitd
development project funded, in whole or in part, pursuant to
Section 5892 shall be a use by right that shall be subject to the
streamlined, ministerial review process, pursuant to subdivision
(b), if it meets all of the following criteria:

91



— 61— SB 326

(A) (i) Affordable housing shall be located in a zone where
multifamily residential, office, retail, or parking are a principally
permitted use. Nothing here shall be construed to limit other
housing interventions pursuant to Section 5830 that conform to
existing zoning.

(ii) The intent of capital development funding is to prioritize
the production of housing that provides|ong-term housing stability.

(B) Atleast 75 percent of the perimeter of the site adjoinsparcels
that are developed with urban uses.

(C) It satisfiesthe requirements specified in subparagraphs (B)
to (K), inclusive, of paragraph (6) of subdivision (a) of Section
65913.4 of the Government Code.

(D) Itisnot on asite or adjoined to any site where more than
one-third of the square footage on the siteis dedicated to industrial
use.

(E) The development will meet the following objective zoning
standards, objective subdivision standards, and objective design
review standards:

(i) For affordable housing, the applicable objective standards
shall be those for the zone that alows residential use at a greater
density between the following:

() The existing zoning designation for the parcel if existing
zoning alows for residential use.

(I1) The zoning designation for the closest parcel that allows
residential use at a density deemed appropriate to accommodate
housing for lower income households in that jurisdiction as
specified in paragraph (3) of subdivision (c) of Section 65583.2
of the Government Code.

(if) The applicable objective standards shall be those in effect
at the time that the development application is submitted to the
local government pursuant to this article.

(iii) A development proposed pursuant to this section shall be
eligible for the same density bonus, incentives or concessions,
waivers or reductions of devel opment standards, and parking ratios
applicable to a project that meets the criteria specified in
subparagraph (G) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section
65915 of the Government Code.

(F) No housing units were acquired by eminent domain.

(G) The housing units will be in decent, safe, and sanitary
condition at the time of their occupancy.

91



SB 326 —62—

(H) The project meetsthelabor standards contained in Sections
65912.130 and 65912.131 of the Government Code.

(1) The project provides housing for individuals who meet the
criteria specified in subdivision (a) of Section 5830 and their
families.

(J) Affordable housing shall require long-term covenants and
restrictions require the housing units to be restricted to persons
who meet the criteriaspecified in subdivision (a) for no fewer than
30 years.

(2) (A) For purposesof thissubdivision, parcelsonly separated
by a street or highway shall be considered to be adjoined.

(B) For purposes of this subdivision, “dedicated to industrial
use” means any of the following:

(i) The sguare footage is currently being used as an industrial
use.

(i) The most recently permitted use of the square footageisan
industrial use.

(iii) The site was designated for industrial use in the latest
version of a local government’s general plan adopted before
January 1, 2022.

(b) The project shall be subject to the following streamlined,
ministerial review process.

(1) (A) If thelocal government determines that a devel opment
submitted pursuant to this article is consistent with the objective
planning standards specified in this article, it shall approve the
development.

(B) If a local government determines that a development
submitted pursuant to this article is in conflict with any of the
objective planning standards specified in thisarticle, it shall provide
the development proponent written documentation of which
standard or standards the development conflicts with, and an
explanation for the reason or reasons the development conflicts
with that standard or standards, within the following timeframes:

(i) Within 60 days of submission of the development proposal
to the local government if the development contains 150 or fewer
housing units.

(i1) Within 90 days of submission of the devel opment proposal
to the local government if the development contains more than
150 housing units.

91



— 63— SB 326

(C) If the local government fails to provide the required
documentation pursuant to subparagraph (B), the development
shall be deemed to satisfy the required objective planning
standards.

(D) (i) For purposesof thissection, adevelopment isconsistent
with the objective planning standards if there is substantial
evidence that would allow a reasonable person to conclude that
the development is consi stent with the objective planning standards.

(if) For purposes of this section, adevelopment isnot in conflict
with the objective planning standards solely on the basis that
application materials are not included, if the application contains
substantial evidence that would alow a reasonable person to
conclude that the development is consistent with the objective
planning standards.

(E) Thedetermination of whether aproposed project submitted
pursuant to this section is or is not in conflict with the objective
planning standards is not a“project” as defined in Section 21065
of the Public Resources Code.

(2) Designreview of the devel opment may be conducted by the
local government’s planning commission or any equivalent board
or commission responsible for design review. That design review
shall be objective and be strictly focused on ng compliance
with criteriarequired for streamlined, ministerial review of projects,
as well as any reasonable objective design standards published
and adopted by ordinance or resolution by a local jurisdiction
before submittal of the development to the local government, and
shall be broadly applicable to developmentswithin the jurisdiction.
That design review shall be completed as follows and shall not in
any way inhibit, chill, or preclude the ministerial approval provided
by this section or its effect, as applicable:

(A) Within 90 days of submittal of the development proposal
to thelocal government pursuant to this section if the development
contains 150 or fewer housing units.

(B) Within 180 days of submittal of the development proposal
to thelocal government pursuant to this section if the development
contains more than 150 housing units.

(c) Division 13 (commencing with Section 21000) of the Public
Resources Code shall not apply to actionstaken by the Department
of Housing and Community Development, the State Department
of Health Care Services, or alocal agency not acting as the lead

91



SB 326 — 64—

agency to provide financial assistance or insurance for the
development and construction of projects built pursuant to this
section.

(d) Theapplicant shall fileanotice of exemption with the Office
of Planning and Research and the county clerk of the county in
which the project islocated in the manner specified in subdivisions
(b) and (c) of Section 21152 of the Public Resources Code.

(e) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall
apply:

(1) “Objective zoning standards,” *“objective subdivision
standards,” and “ objective design review standards’ mean standards
that involve no personal or subjective judgment by apublic officia
and are uniformly verifiable by reference to an external and
uniform benchmark or criterion available and knowable by both
the development applicant or proponent and the public official
before submittal. These standards may be embodied in alternative
objective land use specifications adopted by a city or county, and
may include, but are not limited to, housing overlay zones, specific
plans, inclusionary zoning ordinances, and density bonus
ordinances.

(2) “Use by right” means a development project that satisfies
both of the following conditions:

(A) Thedevelopment project does not require aconditional use
permit, planned unit development permit, or other discretionary
local government review.

(B) The development project is not a*“ project” for purposes of
Division 13 (commencing with Section 21000) of the Public
Resources Code.

(f) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 45. Section 5835 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
amended to read:

5835. (@) This part shall be known, and may be cited, as the
Early PsychosisIntervention Plus (EPI Plus) Program to encompass
early psychosis and mood disorder detection and intervention.

(b) Asused in this part, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Commission” meansthe Mental Health Services Oversight
and Accountability Commission established pursuant to Section
5845.

91



— 65— SB 326

(2) “Early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention” refers to a program that utilizes evidence-based
approaches and services to identify and support clinical and
functional recovery of individuals by reducing the severity of first,
or early, episode psychotic symptoms, other early markers of
serious mental illness, such asmood disorders, keeping individuals
in school or at work, and putting them on a path to better health
and wellness. This may include, but is not limited to, al of the
following:

(A) Focused outreach to at-risk and in-need populations as
applicable.

(B) Recovery-oriented psychotherapy, including cognitive
behavioral therapy focusing on cooccurring disorders.

(C) Family psychoeducation and support.

(D) Supported education and employment.

(E) Pharmacotherapy and primary care coordination.

(F) Useof innovative technology for mental health information
feedback accessthat can provide a valued and unique opportunity
to assist individual s with mental health needs and to optimize care.

(G) Case management.

(3) “County” includesacity receiving funds pursuant to Section
5701.5.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 46. Section 5835 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5835. (a) This part shall be known, and may be cited, as the
Early Psychosis Intervention (EPI) Plus Program to encompass
early psychosis and mood disorder detection and intervention.

(b) Asused in this part, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Commission” means the Behavioral Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission established pursuant
to Section 5845.

(2) “Early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention” refers to a program that utilizes evidence-based
approaches and services to identify and support clinical and
functional recovery of individual sby reducing the severity of first,
or early, episode psychotic symptoms, other early markers of

91



SB 326 — 66—

serious mental illness, such asmood disorders, keeping individuals
in school or at work, and putting them on a path to better health
and wellness. This may include, but is not limited to, al of the
following:

(A) Focused outreach to at-risk and in-need populations as
applicable.

(B) Recovery-oriented psychotherapy, including cognitive
behavioral therapy focusing on cooccurring disorders.

(C) Family psychoeducation and support.

(D) Supported education and employment.

(E) Pharmacotherapy and primary care coordination.

(F) Useof innovative technology for mental health information
feedback access that can provide avalued and unique opportunity
to assist individual swith mental health needs and to optimize care.

(G) Case management.

(3) “County” includesacity receiving funds pursuant to Section
5701.5.

(c) This section shal become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 47. Section 5835.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5835.2. (@) Thereishereby established an advisory committee
to the commission. The Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission shall accept nominations and
applications to the committee, and the chair of the Mental Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission shall appoint
membersto the committee, unless otherwise specified. Membership
on the committee shall be as follows:

(1) The chair of the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, or their designee, who shall serve as
the chair of the committee.

(2) The president of the County Behavioral Health Directors
Association of California, or their designee.

(3) Thedirector of a county behavioral health department that
administers an early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention-type program in their county.

(4) A representative from anonprofit community mental health
organization that focuses on service delivery to transition-aged
youth and young adults.

91



— 67— SB 326

(5) A psychiatrist or psychologist.

(6) A representative from the Behavioral Health Center of
Excellence at the University of Cadlifornia, Davis, or a
representative from asimilar entity with expertise from within the
University of California system.

(7) A representative from a health plan participating in the
Medi-Ca managed care program and the employer-based health
care market.

(8) A representative from the medical technologies industry
who isknowledgeablein advancesin technol ogy related to the use
of innovative social mediaand mental health information feedback
access.

(9) A representative knowledgeablein evidence-based practices
as they pertain to the operations of an early psychosis and mood
disorder detection and intervention-type program, including
knowledge of other states' experiences.

(10) A representative who is a parent or guardian caring for a
young child with amental illness.

(11) An at-large representative identified by the chair.

(12) A representative who is a person with lived experience of
amental illness.

(13) A primary careprovider from alicensed primary careclinic
that providesintegrated primary and behavioral health care.

(b) The advisory committee shall be convened by the chair and
shall, at aminimum, do all of the following:

(1) Provideadvice and guidance broadly on approachesto early
psychosis and mood disorder detection and intervention programs
from an evidence-based perspective.

(2) Review and make recommendations on the commission’s
guidelines or any regulationsin the development, design, selection
of awards pursuant to this part, and the implementation or oversight
of the early psychosis and mood disorder detection and intervention
competitive selection process established pursuant to this part.

(3) Assist and advise the commission in the overall evaluation
of the early psychosisand mood disorder detection and intervention
competitive selection process.

(4) Provide advice and guidance as requested and directed by
the chair.

(5) Recommend acore set of standardized clinical and outcome
measures that the funded programs would be required to collect,

91



SB 326 — 68—

subject to future revision. A free data sharing portal shall be
availableto all participating programs.

(6) Inform thefunded programs about the potential to participate
in clinical research studies.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 48. Section 5835.2 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5835.2. (@) Thereishereby established an advisory committee
to the commission. The Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission shall accept nominations and
applications to the committee, and the chair of the Behavioral
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission shall
appoint members to the committee, unless otherwise specified.
Membership on the committee shall be asfollows:

(1) The chair of the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, or their designee, who shall serve as
the chair of the committee.

(2) The president of the County Behavioral Health Directors
Association of California, or their designee.

(3) Thedirector of a county behavioral health department that
administers an early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention-type program in their county.

(4) A representative from anonprofit community mental health
organization that focuses on service delivery to transition-aged
youth and young adults.

(5) A psychiatrist or psychologist.

(6) A representative from the Behavioral Health Center of
Excellence at the University of California, Davis, or a
representative from asimilar entity with expertise from within the
University of California system.

(7) A representative from a hedlth plan participating in the
Medi-Ca managed care program and the employer-based health
care market.

(8) A representative from the medical technologies industry
who isknowledgeablein advancesin technol ogy related to the use
of innovative social mediaand mental health information feedback
access.

91



— 69— SB 326

(9) A representative knowledgeablein evidence-based practices
as they pertain to the operations of an early psychosis and mood
disorder detection and intervention-type program, including
knowledge of other states' experiences.

(10) A representative who is a parent or guardian caring for a
young child with amental illness.

(11) An at-large representative identified by the chair.

(12) A representative who is a person with lived experience of
amental illness.

(13) A primary careprovider fromalicensed primary careclinic
that providesintegrated primary and behavioral health care.

(14) A school socia worker, school psychologist, or school
counselor holding a pupil personnel services credential.

(15) A Cdiforniapublic school administrator.

(16) A representative knowledgeable in community-defined
evidence practices and reducing behavioral health disparities.

(b) The advisory committee shall be convened by the chair and
shall, at aminimum, do all of the following:

(1) Provideadvice and guidance broadly on approachesto early
psychosis and mood disorder detection and intervention programs
from an evidence-based perspective.

(2) Review and make recommendations on the commission’s
guidelines or regul ationsin the development, design, and selection
of awards pursuant to this part, and the implementation or oversight
of the early psychosisand mood disorder detection and intervention
competitive selection process established pursuant to this part.

(3) Assist and advise the commission in the overall evaluation
of the early psychosisand mood disorder detection and intervention
competitive selection process.

(4) Provide advice and guidance as requested and directed by
the chair.

(5) Recommend acore set of standardized clinical and outcome
measures that the funded programs would be required to collect,
subject to future revision. A free data sharing portal shall be
available to all participating programs.

(6) Inform thefunded programs about the potential to participate
in clinical research studies.

(c) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

91



SB 326 — 70—

SEC. 49. Section 5840 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5840. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services, in
coordination with counties, shall establish a program designed to
prevent mental illnessesfrom becoming severe and disabling. The
program shall emphasize improving timely access to services for
underserved popul ations.

(b) The program shall include the following components:

(1) Outreach to families, employers, primary care health care
providers, and others to recognize the early signs of potentially
severe and disabling mental illnesses.

(2) Access and linkage to medically necessary care provided
by county mental health programsfor children with serious mental
illness, as defined in Section 5600.3, and for adults and seniors
with severe mental illness, as defined in Section 5600.3, as early
in the onset of these conditions as practicable.

(3) Reduction in stigma associated with either being diagnosed
with amental iliness or seeking mental health services.

(4) Reduction in discrimination against people with mental
illness.

(c) The program shall include mental health services similar to
those provided under other programsthat are effective in preventing
mental illnesses from becoming severe, and shall also include
components similar to programs that have been successful in
reducing the duration of untreated severe mental illnesses and
assisting people in quickly regaining productive lives.

(d) The program shall emphasize strategies to reduce the
following negative outcomes that may result from untreated mental
illness:

(1) Suicide.

(2) Incarcerations.

(3) School failure or dropouit.

(4) Unemployment.

(5) Prolonged suffering.

(6) Homelessness.

(7) Removal of children from their homes.

(e) Prevention and early intervention funds may be used to
broaden the provision of community-based mental health services
by adding prevention and early intervention services or activities
to these services, including prevention and early intervention

91



— 71— SB 326

strategies that address mental health needs, substance misuse or
substance use disorders, or needs relating to cooccurring mental
health and substance use services.

(f) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 50. Section 5840 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5840. (@) (1) Each county shall establish and administer an
early intervention program that is designed to prevent mental
illnesses and substance use disorders from becoming severe and
disabling and to reduce disparities in behavioral health.

(2) Early intervention programs shall be funded pursuant to
clause (i) of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (a)
of Section 5892.

(b) An early intervention program shall include the following
components:

(1) Outreach to families, employers, primary care health care
providers, behaviora health urgent care, hospitals, inclusive of
emergency departments, education, including early care and
learning, T-12, and higher education, and others to recognize the
early signs of potentially severe and disabling mental health
illnesses and substance use disorders.

(2) (A) Accessandlinkageto medically necessary careprovided
by county behavioral health programs asearly in the onset of these
conditions as practicable.

(B) Access and linkage to care includes the scaling of, and
referral to, the Early Psychosis Intervention (EPI) Plus Program,
pursuant to Part 3.4 (commencing with Section 5835), Coordinated
Specialty Care, or other similar evidence-based practices and
community-defined evidence practices for early psychosis and
mood disorder detection and intervention programs.

(3) (A) Menta health and substance use disorder treatment
services, evidence-based practices and community-defined
evidence practices for similar to those provided under other
programs that are effective in preventing mental health illnesses
and substance use disorders from becoming severe, and
components similar to programs that have been successful in
reducing the duration of untreated serious mental health illnesses

91



SB 326 — 72—

and substance use disorders and assisting people in quickly
regaining productive lives.

(B) Mental health treatment services may include services to
address first episode psychosis.

(C) Mental hedth and substance use disorder services shall
include services that are demonstrated to be effective at meeting
the cultural and linguistic needs of diverse communities.

(D) Mental health and substance use disorder services may be
provided to the following eligible children and youth:

(E) Mental health and substance use services may include
services that prevent, respond, or treat a behavioral health crisis.

(i) Individua children and youth at high risk for a behavioral
health disorder dueto experiencing trauma, as evidenced by scoring
in the high-risk range under a trauma screening tool such as an
adverse childhood experiences (ACES) screening tool, involvement
in the child welfare system or juvenile justice system, or
experiencing homel essness.

(ii) Individual children and youth in populationswith identified
disparitiesin behavioral health outcomes.

(4) Additional components devel oped by the State Department
of Health Care Services.

() (1) The State Department of Health Care Services, in
consultation with the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, counties, and stakeholders, shall
establish a biennial list of evidence-based practices and
community-defined evidence practices that may include practices
identified pursuant to the Children and Youth Behavioral Health
Initiative Act set forth in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section
5961) of Part 7.

(2) Evidence-based practicesand community-defined evidence
practices may focus on addressing the needs of those who
decompensate into severe behavioral health conditions.

(3) Local programs utilizing evidence-based practices and
community-defined evidence practices may focus on addressing
the needs of underserved communities, such as BIPOC and
LGBTQ+.

(4) Counties shall utilize the list to determine which
evidence-based practices and community-defined evidence
practices to implement locally.

91



— 73— SB 326

(5) The State Department of Health Care Services may require
a county to implement specific evidence-based and
community-defined evidence practices.

(d) Theearly intervention program shall emphasize the reduction
of the likelihood of:

(1) Suicide and self-harm.

(2) Incarcerations.

(3) School, including early childhood O to 5 years of age,
inclusive, TK-12, and higher education, suspension, expulsion,
referral to an aternative or community school, or failure to
complete.

(4) Unemployment.

(5) Prolonged suffering.

(6) Homelessness.

(7) Removal of children from their homes.

(8) Overdose.

(9) Mental illnessin children and youth from social, emotional,
developmental, and behavioral needs in early childhood.

(e) For purposes of this section, “substance use disorder” shall
have the meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

(f) For purposes of this section, “community-defined evidence
practices’ is defined as an alternative or complement to
evidence-based practices, that offers culturally anchored
interventions that reflect the values, practices, histories, and
lived-experiences of the communities they serve. These practices
come from the community and the organizations that serve them
and arefound to yield positive results as determined by community
consensus over time.

(g) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 51. Section 5840.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

5840.5. It is the intent of the Legidature that this chapter
achieve dl of the following:

(d) Expandthe provisionof high quality Mental Health Services
Act (MHSA) Prevention and Early Intervention (PEI) programs
at the county level in California.

(b) Increasethe number of PEI programsand systems, including
those utilizing community-defined practices, that focus on reducing

91



SB 326 — 74—

disparities for unserved, underserved, and inappropriately served
racial, ethnic, and cultural communities.

(¢) Reduce unnecessary hospitalizations, homelessness, suicides,
and inpatient days by appropriately utilizing community-based
services and improving timely access to prevention and early
intervention services.

(d) Increase participation in community activities, school
attendance, social interactions, physical and primary health care
services, persona bonding relationships, and rehabilitation,
including employment and daily living function development for
clients.

(e) Increase collaboration and coordination among primary care,
mental health, and aging service providers, and reduce hesitance
to seek treatment and services due to mental health stigma.

(f) Create amore focused approach for PEI requirements.

(g) Increase programmatic and fiscal oversight of county
MHSA-funded PEI programs.

(h) Encourage countiesto coordinate and blend funding streams
and initiatives to ensure services are integrated across systems.

(i) Encourage counties to leverage innovative technology
platforms.

() Reflect the stated goals as outlined in the PEI component of
the MHSA, as stated in Section 5840.

(k) This section shal be repeded on January 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 52. Section 5840.6 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5840.6. For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions
shall apply:

(@ “Commission” meansthe Mental Health Services Oversight
and Accountability Commission established pursuant to Section
5845.

(b) “County” also includes a city receiving funds pursuant to
Section 5701.5.

(c) “Prevention and early intervention funds’ meansfundsfrom
the Mental Health Services Fund allocated for prevention and early
intervention programs pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (a)
of Section 5892.

91



— 75— SB 326

(d) “Childhood trauma prevention and early intervention” refers
to a program that targets children exposed to, or who are at risk
of exposure to, adverse and traumatic childhood events and
prolonged toxic stress in order to deal with the early origins of
mental health needs and prevent long-term mental health concerns.
This may include, but is not limited to, all of the following:

(1) Focused outreach and early intervention to at-risk and
in-need popul ations.

(2) Implementation of appropriate trauma and developmental
screening and assessment toolswith linkagesto early intervention
servicesto children that qualify for these services.

(3) Collaborative, strengths-based approaches that appreciate
the resilience of trauma survivors and support their parents and
caregivers when appropriate.

(4) Support from peer support specialistsand community health
workers trained to provide mental health services.

(5) Multigenerationa family engagement, education, and support
for navigation and service referrals across systems that aid the
healthy development of children and families.

(6) Linkagesto primary care health settings, including, but not
limited to, federally qualified health centers, rural health centers,
community-based providers, school-based health centers, and
school-based programs.

(7) Leveraging the hedling value of traditional cultural
connections, including policies, protocols, and processes that are
responsive to the racial, ethnic, and cultural needs of individuals
served and recognition of historical trauma.

(8) Coordinated and blended funding streams to ensure
individuals and families experiencing toxic stress have
comprehensive and integrated supports across systems.

(e) “Early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention” has the same meaning as set forth in paragraph (2)
of subdivision (b) of Section 5835 and may include programming
across the age span.

(f) “Youth outreach and engagement” means strategies that
target secondary school and transition age youth, with a priority
on partnerships with college mental health programs that educate
and engage students and provide either on-campus, off-campus,
or linkages to mental health services not provided through the
campus to students who are attending colleges and universities,

91



SB 326 — 76—

including, but not limited to, public community colleges. Outreach
and engagement may include, but is not limited to, all of the
following:

(1) Meeting the mental health needs of students that cannot be
met through existing education funds.

(2) Establishing direct linkagesfor studentsto community-based
mental health services.

(3) Addressing direct services, including, but not limited to,
increasing college mental health staff-to-student ratios and
decreasing wait times.

(4) Participating in evidence-based and community-defined best
practice programs for mental health services.

(5) Serving underserved and vulnerable populations, including,
but not limited to, lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer
persons, victims of domestic violence and sexua abuse, and
veterans.

(6) Establishing direct linkagesfor studentsto community-based
mental health services for which reimbursement is available
through the students’ health coverage.

(7) Reducing racial disparities in access to mental health
services.

(8) Funding mental health stigma reduction training and
activities.

(9) Providing college employees and students with education
and training in early identification, intervention, and referral of
students with mental health needs.

(10) Interventions for youth with signs of behavioral or
emotional problems who are at risk of, or have had any, contact
with the juvenile justice system.

(11) Integrated youth mental health programming.

(12) Suicide prevention programming.

(g) “Culturdly competent and linguistically appropriate
prevention and intervention” refersto aprogram that createscritical
linkages with community-based organizations, including, but not
limited to, clinics licensed or operated under subdivision (a) of
Section 1204 of the Health and Safety Code, or clinics exempt
from clinic licensure pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 1206
of the Health and Safety Code.

(1) “Culturally competent and linguistically appropriate” means
the ability to reach underserved cultural populations and address

91



— 77— SB 326

specific barriersrelated to racial, ethnic, cultural, language, gende,
age, economic, or other disparitiesin mental health services access,
quality, and outcomes.

(2) “Underserved cultural populations’ means those who are
unlikely to seek help from any traditional mental health service
because of stigma, lack of knowledge, or other barriers, including
members of ethnically and racialy diverse communities, members
of the gay, leshian, bisexual, and transgender communities, and
veterans, across their lifespans.

(h) “Strategiestargeting the mental health needs of older adults’
means, but is not limited to, all of the following:

(1) Outreach and engagement strategies that target caregivers,
victims of elder abuse, and individuals who live alone.

(2) Suicide prevention programming.

(3) Outreach to older adults who are isolated.

(4) Early identification programming of mental health symptoms
and disorders, including, but not limited to, anxiety, depression,
and psychosis.

(i) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 53. Section 5840.6 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5840.6. For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions
shall apply:

(@ “County” includesacity receiving funds pursuant to Section
5701.5.

(b) “Early intervention funds’ meansfunds from the Behavioral
Health Services Fund allocated for early intervention servicesand
programs pursuant to clause (ii) of subparagraph (A) of paragraph
(3) of subdivision (&) of Section 5892.

(c) “Childhood trauma early intervention” refers to a program
that targets eligible children and youth exposed to, or who are at
risk of exposure to, adverse and traumatic childhood events and
prolonged toxic stress in order to deal with the early origins of
mental health and substance use disorder needs and prevent
long-term mental health and substance use disorder concerns. This
may include, but is not limited to, all of the following:

91



SB 326 — 78—

(1) Focused outreach and early intervention to at-risk and
in-need populations, including youth experiencing homel essness,
justice-involved youth, LGBTQ+ youth, and child welfare-involved
youth.

(2) Implementation of appropriate trauma and developmental
screening and assessment toolswith linkagesto early intervention
services to eligible children and youth who qualify for these
services.

(3) Collaborative, strengths-based approaches that appreciate
the resilience of trauma survivors and support their parents and
caregivers when appropriate.

(4) Support from peer support specialists, wellness coaches,
and community health workers trained to provide mental health
and substance use disorder treatment services with an emphasis
on culturally and linguistically tailored approaches.

(5) Multigenerationa family engagement, education, and support
for navigation and service referrals across systems that aid the
healthy development of children and youth and their families.

(6) Collaboration with county child welfare agencies and other
system partners, including Medi-Cal managed care plans, as
defined in subdivision (j) of Section 14184.101, and homeless
youth service providers, to address the physical and behavioral
health-related needs and social needs of child-welfare-involved
youth.

(7) Linkagesto primary care health settings, including, but not
limited to, federally qualified health centers, rural health centers,
community-based providers, school-based heath centers,
school-linked providers, and school-based programs and
community-based organizations speciaizing in serving underserved
communities.

(8) Leveraging the healing value of traditiona cultural
connections and faith-based organizations, including policies,
protocols, and processes that are responsive to the racial, ethnic,
and cultural needs of individuals served and recognition of
historical trauma.

(9) Blended funding streamsto provideindividualsand families
experiencing toxic stress comprehensive and integrated supports
across systems.

(10) Partnerships with local educational agencies and
school-based behavioral health professionalstoidentify and address

91



— 79— SB 326

children exposed to, or who are at risk of exposure to, adverse and
traumatic childhood events and prolonged toxic stress.

(d) “Early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention” has the same meaning as set forth in paragraph (2)
of subdivision (b) of Section 5835 and may include programming
across the age span.

(e) “Youth outreach and engagement” means strategies that
target out-of-school youth and secondary schoolage youth,
including, but not limited to, all of the following:

(1) Establishing direct linkages for youth to community-based
mental health and substance use disorder treatment services.

(2) Participating in  evidence-based  practices and
community-defined evidence programs for mental health and
substance use disorder treastment services.

(3) Providing supports to facilitate access to services and
programs, including those utilizing community-defined evidence
practices, for underserved and vulnerable populations, including,
but not limited to, members of ethnically and racialy diverse
communities, members of the LGBTQ+ communities, victims of
domestic violence and sexual abuse, and veterans.

(4) Establishing direct linkagesfor studentsto community-based
mental health and substance use disorder treatment services for
which reimbursement is available through the students' health
coverage.

(5) Reducing racia disparities in access to mental health and
substance use disorder treastment services.

(6) Providing school employees and students with education
and training in early identification, intervention, and referral of
students with mental health and substance use disorder needs.

(7) Strategies and programs for youth with signs of behavioral
or emotional problems or substance misuse who are at risk of, or
have had, contact with the child welfare or juvenilejustice system.

(8) Integrated youth mental health and substance use disorder
programming.

(f) “Culturally competent and linguistically appropriate
intervention” refersto aprogram that createscritical linkageswith
community-based organizations, including, but not limited to,
clinicslicensed or operated under subdivision (a) of Section 1204
of the Health and Safety Code and clinics exempt from clinic
licensure pursuant to subdivision (c¢) of Section 1206 of the Health

91



SB 326 —80—

and Safety Code. The community-based organizations include
facilities and providers licensed or certified by the State
Department of Health Care Services, including, but not limited to,
residential substance use disorder facilities licensed pursuant to
Section 11834.01 of the Health and Safety Code or certified
pursuant to Section 11830.1 of the Health and Safety Code and
narcotic treatment programs licensed pursuant to Section 11839
of the Health and Safety Code. Community-based organizations
may aso include those organizations that provide
community-defined evidence practices.

(1) “Culturally competent and linguistically appropriate” means
the ability to reach underserved cultural populations and address
specific barriersrelated to racial, ethnic, cultural, language, gende,
age, economic, or other disparitiesin mental health and substance
use disorder treatment services access, quality, and outcomes.

(2) “Underserved cultural populations’ means those who are
unlikely to seek help from providers of traditional mental health
and substance use disorder services because of stigma, lack of
knowledge, or other barriers, including members of ethnically and
racialy diverse communities, members of the LGBTQ+
communities, victims of domestic violence and sexual abuse, and
veterans, across their lifespans.

(g) “Strategies targeting the mental health and substance use
disorder needs of older adults” means, but is not limited to, all of
the following:

(1) Outreach and engagement strategies that target caregivers,
victims of elder abuse, and individuals who live alone.

(2) Outreach to older adults who are isolated.

(3) Programsfor early identification of mental health disorders
and substance use disorders.

(h) “Community-defined evidence practices’ is defined as an
alternative or complement to evidence-based practices, that offer
culturally anchored interventions that reflect the val ues, practices,
histories, and lived-experiences of the communities they serve.
These practices come from the community and the organizations
that servethem and are found to yield positive results as determined
by community consensus over time.

(i) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Service Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

91



—8l1— SB 326

SEC. 54. Section 5840.7 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code
isamended to read:

5840.7. (a) On or before January 1, 2020, the commission
shall establish priorities for the use of prevention and early
intervention funds. These priorities shall include, but are not limited
to, the following:

(1) Childhood trauma prevention and early intervention to deal
with the early origins of mental health needs.

(2) Early psychosis and mood disorder detection and
intervention, and mood disorder and suicide prevention
programming that occurs across the lifespan.

(3 Youth outreach and engagement strategies that target
secondary school and transition age youth, with a priority on
partnership with college mental health programs.

(4) Culturally competent and linguisticaly appropriate
prevention and intervention.

(5) Strategiestargeting the mental health needs of older adults.

(6) Other programsthe commission identifies, with stakeholder
participation, that are proven effective in achieving, and are
reflective of, the goals stated in Section 5840.

(b) Onor before January 1, 2020, the commission shall develop
a statewide strategy for monitoring implementation of this part,
including enhancing public understanding of prevention and early
intervention and creating metrics for assessing the effectiveness
of how prevention and early intervention funds are used and the
outcomes that are achieved. The commission shall analyze and
monitor the established metrics using existing data, if available,
and shall propose new data collection and reporting strategies, if
necessary.

(c) The commission shall establish a strategy for technical
assistance, support, and evaluation to support the successful
implementation of the objectives, metrics, data collection, and
reporting strategy.

(d) (1) The portion of funds in the county plan relating to
prevention and early intervention shall focus on the established
priorities, and shall be allocated, as determined by the county, with
stakeholder input. A county may include other priorities, as
determined through the stakeholder process, either in place of, or
in addition to, the established priorities. If the county chooses to
include other programs, the plan shall include a description of why

91



SB 326 —82—

those programs are included and metrics by which the effectiveness
of those programsis to be measured.

(2) Counties may act jointly to meet the requirements of this
section.

(e) If the commission requires additional resources for these
purposes, it may prepare a proposal for consideration by the
appropriate policy committees of the Legisature.

(f) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 55. Section 5840.7 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5840.7. (a) The State Department of Health Care Services, in
consultation with the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, shall establish priorities for the use
of early intervention funds. These priorities shall include, but are
not limited to, the following:

(1) Childhood trauma early intervention to deal with the early
origins of mental health and substance use disorder treatment
needs, including strategies focused on eligible children and youth
experiencing homelessness, justice-involved children and youth,
child welfare-involved children and youth with ahistory of trauma,
and other populations at risk of devel oping amental health disorder
or condition as specified in subdivision (d) of Section 14184.402
or substance use disorders. Childhood trauma early intervention
services shall not belimited to individualsenrolled in the Medi-Cal
program.

(2) Early psychosisand mood disorder detection and intervention
and mood disorder programming that occurs across the lifespan.

(3) Outreach and engagement strategies that target early
childhood O to 5 years of age, inclusive, out-of-school youth, and
secondary school youth. Partnerships with community-based
organi zations and college mental health and substance use disorder
programs may be utilized to implement the strategies.

(4) Culturally competent and linguistically appropriate
interventions.

(5) Strategies targeting the mental health and substance use
disorder needs of older adults.

91



— 83— SB 326

(6) Strategies targeting the mental health needs of eligible
children and youth, as defined in Section 5892, who are 0 to 5
years of age, including, but not limited to, infant and early
childhood mental health consultation.

(7) Strategiesto advance equity and reduce disparities.

(8) Programsthat include community-defined evidence practices
and evidence-based practices and mental health and substance use
disorder treatment services similar to those provided under other
programs that are effective in preventing mental illness and
substance use disorders from becoming severe and components
similar to programs that have been successful in reducing the
duration of untreated severe mental illness and substance use
disordersto assist people in quickly regaining productive lives.

(9) Other programs the State Department of Health Care
Services identifies that are proven effective in preventing mental
illness and substance use disorders from becoming severe and
disabling, consistent with Section 5840.

(10) Strategies to address the needs of individuals at high risk
of crisis.

(b) (1) (A) The portion of fundsin the county plan relating to
early intervention shall focus on the established prioritiesand shall
be allocated as determined by the county with stakeholder input.

(B) (i) A county may include other priorities, as determined
through the stakeholder process, in addition to the established
priorities.

(i) 1f acounty choosesto include other programs, the plan shall
include a description of why those programs are included and
metrics by which the effectiveness of those programs is to be
measured.

(2) Counties may act jointly to meet the requirements of this
section.

(c) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 56. Section 5840.8 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code
isamended to read:

5840.8. (a) Notwithstanding the rulemaking provisions of the
Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with
Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government
Code), the commission may implement this chapter without taking

91



SB 326 — 84—

regulatory action until regulations are adopted. The commission
may use information notices or related communications to
implement this chapter.

(b) This section shall be repealed on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 57. Section 5845 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5845. (a) The Menta Heath Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission is hereby established to oversee Part
3 (commencing with Section 5800), the Adult and Older Adult
Mental Health System of Care Act; Part 3.1 (commencing with
Section 5820), Human Resources, Education, and Training
Programs; Part 3.2 (commencing with Section 5830), Innovative
Programs; Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), Prevention
and Early Intervention Programs; and Part 4 (commencing with
Section 5850), the Children’s Mental Health Services Act. The
commission shall replace the advisory committee established
pursuant to Section 5814. The commission shall consist of 16
voting members as follows:

(1) TheAttorney General or the Attorney General’s designee.

(2) The Superintendent of Public Instruction or the
Superintendent’s designee.

(3) The Chairperson of the Senate Committee on Health, the
Chairperson of the Senate Committee on Human Services, or
another member of the Senate selected by the President pro
Tempore of the Senate.

(4) The Chairperson of the Assembly Committee on Health or
another member of the Assembly selected by the Speaker of the
Assembly.

(5) Two personswith a severe mental illness, afamily member
of an adult or senior with asevere mental illness, afamily member
of achild who has or has had a severe mental illness, a physician
specializing in acohol and drug treatment, a mental health
professional, acounty sheriff, asuperintendent of aschool district,
a representative of a labor organization, a representative of an
employer with less than 500 employees, a representative of an
employer with more than 500 employees, and a representative of
ahealth care service plan or insurer, al appointed by the Governor.
In making appointments, the Governor shall seek individualswho

91



—85— SB 326

have had personal or family experience with mental illness. At
least one person appointed pursuant to this paragraph shall have
abackground in auditing.

(b) Members shall serve without compensation, but shall be
reimbursed for all actual and necessary expenses incurred in the
performance of their duties.

(c) The term of each member shall be three years, to be
staggered so that approximately one-third of the appointments
expire in each year.

(d) Incarryingout itsdutiesand responsibilities, the commission
may do all of the following:

(1) Meet at least once each quarter at any time and location
convenient to the public asit may deem appropriate. All meetings
of the commission shall be open to the public.

(2) Within the limit of funds allocated for these purposes,
pursuant to the laws and regulations governing state civil service,
employ staff, including any clerical, legal, and technical assistance
necessary. The commission shall administer its operations separate
and apart from the State Department of Health Care Services and
the California Health and Human Services Agency.

(3) Establishtechnical advisory committees, such asacommittee
of consumers and family members.

(4) Employ all other appropriate strategies necessary or
convenient to enable it to fully and adequately perform its duties
and exercise the powers expressly granted, notwithstanding any
authority expressly granted to an officer or employee of state
government.

(5) Enter into contracts.

(6) Obtain data and information from the State Department of
Health Care Services, the Office of Statewide Health Planning and
Development, or other state or local entities that receive Mental
Health Services Act funds, for the commission to utilize in its
oversight, review, training and technical assistance, accountability,
and eval uation capacity regarding projects and programs supported
with Mental Health Services Act funds.

(7) Participateinthejoint state-county decisionmaking process,
as contained in Section 4061, for training, technical assistance,
and regulatory resources to meet the mission and goals of the
state’s mental health system.

91



SB 326 — 86—

(8) Develop strategies to overcome stigma and discrimination,
and accomplish all other objectives of Part 3.2 (commencing with
Section 5830), Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), and the
other provisions of the Mental Health ServicesAct.

(9) Atany time, advisethe Governor or the Legidatureregarding
actions the state may take to improve care and services for people
with mental illness.

(10) If the commission identifies a critical issue related to the
performance of a county mental health program, it may refer the
issue to the State Department of Health Care Services for
consideration pursuant to the department’s authority in Section
5655.

(11) Assistin providing technical assistance to accomplish the
purposes of the Mental Health Services Act, Part 3 (commencing
with Section 5800), and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850)
in collaboration with the State Department of Health Care Services
and in consultation with the County Behavioral Health Directors
Association of California.

(12) Work in collaboration with the State Department of Health
Care Services and the California Behavioral Health Planning
Council, and in consultation with the County Behavioral Health
DirectorsAssociation of California, in designing acomprehensive
joint plan for a coordinated evaluation of client outcomes in the
community-based mental health system, including, but not limited
to, partslisted in subdivision (a). The CaliforniaHealth and Human
Services Agency shall lead this comprehensive joint plan effort.

(13) Establish a framework and voluntary standard for mental
health in the workplace that servesto reduce mental health stigma,
increase public, employee, and empl oyer awareness of the recovery
goals of the Mental Health Services Act, and provide guidance to
California’'s employer community to put in place strategies and
programs, as determined by the commission, to support the mental
health and wellness of employees. The commission shall consult
with the Labor and Workforce Devel opment Agency or itsdesignee
to develop the standard.

(e) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

91



— 87— SB 326

SEC. 58. Section 5845 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5845. (a) The Behavioral Hedth Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission is hereby established to promote
transformational change in California’s behavioral health system
through research, evaluation and tracking outcomes, and other
strategies to assess and report progress. The commission shall use
this information and analyses to inform the commission’s grant
making, identify key policy issues and emerging best practices,
provide technical assistance and training, promote high-quality
programs implemented, and advise the Governor and the
Legislature, pursuant to the Behavioral Health Services Act and
related components of California's behavioral health system. For
this purpose, the commission shall collaborate with the California
Health and Human Services Agency, its departments and other
state entities.

(b) (1) The commission shall replace the advisory committee
established pursuant to Section 5814.

(2) The commission shall consist of 27 voting members as
follows:

(A) TheAttorney General or the Attorney General’s designee.

(B) The Superintendent of Public Instruction or the
Superintendent’s designee.

(C) The Chairperson of the Senate Committee on Health, the
Chairperson of the Senate Committee on Human Services, or
another member of the Senate selected by the President pro
Tempore of the Senate, or their designee.

(D) The Chairperson of the Assembly Committee on Health,
the Chairperson of the Assembly Committee on Human Services,
or another Member of the Assembly selected by the Speaker of
the Assembly, or their designee.

(E) (i) Thefollowingindividuals, all appointed by the Governor:

(1) Two personswho have or have had amental health disorder.

(1) Two personswho have or have had a substance use disorder.

(1) A family member of an adult or older adult who has or has
had a mental health disorder.

(V) One person who is 25 years of age or younger and has or
has had a mental health disorder, substance use disorder, or
cooccurring disorder.

91



SB 326 — 88—

(V) A family member of an adult or older adult who has or has
had a substance use disorde.

(V1) A family member of achild or youth who has or has had
amental health disorder.

(V1) A family member of achild or youth who has or has had
a substance use disorder.

(V1) A current or former county behavioral health director.

(IX) A physician specidizing in substance use disorder
treatment, including the provision of medications for addiction
treatment.

(X) A mental health professional.

(X1) A professional with expertisein housing and homel essness.

(XI1) A county sheriff.

(X11) A superintendent of a school district.

(X1V) A representative of alabor organization.

(XV) A representative of an employer with less than 500
employees.

(XVI) A representative of an employer with more than 500
employees.

(XVII) A representative of ahealth care service plan or insurer.

(XVIII) A representative of an aging or disability organization.

(XIX) A person with knowledge and experience in
community-defined evidence practices and reducing behavioral
health disparities.

(XX) A representative of a children and youth organization.

(XXI1) A veteran or arepresentative of a veterans organization.

(i) Inmaking appointments, the Governor shall seek individuals
who have had personal or family experience with mental illness
or substance use disorder.

(c) Members shall serve without compensation but shall be
reimbursed for al actual and necessary expenses incurred in the
performance of their duties.

(d) The term of each member shall be three years, to be
staggered so that approximately one-third of the appointments
expirein each year.

() (1) The commission shall have an Executive Director.

(2) TheExecutive Director will be responsible for management
over the administrative, fiscal, and program performance of the
commission.

(3) The Executive Director shall be selected by the commission.

91



— 89— SB 326

(f) Incarrying out itsdutiesand responsibilities, the commission
may do all of the following:

(1) (A) Meet at least once each quarter at atime and location
convenient to the public as it may deem appropriate.

(B) All meetings of the commission shall be open to the public.

(2) Within the limit of funds allocated for these purposes,
pursuant to the laws and regulations governing state civil service,
employ staff, including clerical, legal, and technical assistance, as
necessary.

(3) Thecommission shall administer its operations separate and
apart from the State Department of Health Care Services and the
Cdlifornia Health and Human Services Agency.

(4) Establishtechnical advisory committees, such asacommittee
of consumers and family members, and a reducing disparities
committee focusing on demographic, geographic, and other
communities. The commission may provide pertinent information
gained from those committees to relevant state agencies and
departments, including, but not limited to, the California Health
and Humans Services Agency and its departments.

(5) Employ all other appropriate strategies necessary or
convenient to enable it to fully and adequately perform its duties
and exercise the powers expressly granted, notwithstanding
authority expressly granted to an officer or employee of state
government.

(6) Enter into contracts.

(7) Make reasonable requests for data and information to the
State Department of Health Care Services, the Department of
Health Care Access and Information, the State Department of
Public Health, or other state and local entities that receive
Behavioral Health ServicesAct funds. These entities shall respond
in a timely manner and provide information and data in their
possession that the commission deems necessary for the purposes
of carrying out its responsibilities.

(8) Participatein thejoint state-county decisionmaking process,
as described in Section 4061, for training, technical assistance,
and regulatory resources to meet the mission and goals of the
state’s mental health system.

(9) Identify best practices to overcome stigma and
discrimination, in consultation with the State Department of Public
Health.

91



SB 326 —90—

(10) At any time, advise the Governor or the Legislature
regarding actions the state may take to improve care and services
for people with mental illness or substance use disorder.

(11) If the commission identifies a critical issue related to the
performance of a county mental health program, it may refer the
issue to the State Department of Health Care Services pursuant to
Section 5655 or 5963.04.

(12) Providetechnical assistance to countieson implementation
planning, training, and capacity building investments as defined
by the State Department of Health Care Services and in
consultation with the County Behavioral Headth Directors
Association of California. Technical assistance may aso include
innovative behavioral health models of care and innovative
promising practices pursuant to subparagraph (A) of paragraph
(4) of subdivision (&) of Section 5892. Technical assistance may
also include compiling and publishing a list of innovative
behavioral health models of care programs and promising practices
for each of the programs set forth in subparagraphs (1), (2), and
(3) of subdivision (a) of Section 5892.

(13) Work in collaboration with the State Department of Health
Care Services to define the parameters of a report that includes
recommendations for improving and standardizing promising
practices across the state based on the technical assistance provided
to counties as specified in paragraph (12). The commission shall
prepare and publish the report on its internet website. In
formulating this report, the commission shall prioritize the
perspectives of the Californiabehavioral health community through
a robust public engagement process with a focus on priority
populations and diverse communities.

(14) Establish aframework and voluntary standard for mental
health in the workplace that servesto reduce mental health stigma,
increase public, employee, and employer awareness of the recovery
goals of the Mental Health Services Act, and provide guidance to
California’'s employer community to put in place strategies and
programs, as determined by the commission, to support the mental
health and wellness of employees. The commission shall consult
with the Labor and Workforce Devel opment Agency or itsdesignee
to develop the standard.

(9) (1) The commission shall work in collaboration with the
State Department of Heath Care Services and the California

91



—91— SB 326

Behavioral Health Planning Council, and in consultation with the
County Behavioral Health Directors Association of California, to
write a report that includes recommendations for improving and
standardizing promising practices for Behavioral Health Services
Act programs.

(2) The commission shall complete the report and provide a
written report on itsinternet website no later than January 1, 2030,
and every three years thereafter.

(h) For purposes of this section, “ substance use disorder” shall
have the meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

(i) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 59. Section 5845.1 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5845.1. () (1) TheBehaviora Health ServicesAct Innovation
Partnership Fund is hereby created in the State Treasury.

(2) Thefund shall be administered by the state for the purposes
of funding agrant program administered by the Behavioral Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission pursuant to
this section and subdivision (f) of Section 5892.

(b) (1) The Behaviora Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission shall award grants to private, public,
and nonprofit partners to promote development of innovative
mental health and substance use disorder programs and practices.

(2) The innovative mental health and substance use disorder
programs and practices shall be designed for the following
purposes:

(A) Improving Behavioral Health Services Act programs and
practices funded pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 5892 for
the following groups:

(i) Underserved populations.

(if) Low-income populations.

(iii) Communities impacted by other behavioral health
disparities.

(iv) Other populations, as determined by the Behavioral Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission.

(B) Meseting statewide Behaviora Health Services Act goals
and objectives.

91



SB 326 —92—

(3 The Behaviora Headth Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, in determining the allowabl e uses of
the funds, shall consult with the California Health and Human
ServicesAgency and the State Department of Health Care Services.
If the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission utilizes funding for population-based prevention or
workforce innovation grants, the commission shall consult with
the State Department of Public Health for population-based
prevention innovations and the Department of Health Care Access
and Information for workforce innovations.

(¢ (1) The Behaviora Hedth Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission shall submit areport to the Legidature
by January 1, 2030, and every three years thereafter. The report
shall cover the three-fiscal-year period immediately preceding the
date of submission.

(2) The report shal include the practices funded pursuant to
this section and the extent to which they accomplished the purposes
specified in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of subdivision (b).

(3) A report to be submitted pursuant to paragraph (1) shall be
submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

SEC. 60. Section 5845.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5845.5. In addition to the activities authorized under Section
5845, the commission may establish a fellowship program in
accordance with this section for the purpose of providing an
experiential learning opportunity for a mental health consumer
and amental health professional.

(@) Participantsin the fellowship shall serve on an annual basis
and may serve only one term as afellow.

(b) Thefellowship program established under this section shall
support the broad goals of the commission, including, but not
limited to, subdivision (d) of Section 5846, and be based upon the
following principles:

(1) To enhance opportunities for the work of the commission
to reflect the perspective of persons with personal experience and
state-of-the-art practices in the mental health field.

(2) To strengthen opportunities for the goals of the Mental
Health ServicesAct, and the work of the commission in promoting

91



—93— SB 326

those goals, to be accessible and understandable to mental health
consumers, mental health professionals, and the general public.

(3) Toimprove opportunitiesfor outreach and engagement with
mental health consumers and mental health professionals relating
to the work of the commission.

(4) Toincreasethe awareness for mental health consumers and
professionals of the goals of the Mental Health Services Act and
therole of the state in meeting those goals; therole of public policy,
regulation development, fiscal strategies, use of data, research,
and evaluation; and communication strategies to improve mental
health outcomes in California.

() The commission shall establish an advisory committee to
provide guidance on the fellowship program goas, design,
eligibility criteria, application process, and other issues as the
commission deems necessary. The advisory committee shall
include persons with personal experience with the mental health
system, mental health professional's, personswith experience with
similar fellowship programs, and others with diverse perspectives
who can assist the commission to meet the goal s of the fellowship
program.

(d) The commission may enter into an interagency agreement
or other contractual agreement with astate, local, or private entity,
as determined by the commission, to receive technical assistance
or relevant services to support the establishment and
implementation of the fellowship program.

() The commission shall ensure that the fellowship program
does not cause the displacement of any civil service employee.
For purposes of this subdivision, “displacement” means a layoff,
ademotion, an involuntary transfer to anew class, an involuntary
transfer to a new location requiring a change of residence, atime
base reduction, a change in shift or days off, or a reassignment to
another position within the same class and general location.

(f) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 61. Section 5845.5 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5845.5. In addition to the activities authorized under Section
5845, the commission may establish a fellowship program in

91



SB 326 — 94—

accordance with this section for the purpose of providing an
experiential learning opportunity for mental health or substance
usedisorder consumers and mental health or substance use disorder
professionals.

(@) Participantsin the fellowship shall serve on an annual basis
and may serve only one term as afellow.

(b) Thefellowship program established under this section shall
support the broad goals of the commission and be based upon the
following principles:

(1) To enhance opportunities for the work of the commission
to reflect the perspective of persons with persona experience and
state-of-the-art practices in the mental health and substance use
disorder fields.

(2) To strengthen opportunities for the goals of the Behavioral
Health ServicesAct and the work of the commission in promoting
those goals and to be accessible and understandable to mental
health and substance use disorder individuals, menta health and
substance use disorder professionals, and the general public.

(3) Toimprove opportunitiesfor outreach and engagement with
individuals who have a mental health disorder or a substance use
disorder and mental health and substance use disorder professionals
relating to the work of the commission.

(4) To increase the awareness of mental health and substance
use disorder individuals and professionals of the goals of the
Behavioral Health Services Act and both of the following:

(A) Therole of the state in meeting those goals.

(B) The role of public policy, regulation development, fiscal
strategies, use of data, research, and eval uation and communication
strategies to improve mental health and substance use disorder
outcomesin California.

(c) (1) The commission shall establish an advisory committee
to provide guidance on the fellowship program goals, design,
eligibility criteria, application process, and other issues as the
commission deems necessary.

(2) Theadvisory committee shall include personswith personal
experience with the mental health and substance use disorder
system, mental health and substance use disorder professionals,
persons with experience with similar fellowship programs, and
others with diverse perspectives who can assist the commission
to meet the goals of the fellowship program.

91



— 95— SB 326

(d) The commission may enter into an interagency agreement
or other contractual agreement with astate, local, or private entity,
as determined by the commission, to receive technical assistance
or relevant services to support the establishment and
implementation of the fellowship program.

() (1) Thecommissionshall ensurethat thefellowship program
does not cause the displacement of acivil service employee.

(2) For purposes of this subdivision, “displacement” means a
layoff, a demotion, an involuntary transfer to a new class, an
involuntary transfer to a new location requiring a change of
residence, atime base reduction, a change in shift or days off, or
a reassignment to another position within the same class and
general location.

(f) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 62. Section 5846 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5846. (d) Thecommission shall adopt regulationsfor programs
and expenditures pursuant to Part 3.2 (commencing with Section
5830), for innovative programs, and Part 3.6 (commencing with
Section 5840), for prevention and early intervention.

(b) Any regulations adopted by the department pursuant to
Section 5898 shall be consistent with the commission’sregulations.

(c) The commission may provide technical assistance to any
county mental health plan as needed to address concerns or
recommendations of the commission or when local programs could
benefit from technical assistance for improvement of their plans.

(d) The commission shal ensure that the perspective and
participation of diverse community members reflective of
California populations and others suffering from severe mental
illness and their family membersis asignificant factor in al of its
decisions and recommendations.

(e) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 63. Section 5847 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

91



SB 326 — 96—

5847. Integrated Plansfor Prevention, Innovation, and System
of Care Services.

(a8 Each county mental health program shall prepare and submit
a three-year program and expenditure plan, and annual updates,
adopted by the county board of supervisors, to the Mental Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission and the State
Department of Health Care Serviceswithin 30 days after adoption.

(b) Thethree-year program and expenditure plan shall be based
on available unspent funds and estimated revenue allocations
provided by the state and in accordance with established
stakeholder engagement and planning requirements, as required
in Section 5848. Thethree-year program and expenditure plan and
annual updates shall include all of the following:

(1) A program for prevention and early intervention in
accordance with Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840).

(2) A program for servicesto children in accordance with Part
4 (commencing with Section 5850), to include a program pursuant
to Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 18250) of Part 6 of
Division 9 or provide substantial evidencethat it isnot feasibleto
establish awraparound program in that county.

(3) A program for services to adults and seniors in accordance
with Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800).

(4) A program for innovations in accordance with Part 3.2
(commencing with Section 5830).

(5) A program for technological needs and capital facilities
needed to provide services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with
Section 5800), Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), and Part
4 (commencing with Section 5850). All plansfor proposed facilities
with restrictive settings shall demonstrate that the needs of the
people to be served cannot be met in a less restrictive or more
integrated setting, such as permanent supportive housing.

(6) Identification of shortagesin personnel to provide services
pursuant to the above programs and the additional assistance
needed from the education and training programs established
pursuant to Part 3.1 (commencing with Section 5820).

(7) Establishment and maintenance of a prudent reserve to
ensure the county program will continue to be able to serve
children, adults, and seniors that it is currently serving pursuant
to Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800), the Adult and Older
Adult Mental Health System of Care Act, Part 3.6 (commencing

91



— 97— SB 326

with Section 5840), Prevention and Early Intervention Programs,
and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850), the Children’s Mental
Health ServicesAct, during yearsin which revenuesfor the Mental
Health Services Fund are below recent averages adjusted by
changesin the state population and the California Consumer Price
Index.

(8) Certification by the county behavioral health director, which
ensuresthat the county has complied with al pertinent regulations,
laws, and statutes of the Mental Health Services Act, including
stakeholder participation and nonsupplantation requirements.

(9) Certification by the county behavioral health director and
by the county auditor-controller that the county has complied with
any fiscal accountability requirements as directed by the State
Department of Health Care Services, and that all expenditures are
consistent with the requirements of the Mental Health Services
Act.

(c) The programs established pursuant to paragraphs (2) and
(3) of subdivision (b) shall include services to address the needs
of transition age youth 16 to 25 years of age, inclusive. In
implementing this subdivision, county mental health programs
shall consider the needs of transition age foster youth.

(d) Each year, the State Department of Health Care Services
shall inform the County Behavioral Health Directors Association
of Cdifornia and the Mental Hedth Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission of the methodology used for revenue
allocation to the counties.

(e) Each county mental health program shall prepare expenditure
plans pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800) for adults
and seniors, Part 3.2 (commencing with Section 5830) for
innovative programs, Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840)
for prevention and early intervention programs, and Part 4
(commencing with Section 5850) for services for children, and
updates to the plans developed pursuant to this section. Each
expenditure update shall indicate the number of children, adults,
and seniors to be served pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with
Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) and
the cost per person. The expenditure update shall include utilization
of unspent funds allocated in the previous year and the proposed
expenditure for the same purpose.

91



SB 326 — 98—

(f) A county mental health program shall include an allocation
of funds from a reserve established pursuant to paragraph (7) of
subdivision (b) for services pursuant to paragraphs (2) and (3) of
subdivision (b) in yearsin which the allocation of fundsfor services
pursuant to subdivision (€) are not adequate to continue to serve
the same number of individual s as the county had been serving in
the previous fiscal year.

(g) The department shall post on its internet website the
three-year program and expenditure plans submitted by every
county pursuant to subdivision (@) in atimely manner.

(h) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), acounty that isunable
to complete and submit athree-year program and expenditure plan
or annual update for the 2020-21 or 202122 fiscal years due to
the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency may extend the effective
timeframe of its currently approved three-year plan or annual
update to include the 2020-21 and 202122 fiscal years. The
county shall submit athree-year program and expenditure plan or
annual update to the Menta Headth Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission and the State Department of Health
Care Services by July 1, 2022.

(2) For purposesof thissubdivision, “COVID-19 Public Health
Emergency” means the federal Public Health Emergency
declaration made pursuant to Section 247d of Title 42 of the United
States Code on January 30, 2020, entitled “ Determination that a
Public Health Emergency Exists Nationwide as the Result of the
2019 Novel Coronavirus,” and any renewal of that declaration.

(i) Notwithstanding paragraph (7) of subdivison (b) and
subdivision (f), a county may, during the 2020-21 and 202122
fiscal years, use funds from its prudent reserve for prevention and
early intervention programs created in accordance with Part 3.6
(commencing with Section 5840) and for servicesto personswith
severe mental illnesses pursuant to Part 4 (commencing with
Section 5850) for the children’'s system of care and Part 3
(commencing with Section 5800) for the adult and older adult
system of care. These services may include housing assistance, as
defined in Section 5892.5, to the target population specified in
Section 5600.3.

() Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, may

91



—99— SB 326

implement, interpret, or make specific subdivisions (h) and (i) of
this section and subdivision (i) of Section 5892 by means of
all-county letters or other similar instructions.

(k) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 64. Section 5848 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5848. (a) Each three-year program and expenditure plan and
update shall be devel oped with local stakeholders, including adults
and seniorswith severe mental illness, familiesof children, adults,
and seniors with severe mental illness, providers of services, law
enforcement agencies, education, social servicesagencies, veterans,
representatives from veterans organizations, providers of alcohol
and drug services, health care organizations, and other important
interests. Counties shall demonstrate a partnership with constituents
and stakehol ders throughout the process that includes meaningful
stakeholder involvement on mental heath policy, program
planning, and implementation, monitoring, quality improvement,
evaluation, and budget allocations. A draft plan and update shall
be prepared and circulated for review and comment for at least 30
daysto representatives of stakeholder interests and any interested
party who has requested a copy of the draft plans.

(b) The mental health board established pursuant to Section
5604 shall conduct apublic hearing on the draft three-year program
and expenditure plan and annual updates at the close of the 30-day
comment period required by subdivision (a). Each adopted
three-year program and expenditure plan and update shall include
any substantive written recommendations for revisions. The
adopted three-year program and expenditure plan or update shall
summarize and analyze the recommended revisions. The mental
health board shall review the adopted plan or update and make
recommendations to the loca mental health agency or local
behavioral health agency, as applicable, for revisions. The local
mental health agency or local behavioral health agency, as
applicable, shall provide an annual report of written explanations
to the local governing body and the State Department of Health
Care Services for any substantive recommendations made by the

91



SB 326 — 100 —

local mental health board that are not included in the final plan or
update.

(c) The plans shall include reports on the achievement of
performance outcomesfor services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing
with Section 5800), Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840),
and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) funded by the Mental
Hedth Services Fund and established jointly by the State
Department of Health Care Servicesand the Mental Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission, in collaboration with
the County Behavioral Health DirectorsAssociation of California.

(d) Mental health services provided pursuant to Part 3
(commencing with Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with
Section 5850) shall be included in the review of program
performance by the CaliforniaBehaviora Health Planning Council
required by paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) of Section 5772 and
in the local mental health board’s review and comment on the
performance outcome datarequired by paragraph (7) of subdivision
(@) of Section 5604.2.

(e) The department shall annually post on its internet website
a summary of the performance outcomes reports submitted by
counties if clearly and separately identified by counties as the
achievement of performance outcomes pursuant to subdivision
(©).

(f) For purposes of this section, “ substantive recommendations
made by thelocal mental health board” means any recommendation
that is brought before the board and approved by a mgority vote
of the membership present at a public hearing of the local mental
health board that has established its quorum.

(g) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that dateis repealed.

SEC. 65. Section 5848.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5848.5. (a) The Legidature finds and declares al of the
following:

(1) Cdifornia has realigned public community mental health
services to counties and it is imperative that sufficient
community-based resources be available to meet the mental health
needs of eigibleindividuals.

91



—101— SB 326

(2) Increasing accessto effective prevention, early intervention,
outpatient, and crisis stabilization services provides an opportunity
to reduce costs associated with expensive i npatient and emergency
room care and to better meet the needs of individualswith mental
health disorders in the least restrictive manner possible.

(3) Almost one-fifth of peoplewith mental health disordersvisit
a hospital emergency room at least once per year. If an adequate
array of crisisservicesisnot available, it leavesan individual with
little choice but to access an emergency room for assistance and,
potentially, an unnecessary inpatient hospitalization.

(4) Recent reports have called attention to acontinuing problem
of inappropriate and unnecessary utilization of hospital emergency
rooms in California due to limited community-based services for
individuals in psychological distress and acute psychiatric crisis.
Hospitals report that 70 percent of people taken to emergency
rooms for psychiatric evaluation can be stabilized and transferred
to alessintensive level of crisis care. Law enforcement personnel
report that their personnel need to stay with people in the
emergency room waiting area until a placement isfound, and that
lessintensive levels of care tend not to be available.

(5) Comprehensive public and private partnershipsat both local
and regiona levels, including across physical health services,
mental health, substance use disorder, law enforcement, social
services, and related supports, are necessary to develop and
maintain high-quality, patient-centered, and cost-effective carefor
individuals with mental health disorders that facilitates their
recovery and leads towards wellness.

(6) Therecovery of individuals with mental health disordersis
important for al levels of government, business, and the local
community.

(b) This section shall be known, and may be cited, as the
Investment in Mental Health WellnessAct of 2013. The objectives
of this section are to do all of the following:

(1) Expand access to prevention, early intervention, and
treatment services to improve the client experience, achieve
recovery and wellness, and reduce costs.

(2) Expand the continuum of services to address crisis
prevention, crisis intervention, crisis stabilization, and crisis
residential treatment needs that are wellness, resiliency, and
recovery oriented.

91



SB 326 —102—

(3) Addat least 25 mobile crisis support teamsand at least 2,000
crisis stabilization and crisis residential treatment beds to bolster
capacity at thelocal level to improve accessto menta heath crisis
services and address unmet mental health care needs.

(4) Add at least 600 triage personnel to provide intensive case
management and linkage to services for individuals with mental
health care disorders at various points of access, such as at
designated community-based service points, homeless shelters,
and clinics.

(5) Reduce unnecessary hospitalizations and inpatient days by
appropriately utilizing community-based services and improving
access to timely assistance.

(6) Reduce recidivism and mitigate unnecessary expenditures
of local law enforcement.

(7) Providelocal communitieswith increased financial resources
to leverage additional public and private funding sourcesto achieve
improved networks of care for individuals with mental health
disorders.

(8) Provideacomplete continuum of crisisservicesfor children
and youth 21 years of age and under regardless of where they live
in the state. The funds included in the 2016 Budget Act for the
purpose of developing the continuum of mental heath crisis
servicesfor children and youth 21 years of age and under shall be
for the following objectives:

(A) Provideacontinuum of crisisservicesfor children and youth
21 years of age and under, regardless of where they live in the
state.

(B) Provide for early intervention and treatment services to
improve the client experience, achieve recovery and wellness, and
reduce costs.

(C) Expand the continuum of community-based services to
address crisisintervention, crisis stabilization, and crisisresidential
treatment needs that are wellness, resiliency-, and
recovery-oriented.

(D) Add at least 200 mobile crisis support teams.

(E) Add at least 120 crisis stabilization services and beds and
crisis residential treatment beds to increase capacity at the local
level toimprove accessto mental health crisis services and address
unmet mental health care needs.

91



—103— SB 326

(F) Addtriage personnel to provideintensive case management
and linkage to services for individuals with mental health care
disorders at various points of access, such as at designated
community-based service points, homeless shelters, schools, and
clinics.

(G) Expand family respite care to help families and sustain
caregiver health and well-being.

(H) Expand family supportive training and related services
designed to help families participate in the planning process, access
services, and navigate programs.

() Reduce unnecessary hospitalizations and inpatient days by
appropriately utilizing community-based services.

(J) Reduce recidivism and mitigate unnecessary expenditures
of local law enforcement.

(K) Provide loca communities with increased financial
resourcesto leverage additional public and private funding sources
to achieve improved networks of care for children and youth 21
years of age and under with mental health disorders.

(c) Through appropriations provided in the annual Budget Act
for this purposg, it is the intent of the Legidlature to authorize the
CaliforniaHealth Facilities Financing Authority, hereafter referred
to as the authority, and the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, hereafter referred to as the
commission, to administer competitive selection processes or a
sole-source contracting process as provided in this section for
capital capacity and program expansion to increase capacity for
mobile crisis support, crisis intervention, crisis stabilization
services, crisis residential treatment, and specified personnel
resources.

(d) Funds appropriated by the Legidlature to the authority for
purposes of this section shall be made available to selected
counties, or counties acting jointly. The authority may, at its
discretion, also give consideration to private nonprofit corporations
and public agenciesin an area or region of the state if a county, or
counties acting jointly, affirmatively supportsthisdesignation and
collaboration in lieu of a county government directly receiving
grant funds.

(1) Grant awards made by the authority shall be used to expand
local resourcesfor the development, capital, equipment acquisition,

91



SB 326 —104—

and applicable program startup or expansion costs to increase
capacity for client assistance and services in the following areas:

(A) Crisis intervention, as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(B) Crisis stabilization, as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(C) Crisis residential treatment, as authorized by Sections
14021.4, 14680, and 14684 and as provided at a children’s crisis
residential program, as defined in Section 1502 of the Health and
Safety Code.

(D) Rehabilitative mental health services, as authorized by
Sections 14021.4, 14680, and 14684.

(E) Mobile crisis support teams, including personnel and
equipment, such as the purchase of vehicles.

(2) Theauthority shall develop selection criteriato expand local
resources, including those described in paragraph (1), and processes
for awarding grants after consulting with representatives and
interested stakeholders from the mental health community,
including, but not limited to, the County Behavioral Health
Directors Association of California, service providers, consumer
organizations, and other appropriate interests, such as health care
providers and law enforcement, as determined by the authority.
The authority shall ensure that grants result in cost-effective
expansion of the number of community-based crisis resourcesin
regions and communities selected for funding. The authority shall
also take into account at least the following criteria and factors
when selecting recipients of grants and determining the amount
of grant awards:

(A) Description of need, including, a& a minimum, a
comprehensive description of the project, community need,
population to be served, linkage with other public systemsof health
and mental health care, linkage with local |aw enforcement, social
services, and related assistance, as applicable, and a description
of the request for funding.

(B) Ability to serve the target population, which includes
individuaseligiblefor Medi-Ca and individualseligiblefor county
health and mental health services.

(C) Geographic areas or regions of the state to be eligible for
grant awards, which may includerural, suburban, and urban areas,

91



—105— SB 326

and may include use of the five regional designations utilized by
the County Behavioral Health DirectorsAssociation of California.

(D) Leve of community engagement and commitment to project
completion.

(E) Financial support that, in addition to a grant that may be
awarded by the authority, will be sufficient to complete and operate
the project for which the grant from the authority is awarded.

(F) Ability to provide additional funding support to the project,
including public or private funding, federal tax credits and grants,
foundation support, and other collaborative efforts.

(G) Memorandum of understanding among project partners, if
applicable.

(H) Information regarding the legal status of the collaborating
partners, if applicable.

(1) Ability to measure key outcomes, including improved access
to services, health and mental health outcomes, and cost benefit
of the project.

(3) The authority shall determine maximum grants awards,
which shall takeinto consideration the number of projects awarded
to the grantee, as described in paragraph (1), and shall reflect
reasonable costs for the project and geographic region. The
authority may allocate a grant in increments contingent upon the
phases of a project.

(4) Fundsawarded by the authority pursuant to this section may
be used to supplement, but not to supplant, existing financial and
resource commitments of the grantee or any other member of a
collaborative effort that has been awarded a grant.

(5) All projects that are awarded grants by the authority shall
be compl eted within areasonable period of time, to be determined
by the authority. Funds shall not be released by the authority until
the applicant demonstrates project readiness to the authority’s
satisfaction. If the authority determines that a grant recipient has
failed to complete the project under the terms specified in awarding
the grant, the authority may require remedies, including the return
of all or aportion of the grant.

(6) A granteethat receivesagrant from the authority under this
section shall commit to using that capital capacity and program
expansion project, such as the mobile crisis team, crisis
stabilization unit, or crisis residential treatment program, for the
duration of the expected life of the project.

91



SB 326 — 106 —

(7) Theauthority may consult with atechnical assistance entity,
as described in paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) of Section 4061,
for purposes of implementing this section.

(8) The authority may adopt emergency regulations relating to
the grants for the capital capacity and program expansion projects
described in this section, including emergency regulations that
define eligible costs and determine minimum and maximum grant
amounts.

(9) The authority shall provide reports to the fiscal and policy
committees of the Legislature on or before May 1, 2014, and on
or before May 1, 2015, on the progress of implementation, that
include, but are not limited to, the following:

(A) A description of each project awarded funding.

(B) Theamount of each grant issued.

(C) A description of other sources of funding for each project.

(D) Thetotal amount of grantsissued.

(E) A description of project operation and implementation,
including who is being served.

(10) A recipient of agrant provided pursuant to paragraph (1)
shall adhere to all applicable laws relating to scope of practice,
licensure, certification, staffing, and building codes.

(e) Of the funds specified in paragraph (8) of subdivision (b),
it is the intent of the Legidature to authorize the authority to
administer competitive selection processes as provided in this
section for capital capacity and program expansion to increase
capacity for mobile crisis support, crisis intervention, crisis
stabilization services, crisis residential treatment, family respite
care, family supportive training and related services, and triage
personnel resources for children and youth 21 years of age and
under.

(f) Funds appropriated by the Legisature to the authority to
address crisis services for children and youth 21 years of age and
under for the purposes of this section shall be made available to
selected counties or counties acting jointly. The authority may, at
its discretion, also give consideration to private nonprofit
corporations and public agencies in an area or region of the state
if a county, or counties acting jointly, affirmatively support this
designation and collaboration in lieu of a county government
directly receiving grant funds.

91



— 107 — SB 326

(1) Grant awards made by the authority shall be used to expand
local resourcesfor the development, capital, equipment acquisition,
and applicable program startup or expansion costs to increase
capacity for client assistance and crisis services for children and
youth 21 years of age and under in the following areas:

(A) Crisis intervention, as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(B) Crisis stabilization, as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(C) Crisis residential treatment, as authorized by Sections
14021.4, 14680, and 14684 and as provided at a children’s crisis
residential program, as defined in Section 1502 of the Health and
Safety Code.

(D) Mobile crisis support teams, including the purchase of
equipment and vehicles.

(E) Family respite care.

(2) Theauthority shall develop selection criteriato expand local
resources, including those described in paragraph (1), and processes
for awarding grants after consulting with representatives and
interested stakeholders from the mental health community,
including, but not limited to, county mental health directors, service
providers, consumer organizations, and other appropriate interests,
such as health care providers and law enforcement, as determined
by the authority. The authority shall ensure that grants result in
cost-effective expansion of the number of community-based crisis
resources in regions and communities selected for funding. The
authority shall also take into account at least the following criteria
and factors when selecting recipients of grants and determining
the amount of grant awards:

(A) Description of need, including, a a minimum, a
comprehensive description of the project, community need,
population to be served, linkage with other public systemsof health
and mental health care, linkage with local |aw enforcement, social
services, and related assistance, as applicable, and a description
of the request for funding.

(B) Ability to serve the target population, which includes
individuaseligiblefor Medi-Cal and individualseligiblefor county
health and mental health services.

(C) Geographic areas or regions of the state to be eligible for
grant awards, which may includerural, suburban, and urban areas,

91



SB 326 — 108 —

and may include use of the five regional designations utilized by
the California Behavioral Health Directors Association.

(D) Leve of community engagement and commitment to project
completion.

(E) Financial support that, in addition to a grant that may be
awarded by the authority, will be sufficient to complete and operate
the project for which the grant from the authority is awarded.

(F) Ability to provide additional funding support to the project,
including public or private funding, federal tax credits and grants,
foundation support, and other collaborative efforts.

(G) Memorandum of understanding among project partners, if
applicable.

(H) Information regarding the legal status of the collaborating
partners, if applicable.

(1) Ability to measure key outcomes, including utilization of
services, health and mental health outcomes, and cost benefit of
the project.

(3) Theauthority shall determine maximum grant awards, which
shall take into consideration the number of projects awarded to
the grantee, as described in paragraph (1), and shall reflect
reasonable costsfor the project, geographic region, and target ages.
The authority may allocate a grant in increments contingent upon
the phases of a project.

(4) Fundsawarded by the authority pursuant to this section may
be used to supplement, but not to supplant, existing financial and
resource commitments of the grantee or any other member of a
collaborative effort that has been awarded a grant.

(5) All projects that are awarded grants by the authority shall
be compl eted within areasonable period of time, to be determined
by the authority. Funds shall not be released by the authority until
the applicant demonstrates project readiness to the authority’s
satisfaction. If the authority determines that a grant recipient has
failed to complete the project under the terms specified in awarding
the grant, the authority may require remedies, including the return
of all, or aportion, of the grant.

(6) A granteethat receivesagrant from the authority under this
section shall commit to using that capital capacity and program
expansion project, such as the mobile crisis team, crisis
stabilization unit, family respite care, or crisisresidential treatment
program, for the duration of the expected life of the project.

91



—109— SB 326

(7) Theauthority may consult with atechnical assistance entity,
as described in paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) of Section 4061,
for the purposes of implementing this section.

(8) The authority may adopt emergency regulations relating to
the grants for the capital capacity and program expansion projects
described in this section, including emergency regulations that
define eligible costs and determine minimum and maximum grant
amounts.

(9) The authority shall provide reports to the fiscal and policy
committees of the Legislature on or before January 10, 2018, and
annually thereafter, on the progress of implementation, that include,
but are not limited to, the following:

(A) A description of each project awarded funding.

(B) Theamount of each grant issued.

(C) A description of other sources of funding for each project.

(D) Thetotal amount of grantsissued.

(E) A description of project operation and implementation,
including who is being served.

(10) A recipient of agrant provided pursuant to paragraph (1)
shall adhere to all applicable laws relating to scope of practice,
licensure, certification, staffing, and building codes.

(g) Funds appropriated by the Legidlature to the commission
for purposes of this section shall be alocated to support crisis
prevention, early intervention, and crisis response strategies, as
determined by the commission with input from peers, county
behavioral health agencies, community-based organizations, and
others. In allocating these funds, the commission shall consult with
the California Health and Human Services Agency and other state
agencies as needed, in order to leverage existing funds and share
best practices, and shall take into consideration dataon populations
at risk for experiencing amental health crisis, including the needs
of early childhood, children and youth, transition age youth, adults,
and older adults. These funds shall be made available to selected
entities, including, but not limited to, counties, counties acting
jointly, city mental health departments, other local governmental
agencies and community-based organizations such as health care
providers, hospitals, health systems, childcare providers, early
childhood education providers, and other entities, as determined
by the commission through a competitive selection process or a
sole-source process, as determined by the commission. The

91



SB 326 —110—

commission may utilize a sole-source process when it determines,
during apublic hearing, that it isin the public interest to do so and
would address barriers to participation for local governmental
agencies, including small counties, other local agencies, and
community-based organizations, or is aligned with the goals of
thissection. It isthe intent of the Legislature for these fundsto be
alocated in an efficient manner to encourage prevention, early
intervention, and receipt of needed services for individuals with
mental health needs, or who are at risk of needing crisis services,
and to assist in navigating the local service sector to improve
efficiencies and the delivery of services. The commission shall
consider existing data sources for populations who are at higher
risk for experiencing a mental health crisis when allocating these
funds.

(1) Funding may be used to support services, supports,
education, and training that are offered in person, by telephone,
by videoconference, or by telehealth with the individual in need
of assistance, their significant support person, or others, and may
be provided anywherein the community. These service and related
activities may include, but are not limited to, the following:

(A) Communication, coordination, and referral.

(B) Monitoring serviceddivery to ensuretheindividual accesses
and receives services.

(C) Monitoring the individual’s progress.

(D) Providing placement service assistance and service plan
development.

(E) Education and training.

(F) Innovative, best practice, evidence-based, and related
approaches to support crisis prevention, early intervention, and
crisis response.

(2) Thecommission shall takeinto account at least thefollowing
criteriaand factors when sel ecting recipients and determining the
amount of grant awards as follows:

(A) Description of need, including potential gapsinlocal service
connections.

(B) Description of funding request, including use of peersand
peer support.

(C) Description of how funding will be used to facilitate linkage
and access to services, including objectives and anticipated
outcomes.

91



—111— SB 326

(D) Ability to obtain federal Medicaid reimbursement, when
applicable.

(E) Ability to administer an effective service program and the
degree to which local agencies and service providers will support
and collaborate with the effort.

(F) Geographic areas or regions of the state to be eligible for
grant awards, which shall include rural, suburban, and urban areas,
and may include use of the five regional designations utilized by
the County Behavioral Health DirectorsAssociation of California.

(3) The commission shall determine maximum grant awards,
and shall take into consideration the level of need, population to
be served, and related criteria, as described in paragraph (2), and
shall reflect reasonable costs.

(4) Funds awarded by the commission for purposes of this
section may be used to supplement, but not supplant, existing
financial and resource commitments of the entitiesthat receivethe
grant.

(5 Notwithstanding any other law, a county, counties acting
jointly, a city mental heath department, a community-based
organization, or other entity that receives an award of funds for
the purpose of supporting crisis prevention, early intervention, and
crisis response strategies pursuant to this subdivision may be
required to provide a matching contribution of local funds. The
commission may, at its discretion, allow and approve grants that
include matching funds, in whole or in part, to enhance the impact
of limited public funding. Matching fund requirements shall not
be designed in a manner that will prevent participation from local
agencies, community-based organizations, or other entities that
are eligible to participate in the funding opportunities created by
this section.

(6) Notwithstanding any other law, the commission, without
taking any further regulatory action, may implement, interpret, or
make specific this section by means of informational letters,
bulletins, or similar instructions.

(h) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that dateis repealed.

SEC. 66. Section 5848.5 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

91



SB 326 —112—

5848.5. (a) The Legidature finds and declares all of the
following:

(1) Cdifornia has realigned public community mental health
services to counties, and it is imperative that sufficient
community-based resources be avail able to meet the mental health
needs of eigibleindividuals.

(2) Increasing accessto effective prevention, early intervention,
outpatient, and crisis stabilization services provides an opportunity
to reduce costs associated with expensive i npatient and emergency
room care and better meet the needs of individuals with mental
health disorders in the least restrictive manner possible.

(3) Almost one-fifth of peoplewith mental health disordersvisit
a hospital emergency room at least once per year. If an adequate
array of crisisservicesisnot available, it leavesan individual with
little choice but to access an emergency room for assistance and,
potentially, an unnecessary inpatient hospitalization.

(4) Recent reports have called attention to acontinuing problem
of inappropriate and unnecessary utilization of hospital emergency
rooms in California due to limited community-based services for
individuals in psychological distress and acute psychiatric crisis.
Hospitals report that 70 percent of people taken to emergency
rooms for psychiatric evaluation can be stabilized and transferred
to aless-intensive level of crisiscare. Law enforcement personnel
report that their personnel need to stay with people in the
emergency room waiting area until a placement is found and that
lessintensive levels of care tend not to be available.

(5) Comprehensive public and private partnershipsat both local
and regiona levels, including across physical health services,
mental health, substance use disorder, law enforcement, social
services, and related supports, are necessary to develop and
maintain high-quality, patient-centered, and cost-effective carefor
individuals with mental health disorders that facilitates their
recovery and leads towards wellness.

(6) Therecovery of individuals with mental health disordersis
important for al levels of government, business, and the local
community.

(b) This section shall be known, and may be cited, as the
Investment in Mental Health WellnessAct of 2013. The objectives
of this section are to do all of the following:

91



—113— SB 326

(1) Expand access to prevention, early intervention, and
treatment services to improve the client experience, achieve
recovery and wellness, and reduce costs.

(2) Expand the continuum of services to address crisis
prevention, crisis intervention, crisis stabilization, and crisis
residential treatment needs that are wellness-, resiliency-, and
recovery-oriented.

(3) Addat least 25 mobile crisis support teamsand at least 2,000
crisis stabilization and crisis residential treatment beds to bolster
capacity at thelocal level to improve accessto mental health crisis
services and address unmet mental health care needs.

(4) Add at least 600 triage personnel to provide intensive case
management and linkage to services for individuals with amental
health disorder at various points of access, such as at designated
community-based service points, homeless shelters, and clinics.

(5) Reduce unnecessary hospitalizations and inpatient days by
appropriately utilizing community-based services and improving
access to timely assistance.

(6) Reduce recidivism and mitigate unnecessary expenditures
of local law enforcement.

(7) Providelocal communitieswith increased financial resources
to leverage additional public and private funding sourcesto achieve
improved networks of care for individuals with mental health
disorders.

(8) (A) Provide a complete continuum of crisis services for
children and youth 21 years of age and under regardless of where
they livein the state.

(B) Thefundsincluded inthe 2016 Budget Act for the purpose
of developing the continuum of mental health crisis services for
children and youth 21 years of age and under shall be for the
following objectives:

(i) Provideacontinuum of crisisservicesfor children and youth
21 years of age and under, regardless of where they live in the
state.

(i1) Provide for early intervention and treatment services to
improve the client experience, achieve recovery and wellness, and
reduce costs.

(iii) Expand the continuum of community-based services to
address crisisintervention, crisis stabilization, and crisisresidential

91



SB 326 —114—

treatment needs that ae wellness, resliency-, and
recovery-oriented.

(iv) Add at least 200 mobile crisis support teams.

(v) Add at least 120 crisis stabilization services and beds and
crisis residential treatment beds to increase capacity at the local
level and improve access to mental health crisis services and
address unmet mental health care needs.

(vi) Addtriagepersonnel to provideintensive case management
and linkage to servicesfor individual swith mental health disorders
at various points of access, such asat designated community-based
service points, homeless shelters, schools, and clinics.

(vii) Expand family respite care to help families and sustain
caregiver health and well-being.

(viii) Expand family supportive training and related services
designed to help families participate in the planning process, access
services, and navigate programs.

(ix) Reduce unnecessary hospitalizations and inpatient days by
appropriately utilizing community-based services.

(x) Reduce recidivism and mitigate unnecessary expenditures
of local law enforcement.

(xi) Provide local communities with increased financial
resourcesto leverage additional public and private funding sources
to achieve improved networks of care for children and youth 21
years of age and under with a mental health disorder.

(c) Through appropriations provided in the annual Budget Act
for this purposg, it is the intent of the Legidlature to authorize the
CaliforniaHealth Facilities Financing Authority, hereafter referred
to as the authority, and the Behavioral Health Services Oversight
and Accountability Commission, hereafter referred to as the
commission, to administer competitive selection processes or a
sole-source contracting process as provided in this section for
capital capacity and program expansion to increase capacity for
mobile crisis support, crisis intervention, crisis stabilization
services, crisis residential treatment, and specified personnel
resources.

(d) (1) Funds appropriated by the Legislature to the authority
for purposes of this section shall be made available to selected
counties or counties acting jointly.

(2) The authority may, at its discretion, give consideration to
private nonprofit corporations and public agencies in an area or

91



—115— SB 326

region of the state if a county, or counties acting jointly,
affirmatively supports this designation and collaboration in lieu
of a county government directly receiving grant funds.

(3) Grant awards made by the authority shall be used to expand
local resourcesfor the development, capital, equipment acquisition,
and applicable program startup or expansion costs to increase
capacity for client assistance and services in the following areas:

(A) Crisis intervention as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(B) Crisis stahilization as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(C) Crisis residential treatment as authorized by Sections
14021.4, 14680, and 14684 and as provided at a children’s crisis
residential program as defined in Section 1502 of the Health and
Safety Code.

(D) Rehabilitative mental health services as authorized by
Sections 14021.4, 14680, and 14684.

(E) Mobile crisis support teams, including personnel and
equipment, such as the purchase of vehicles.

(4) (A) Theauthority shall develop selection criteriato expand
local resources, including those described in paragraph (3), and
processesfor awarding grants after consulting with representatives
and interested stakeholders from the mental health community,
including, but not limited to, the County Behavioral Health
Directors Association of California, service providers, consumer
organizations, and other appropriate interests, such as health care
providers and law enforcement, as determined by the authority.

(B) Theauthority shall ensurethat grantsresult in cost-effective
expansion of the number of community-based crisis resources in
regions and communities selected for funding.

(C) The authority shall also take into account at least the
following criteria and factors when selecting recipients of grants
and determining the amount of grant awards:

(i) Description of need, including, a& a minimum, a
comprehensive description of the project, community need,
population to be served, linkage with other public systemsof health
and mental health care, linkage with local |aw enforcement, social
services, and related assistance, as applicable, and a description
of the request for funding.

91



SB 326 —116—

(i) Ability to serve the target population, which includes
individualseligiblefor Medi-Cal and individua seligiblefor county
health and mental health services.

(iii) Geographic areas or regions of the state to be eligible for
grant awards, which may includerural, suburban, and urban areas,
and may include use of the five regional designations utilized by
the County Behavioral Health DirectorsAssociation of California.

(iv) Level of community engagement and commitment to project
completion.

(v) Financia support that, in addition to a grant that may be
awarded by the authority, will be sufficient to complete and operate
the project for which the grant from the authority is awvarded.

(vi) Ability to provide additional funding support to the project,
including public or private funding, federal tax credits and grants,
foundation support, and other collaborative efforts.

(vii) Memorandum of understanding among project partners, if
applicable.

(viii) Information regarding thelegal status of the collaborating
partners, if applicable.

(ix) Ability to measure key outcomes, including improved access
to services, health, and mental health outcomes, and cost benefit
of the project.

(5) (A) Theauthority shall determine maximum grants awards,
which shall takeinto consideration the number of projects awarded
to the grantee, as described in paragraph (3), and shall reflect
reasonable costs for the project and geographic region.

(B) Theauthority may allocate agrant inincrements contingent
upon the phases of a project.

(6) Fundsawarded by the authority pursuant to this section may
be used to supplement, but not to supplant, existing financial and
resource commitments of the grantee or another member of a
collaborative effort that has been awarded a grant.

(7) (A) All projects that are awarded grants by the authority
shall be completed within a reasonable period of time, to be
determined by the authority.

(B) Funds shall not be released by the authority until the
applicant demonstrates project readiness to the authority’s
satisfaction.

(C) If the authority determines that a grant recipient has failed
to complete the project under the terms specified in awarding the

91



—117— SB 326

grant, the authority may require remedies, including the return of
all or aportion of the grant.

(8) A granteethat receivesagrant from the authority under this
section shall commit to using that capital capacity and program
expansion project, such as the mobile crisis team, crisis
stabilization unit, or crisis residential treatment program, for the
duration of the expected life of the project.

(9) Theauthority may consult with atechnical assistance entity,
as described in paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) of Section 4061,
for purposes of implementing this section.

(10) The authority may adopt emergency regulations relating
to the grants for the capital capacity and program expansion
projects described in this section, including emergency regulations
that define eligible costs and determine minimum and maximum
grant amounts.

(11) Theauthority shall provide reportsto the fiscal and policy
committees of the Legislature on or before May 1, 2014, and on
or before May 1, 2015, on the progress of implementation, that
include, but are not limited to, the following:

(A) A description of each project awarded funding.

(B) The amount of each grant issued.

(C) A description of other sources of funding for each project.

(D) Thetotal amount of grantsissued.

(E) A description of project operation and implementation,
including who is being served.

(12) A recipient of agrant provided pursuant to paragraph (1)
shall adhere to all applicable laws relating to scope of practice,
licensure, certification, workforce, and building codes.

(e) Of the funds specified in paragraph (8) of subdivision (b),
it is the intent of the Legidlature to authorize the authority to
administer competitive selection processes as provided in this
section for capital capacity and program expansion to increase
capacity for mobile crisis support, crisis intervention, crisis
stabilization services, crisis residential treatment, family respite
care, family supportive training and related services, and triage
personnel resources for children and youth 21 years of age and
under.

(f) (1) Funds appropriated by the Legislature to the authority
to address crisis services for children and youth 21 years of age

91



SB 326 —118—

and under for the purposes of this section shall be made available
to selected counties or counties acting jointly.

(2) Theauthority may, at its discretion, also give consideration
to private nonprofit corporations and public agenciesin an areaor
region of the state if a county, or counties acting jointly,
affirmatively support this designation and collaboration in lieu of
a county government directly receiving grant funds.

(3) Grant awards made by the authority shall be used to expand
local resourcesfor the development, capital, equipment acquisition,
and applicable program startup or expansion costs to increase
capacity for client assistance and crisis services for children and
youth 21 years of age and under in the following areas:

(A) Crisis intervention as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(B) Crisis stabilization as authorized by Sections 14021.4,
14680, and 14684.

(C) Crisis residential treatment as authorized by Sections
14021.4, 14680, and 14684 and as provided at a children’s crisis
residential program as defined in Section 1502 of the Health and
Safety Code.

(D) Mobile crisis support teams, including the purchase of
equipment and vehicles.

(E) Family respite care.

(4) (A) Theauthority shall develop selection criteriato expand
local resources, including those described in paragraph (3), and
processesfor awarding grants after consulting with representatives
and interested stakeholders from the mental health community,
including, but not limited to, county mental health directors, service
providers, consumer organizations, and other appropriate interests,
such as health care providers and law enforcement, as determined
by the authority.

(B) Theauthority shall ensurethat grantsresult in cost-effective
expansion of the number of community-based crisis resources in
regions and communities selected for funding.

(C) The authority shall also take into account at least the
following criteria and factors when selecting recipients of grants
and determining the amount of grant awards:

(i) Description of need, including, a a minimum, a
comprehensive description of the project, community need,
population to be served, linkage with other public systems of health

91



—119— SB 326

and mental health care, linkage with local |aw enforcement, social
services, and related assistance, as applicable, and a description
of the request for funding.

(if) Ability to serve the target population, which includes
individualseligiblefor Medi-Cal and individua seligiblefor county
health and mental health services.

(iii) Geographic areas or regions of the state to be eligible for
grant awards, which may includerural, suburban, and urban areas,
and may include use of the five regional designations utilized by
the California Behavioral Health Directors Association.

(iv) Level of community engagement and commitment to project
completion.

(v) Financia support that, in addition to a grant that may be
awarded by the authority, will be sufficient to complete and operate
the project for which the grant from the authority is awarded.

(vi) Ability to provide additional funding support to the project,
including public or private funding, federal tax credits and grants,
foundation support, and other collaborative efforts.

(vii) Memorandum of understanding among project partners, if
applicable.

(viii) Information regarding the legal status of the collaborating
partners, if applicable.

(ix) Ability to measure key outcomes, including utilization of
services, health and mental health outcomes, and cost benefit of
the project.

(5) (A) Theauthority shall determine maximum grant awards,
which shall takeinto consideration the number of projects awarded
to the grantee, as described in paragraph (1), and shall reflect
reasonabl e costsfor the project, geographic region, and target ages.

(B) Theauthority may allocate agrant inincrements contingent
upon the phases of a project.

(6) Fundsawarded by the authority pursuant to this section may
be used to supplement, but not to supplant, existing financial and
resource commitments of the grantee or another member of a
collaborative effort that has been awarded a grant.

(7) (A) All projects that are awarded grants by the authority
shall be completed within a reasonable period of time, to be
determined by the authority.

91



SB 326 —120—

(B) Funds shall not be released by the authority until the
applicant demonstrates project readiness to the authority’s
satisfaction.

(C) If the authority determines that a grant recipient has failed
to complete the project under the terms specified in awarding the
grant, the authority may require remedies, including the return of
all, or aportion, of the grant.

(8) A granteethat receivesagrant from the authority under this
section shall commit to using that capital capacity and program
expansion project, such as the mobile crisis team, crisis
stabilization unit, family respite care, or crisisresidential treatment
program, for the duration of the expected life of the project.

(9 Theauthority may consult with atechnical assistance entity,
as described in paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) of Section 4061,
for the purposes of implementing this section.

(10) The authority may adopt emergency regulations relating
to the grants for the capital capacity and program expansion
projects described in this section, including emergency regulations
that define eligible costs and determine minimum and maximum
grant amounts.

(11) Theauthority shall provide reportsto the fiscal and policy
committees of the Legislature on or before January 10, 2018, and
annually thereafter, on the progress of implementation, that include,
but are not limited to, al of the following:

(A) A description of each project awarded funding.

(B) Theamount of each grant issued.

(C) A description of other sources of funding for each project.

(D) Thetotal amount of grantsissued.

(E) A description of project operation and implementation,
including who is being served.

(12) A recipient of agrant provided pursuant to paragraph (1)
shall adhere to all applicable laws relating to scope of practice,
licensure, certification, workforce, and building codes.

(9) (1) (A) Funds appropriated by the Legislature to the
commission for purposes of this section shall be alocated to
support crisis prevention, early intervention, and crisis response
strategies, as determined by the commission with input from peers,
county behavioral health agencies, community-based organizations,
and others.

91



—121— SB 326

(B) Inallocating these funds, the commission shall consult with
the California Health and Human ServicesAgency and other state
agencies as needed, to leverage existing funds and share best
practices and shall take into consideration data on populations at
risk for experiencing amental health crisis, including the needs of
early childhood, children and youth, transition age youth, adults,
and older adults.

(C) These funds shall be made available to selected entities,
including, but not limited to, counties, counties acting jointly, city
mental health departments, other local governmental agenciesand
community-based organizations, such as health care providers,
hospitals, heath systems, childcare providers, early childhood
education providers, and other entities as determined by the
commission through a competitive selection process or a
sole-source process, as determined by the commission.

(D) The commission may utilize a sole-source process when it
determines, during a public hearing, that it isin the public interest
to do so and would address barriers to participation for local
governmental agencies, including small counties, other local
agencies, and community-based organizations or is aligned with
the goals of this section.

(E) It is the intent of the Legisature for these funds to be
allocated in an efficient manner to encourage prevention, early
intervention, and receipt of needed services for individuals with
mental health needs, or who are at risk of needing crisis services,
and to assist in navigating the local service sector to improve
efficiencies and the delivery of services.

(F) The commission shall consider existing data sources for
populationswho are at higher risk for experiencing amental health
crisis when allocating these funds.

(2) Funding may be used to support services, supports,
education, and training that are offered in person, by telephone,
by videoconference, or by telehealth with the individual in need
of assistance, their significant support person, or others, and may
be provided anywherein the community. These service and related
activities may include, but are not limited to, the following:

(A) Communication, coordination, and referral.

(B) Monitoring servicedelivery to ensuretheindividual accesses
and receives services.

(C) Monitoring the individual’s progress.

91



SB 326 —122—

(D) Providing placement service assistance and service plan
development.

(E) Education and training.

(F) Innovative, best practice, evidence-based, and related
approaches to support crisis prevention, early intervention, and
crisis response.

(3) Thecommission shall takeinto account at least thefollowing
criteriaand factors when sel ecting recipients and determining the
amount of grant awards as follows:

(A) Description of need, including potential gapsinlocal service
connections.

(B) Description of funding request, including use of peersand
peer support.

(C) Description of how funding will be used to facilitate linkage
and access to services, including objectives and anticipated
outcomes.

(D) Ability to obtain federal Medicaid reimbursement, if
applicable.

(E) Ability to administer an effective service program and the
degree to which local agencies and service providers will support
and collaborate with the effort.

(F) Geographic areas or regions of the state to be eligible for
grant awards, which shall include rural, suburban, and urban areas,
and may include use of the five regional designations utilized by
the County Behavioral Health DirectorsAssociation of California.

(4) The commission shall determine maximum grant awards
and shall take into consideration the level of need, population to
be served, and related criteria, as described in paragraph (2), and
shall reflect reasonable costs.

(5 Funds awarded by the commission for purposes of this
section may be used to supplement, but not supplant, existing
financial and resource commitments of the entitiesthat receivethe
grant.

(6) (A) Notwithstanding any other law, acounty, countiesacting
jointly, a city mental heath department, a community-based
organization, or other entity that receives an award of funds for
the purpose of supporting crisis prevention, early intervention, and
crisis response strategies pursuant to this subdivision may be
required to provide a matching contribution of local funds.

91



—123— SB 326

(B) The commission may, at its discretion, allow and approve
grantsthat include matching funds, in wholeor in part, to enhance
theimpact of limited public funding. Matching fund requirements
shall not be designed in a manner that will prevent participation
from local agencies, community-based organizations, or other
entitiesthat are eligible to participate in the funding opportunities
created by this section.

(7) Notwithstanding any other law, the commission, without
taking any further regulatory action, may implement, interpret, or
make specific this section by means of informational letters,
bulletins, or similar instructions.

(h) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 67. Section 5849.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5849.1. (a) The Legidaturefindsand declaresthat thispartis
consistent with and furthers the purposes of the Mental Health
ServicesAct, enacted by Proposition 63 at the November 2, 2004,
statewide general election, within the meaning of Section 18 of
that measure.

(b) The Legidature further finds and declares al of the
following:

(1) Housing is a key factor for stabilization and recovery to
occur and resultsin improved outcomesfor individualsliving with
amental illness.

(2) Untreated mental illness can increase the risk of
homel essness, especially for single adults.

(3) Cdiforniahasthe nation’slargest homel ess population that
isdisproportionally comprised of women with children, veterans,
and the chronically homeless.

(4) Cdifornia has the largest number of homeless veterans in
the United States at 24 percent of thetotal population in our nation.
Fifty percent of California's veterans live with serious mental
illness and 70 percent have a substance use disorder.

(5) Fifty percent of mothers experiencing homelessness have
experienced amajor depressive episode since becoming homeless
and 36 percent of these mothers live with post-traumatic stress
disorder and 41 percent have a substance use disorder.

91



SB 326 —124—

(6) Ninety-three percent of supportive housing tenantswho live
with mental illness and substance use disorders voluntarily
participated in the services offered.

(7) Adults who receive two years of “whatever-it-takes,” or
Full-Service Partnership services, experience a68-percent reduction
in homel essness.

(8) For every dollar of bond funds invested in permanent
supportive housing, the state and local governments can leverage
a significant amount of additional dollars through tax credits,
Medicaid health servicesfunding, and other housing devel opment
funds.

(9) Tenantsof permanent supportive housing reduced their visits
to the emergency department by 56 percent, and their hospital
admissions by 45 percent.

(10) The cost in public services for a chronically homeless
Californian ranges from $60,000 to $100,000 annually. When
housed, these costsare cut in half and some reports show reductions
in cost of more than 70 percent, including potentially less
involvement with the health and criminal justice systems.

(11) Cdlifornians have identified homelessness as their top tier
priority; this measure seeks to address the needs of the most
vulnerable people within this popul ation.

(12) Having counties provide mental health programming and
servicesis a benefit to the state.

(13) The Department of Housing and Community Devel opment
isthe state entity with sufficient expertiseto implement and oversee
agrant or loan program for permanent supportive housing of the
target population.

(14) The Cdlifornia Hedth Facilities Financing Authority is
authorized by law to issue bonds and to consult with the Mental
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission and
the State Department of Health Care Services concerning the
implementation of agrant or loan program for Californiacounties
to support the development of programs that increase access to,
and capacity for, crisis mental health services. It is therefore
appropriate for the authority to issue bonds and contract for services
with the Department of Housing and Community Devel opment to
provide grants or loans to California counties for permanent
supportive housing for the target population.

91



—125— SB 326

(15) Use of bond funding will accelerate the availability of
funding for the grant or loan program to provide permanent
supportive housing for the target population as compared to relying
on annual allocations from the Mental Health Services Fund and
better allow countiesto provide permanent supportive housing for
homeless individuals living with mental illness.

(16) The findings and declarations set forth in subdivision (c)
of Section 5849.35 are hereby incorporated herein.

(o) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date, is repealed.

SEC. 68. Section 5849.1 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5849.1. (a) The Legislaturefindsand declaresthat thispartis
consistent with and furthers the purposes of the Mental Health
ServicesAct, enacted by Proposition 63 at the November 2, 2004,
statewide genera election, within the meaning of Section 18 of
that measure.

(b) The Legidature further finds and declares al of the
following:

(1) Housing is a key factor for stabilization and recovery to
occur and resultsin improved outcomesfor individualsliving with
amental illness,

(2) Untreated mental illness can increase the risk of
homel essness, especially for single adults.

(3) Cdifornia has the nation’s largest homeless population,
whichisdisproportionally comprised of women with children and
youth, veterans, and the chronically homeless.

(4) Cdlifornia has the largest number of homeless veterans in
the United States at 24 percent of thetotal population in our nation.
Fifty percent of California’'s homeless veterans live with serious
mental illness and 70 percent have a substance use disorder.

(5) Fifty percent of mothers experiencing homelessness have
experienced amajor depressive episode since becoming homel ess,
and 36 percent of these mothers live with post-traumatic stress
disorder and 41 percent have a substance use disorder.

(6) Ninety-three percent of supportive housing tenantswho live
with mental illness and substance use disorders voluntarily
participated in the services offered.

91



SB 326 —126—

(7) Adults who receive two years of “whatever-it-takes,” or
Full-Service Partnership services, experience a68-percent reduction
in homelessness.

(8) For every dollar of bond funds invested in permanent
supportive housing, the state and local governments can leverage
a significant amount of additional dollars through tax credits,
Medicaid health servicesfunding, and other housing devel opment
funds.

(9) Tenantsof permanent supportive housing reduced their visits
to the emergency department by 56 percent and their hospital
admissions by 45 percent.

(10) The cost in public services for a chronicaly homeless
Californian ranges from $60,000 to $100,000 annually. When
housed, these costsare cut in half and some reports show reductions
in cost of more than 70 percent, including potentially less
involvement with the health and criminal justice systems.

(11) Cdifornians have identified homelessness as their top tier
priority. This measure seeks to address the needs of the most
vulnerable people within this population.

(12) Having counties provide mental health programming and
services is a benefit to the state.

(13) The Department of Housing and Community Devel opment
isthe state entity with sufficient expertiseto implement and oversee
agrant or loan program for permanent supportive housing of the
target population.

(14) The Cdifornia Heath Facilities Financing Authority is
authorized by law to issue bonds and to consult with the Behavioral
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission and
the State Department of Health Care Services concerning the
implementation of agrant or loan program for Californiacounties
to support the development of programs that increase access to,
and capacity for, crisis mental health services. It is therefore
appropriate for the authority to issue bonds and contract for services
with the Department of Housing and Community Devel opment to
provide grants or loans to California counties for permanent
supportive housing for the target population.

(15) Use of bond funding will accelerate the availability of
funding for the grant or loan program to provide permanent
supportive housing for thetarget population as compared to relying
on annual alocations from the Behavioral Health Services Fund

91



— 127 — SB 326

and better allow countiesto provide permanent supportive housing
for homeless individuals living with mental illness.

(16) The findings and declarations set forth in subdivision (c)
of Section 5849.35 are hereby incorporated herein.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 69. Section 5849.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5849.2. As used in this part, the following definitions shall
apply:

(@ “Atrisk of chronic homelessness’ includes, but isnot limited
to, persons who are at high risk of long-term or intermittent
homelessness, including persons with mental illness exiting
ingtitutionalized settings, including, but not limited to, jail and
mental health facilities, who were homeless prior to admission,
transition age youth experiencing homel essness or with significant
barriers to housing stability, and others, as defined in program
guidelines.

(b) “Authority” meansthe CaliforniaHealth Facilities Financing
Authority established pursuant to Part 7.2 (commencing with
Section 15430) of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(c) “Chronically homeless’ has the same meaning as defined
in Section 578.3 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations,
asthat section read on May 1, 2016.

(d) “Commission” meansthe Mental Health Services Oversight
and Accountability Commission established by Section 5845.

(e) “Committee” means the No Place Like Home Program
Advisory Committee established pursuant to Section 5849.3.

(f) “County” includes, but is not limited to, a city and county,
and a city receiving funds pursuant to Section 5701.5.

(9) “Department” means the Department of Housing and
Community Development.

(h) “Development sponsor” hasthe same meaning as* sponsor”
as defined in Section 50675.2 of the Health and Safety Code.

(i) “Fund” means the No Place Like Home Fund established
pursuant to Section 5849.4.

|) “Homeless’ has the same meaning as defined in Section
578.3 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations, asthat section
read on May 1, 2016.

91



SB 326 —128—

(k) “Permanent supportive housing” has the same meaning as
“supportive housing,” asdefined in Section 50675.14 of the Health
and Safety Code, except that “ permanent supportive housing” shall
include associated facilitiesif used to provide servicesto housing
residents.

() “Program” means the process for awarding funds and
distributing moneys to applicants established in Sections 5849.7,
5849.8, and 5849.9 and the ongoing monitoring and enforcement
of the applicants' activities pursuant to Sections 5849.8, 5849.9,
and 5849.11.

(1) “Competitive program” means that portion of the program
established by Section 5849.8.

(2) “Distribution program” means that portion of the program
described in Section 5849.9.

(m) “Target population” means individuals or households as
provided in Section 5600.3 who are homeless, chronically
homeless, or at risk of chronic homelessness.

(n) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 70. Section 5849.2 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5849.2. As used in this part, the following definitions shall
apply:

(@ “Atrisk of chronic homelessness’ includes, but isnot limited
to, persons who are at high risk of long-term or intermittent
homelessness, including persons with mental illness exiting
ingtitutionalized settings, including, but not limited to, jail, mental
health, and substance use disorder facilities, who were homeless
prior to admission, transition age youth experiencing homel essness
or with significant barriers to housing stability, and others, as
defined in program guidelines.

(b) “Authority” meansthe CaliforniaHealth Facilities Financing
Authority established pursuant to Part 7.2 (commencing with
Section 15430) of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(c) “Chronically homeless’ has the same meaning as defined
in Section 578.3 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations as
that section read on May 1, 2016, or as otherwise modified or
expanded by the State Department of Health Care Services.

91



—129— SB 326

(d) “Commission” means the Behavioral Headth Services
Oversight and A ccountability Commission established by Section
5845.

(e) “Committee” means the No Place Like Home Program
Advisory Committee established pursuant to Section 5849.3.

(f) “County” includes, butisnot limited to, acity and acity and
county receiving funds pursuant to Section 5701.5.

(9) “Department” means the Department of Housing and
Community Development.

(h) “Development sponsor” hasthe same meaning as* sponsor”
as defined in Section 50675.2 of the Health and Safety Code.

(i) “Fund” means the No Place Like Home Fund established
pursuant to Section 5849.4.

() “Homeless’ has the same meaning as defined in Section
578.3 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations asthat section
read on May 1, 2016.

(k) “Permanent supportive housing” has the same meaning as
“supportive housing,” asdefined in Section 50675.14 of the Health
and Safety Code, except that “ permanent supportive housing” shall
include associated facilitiesif used to provide servicesto housing
residents.

() (1) “Program” means the process for awarding funds and
distributing moneys to applicants established in Sections 5849.7,
5849.8, and 5849.9 and the ongoing monitoring and enforcement
of the applicants' activities pursuant to Sections 5849.8, 5849.9,
and 5849.11.

(2) “Competitive program” means the portion of the program
established by Section 5849.8.

(3) “Distribution program” means the portion of the program
described in Section 5849.9.

(m) “Target population” means individuals or households, as
provided in Section 5600.3, who are homeless, chronicaly
homeless, or at risk of chronic homelessness.

(n) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 71. Section 5849.3 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code
isamended to read:

91



SB 326 —130—

5849.3. (a) There is hereby established the No Place Like
Home Program Advisory Committee. Membership on the
committee shall be asfollows:

(1) The Director of Housing and Community Development, or
their designee, who shall serve asthe chairperson of the committee.

(2) TheDirector of Health Care Services, or their designee, and
an additional representative.

(3) The Secretary of Veterans Affairs, or their designee.

(4) The Director of Social Services, or their designee.

(5) The Treasurer, or their designee.

(6) The Chair of the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, or their designee.

(7) A chief administrative officer of asmall county or amember
of acounty board of supervisors of asmall county, as provided by
subdivision (d) of Section 5849.6, to be appointed by the Governor.

(8) A chief administrative officer of alarge county or amember
of acounty board of supervisors of alarge county, as provided by
subdivision (b) of Section 5849.6, to be appointed by the Governor.

(9) A director of a county behavioral health department, to be
appointed by the Governor.

(10) An administrative officer of acity, to be appointed by the
Governor.

(11) A representative of an affordable housing organization, to
be appointed by the Speaker of the Assembly.

(12) A resident of supportive housing, to be appointed by the
Governor.

(13) A representative of a community mental health
organization, to be appointed by the Senate Committee on Rules.

(14) A representative of alocal or regional continuum of care
organization that coordinates homelessness funding, to be
appointed by the Governor.

(b) The committee shall do all of the following:

(1) Assist and advise the department in the implementation of
the program.

(2) Review and make recommendations on the department’s
guidelines.

(3) Review the department’s progress in distributing moneys
pursuant to this part.

(4) Provide advice and guidance more broadly on statewide
homel essness issues.

91



—131— SB 326

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 72. Section 5849.3 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5849.3. (a) There is hereby established the No Place Like
Home Program Advisory Committee. Membership on the
committee shall be asfollows:

(1) The Director of Housing and Community Development, or
their designee, who shall serve asthe chairperson of the committee.

(2) TheDirector of Health Care Services, or their designee, and
an additional representative.

(3) The Secretary of Veterans Affairs or their designee.

(4) The Director of Social Servicesor their designee.

(5) The Treasurer or their designee.

(6) The Chair of the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission or their designee.

(7) A chief administrative officer of asmall county or amember
of acounty board of supervisors of asmall county, as provided by
subdivision (d) of Section 5849.6, to be appointed by the Governor.

(8) A chief administrative officer of alarge county or amember
of acounty board of supervisors of alarge county, as provided by
subdivision (b) of Section 5849.6, to be appointed by the Governor.

(9) A director of a county behavioral health department, to be
appointed by the Governor.

(10) An administrative officer of acity, to be appointed by the
Governor.

(11) A representative of an affordable housing organization, to
be appointed by the Speaker of the Assembly.

(12) A resident of supportive housing, to be appointed by the
Governor.

(13) A representative of a community behavioral health
organization, to be appointed by the Senate Committee on Rules.

(14) A representative of alocal or regional continuum of care
organization that coordinates homelessness funding, to be
appointed by the Governor.

(b) The committee shall do all of the following:

(1) Assist and advise the department in the implementation of
the program.

91



SB 326 —132—

(2) Review and make recommendations on the department’s
guidelines.

(3) Review the department’s progress in distributing moneys
pursuant to this part.

(4) Provide advice and guidance more broadly on statewide
homel essness issues.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 73. Section 5852.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5852.5. The State Department of Heath Care Services, in
consultation with the Menta Heath Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission shall review those counties that have
been awarded funds to implement acomprehensive system for the
delivery of mental health services to children with serious
emotional disturbance and to their families or foster families to
determine compliance with either of the following:

(@) The total estimated cost avoidance in all of the following
categories shall equal or exceed the applicationsfor funding award
moneys:

(1) Group home costs paid by Aid to Families with Dependent
Children-Foster Care (AFDC-FC) program.

(2) Children and adolescent state hospital and acute inpatient
programs.

(3) Nonpublic school residentia placement costs.

(4) Juvenile justice reincarcerations.

(5) Other short- and long-term savingsin public fundsresulting
from the applications for funding award moneys.

(b) If the department determines that the total cost avoidance
listed in subdivision (a) does not equal or exceed applications for
funding award amounts, the department shall determine that the
county that has been awarded funding shall achieve substantial
compliance with all of the following goals:

(1) Total cost avoidance in the categories listed in subdivision
(a) to exceed 50 percent of the applications for funding award
moneys.

(2) A 20-percent reduction in out-of-county ordered placements
of juvenile justice wards and social service dependents.

91



—133— SB 326

(3) A statistically significant reduction in therate of recidivism
by juvenile offenders.

(4) A 25-percent reduction in therate of state hospitalization of
minors from placements of special education pupils.

(5) A 10-percent reduction in out-of-county nonpublic school
residential placements of special education pupils.

(6) Allow at least 50 percent of children at risk of imminent
placement served by the intensive in-home crisis treatment
programs, which are wholly or partially funded by applications
for funding award moneys, to remain at home at least six months.

(7) Statistically significant improvement in school attendance
and academic performance of seriously emotionally disturbed
special education pupilstreated in day treatment programs, which
are wholly or partially funded by applications for funding award
moneys.

(8) Statistically significant increases in services provided in
nonclinic settings among agencies.

(9) Increase in ethnic minority and gender access to services
proportionate to the percentage of these groups in the county’s
schoolage popul ation.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 74. Section 5852.5 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5852.5. The State Department of Health Care Services, in
consultation with the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, shall review those countiesthat have
been awarded fundsto implement a comprehensive system for the
delivery of mental health services to children with a serious
emotional disturbance and to their families or foster families to
determine compliance with either of the following:

(@) The total estimated cost avoidance in al of the following
categories shall equal or exceed the applicationsfor funding award
moneys:

(1) Group home costs paid by Aid to Families with Dependent
Children-Foster Care (AFDC-FC) program.

(2) Children and adolescent state hospital and acute inpatient
programs.

91



SB 326 —134—

(3) Nonpublic school residential placement costs.

(4) Juvenile justice reincarcerations.

(5) Other short- and long-term savingsin public fundsresulting
from the applications for funding award moneys.

(b) If the department determines that the total cost avoidance
listed in subdivision (@) does not equal or exceed applications for
funding award amounts, the department shall determine that the
county that has been awarded funding shall achieve substantial
compliance with all of the following goals:

(1) Total cost avoidance in the categories listed in subdivision
(a) to exceed 50 percent of the applications for funding award
moneys.

(2) A 20-percent reduction in out-of-county ordered placements
of juvenile justice wards and social service dependents.

(3) A statigtically significant reduction in the rate of recidivism
by juvenile offenders.

(4) A 25-percent reduction in therate of state hospitalization of
minors from placements of specia education pupils.

(5) A 10-percent reduction in out-of-county nonpublic school
residential placements of special education pupils.

(6) Allow at least 50 percent of children at risk of imminent
placement served by the intensive in-home crisis treatment
programs, which are wholly or partially funded by applications
for funding award moneys, to remain at home at least six months.

(7) Statistically significant improvement in school attendance
and academic performance of seriously emotionally disturbed
special education pupilstreated in day treatment programsthat are
wholly or partially funded by applications for funding award
moneys.

(8) Statistically significant increases in services provided in
nonclinic settings among agencies.

(9) Increase in ethnic minority and gender access to services
proportionate to the percentage of these groups in the county’s
schoolage popul ation.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 75. Section 5868 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

91



—135— SB 326

5868. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services shall
establish service standards that ensure that children in the target
population are identified and receive needed and appropriate
services from qualified staff in the least restrictive environment.

(b) The standards shall include, but not be limited to:

(1) Providing a comprehensive assessment and treatment plan
for each target population client to be served, and developing
programs and services that will meet their needs and facilitate
client outcome goals.

(2) Providing for full participation of the family in al aspects
of assessment, case planning, and treatment.

(3) Providing methods of assessment and services to meet the
cultural, linguistic, and special needs of minorities in the target
population.

(4) Providing for staff with the cultural background and
linguistic skills necessary to remove barriers to mental health
services resulting from a limited ability to speak English or from
cultural differences.

(5) Providing mental heath case management for all target
population clients in, or being considered for, out-of-home
placement.

(6) Providing mental health servicesin the natural environment
of the child to the extent feasible and appropriate.

(c) The responsibility of the case managers shall be to ensure
that each child receives the following services:

(1) A comprehensive mental health assessment.

(2) Caseplanningwith all appropriate interagency participation.

(3) Linkage with all appropriate mental health services.

(4) Service plan monitoring.

(5) Client advocacy to ensure the provision of needed services.

(d) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 76. Section 5868 is added to the Welfare and I nstitutions
Code, to read:

5868. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services shall
establish service standards so that children and youth in the target
population are identified and receive needed and appropriate
services from qualified staff in the least restrictive environment

91



SB 326 —136—

to correct or ameliorate their behavioral health condition. This
section shall not apply to services covered by the Medi-Cal
program and services covered by ahealth care service plan or other
insurance coverage.

(b) These standards shall include, but are not limited to, all of
the following:

(1) For services funded pursuant to subdivision (@) of Section
5892, the county may consult with the stakeholders listed in
paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 5963.03.

(2) (A) Outreachtofamilieswith achild or youth with aserious
emotional disturbance or a substance use disorder to provide
coordination and accessto behavioral health services, medications,
housing interventions pursuant to Section 5830, and supportive
services as defined in subdivision (h) of Section 5887.

(B) Service planning shall include evaluation strategies that
shall consider cultural, linguistic, gender, age, and specia needs
of the target populations.

(C) Provision shall be made for a workforce with the cultural
background and linguistic skills necessary to remove barriers to
mental health and substance use disorder treatment services due
to limited-English-speaking ability and cultural differences.

(D) Recipients of outreach services may include families, the
public, primary care physicians, hospitalsinclusive of emergency
departments, behavioral health urgent care, and others who are
likely to comeinto contact with individuals who may be suffering
from either an untreated serious emotional disturbance or substance
use disorder, or both, who would likely become homeless or
incarcerated if theillness continued to be untreated for asubstantial
period of time.

(3) Provision for services for populations with identified
disparitiesin behavioral health outcomes.

(4) Provision for full participation of the family in all aspects
of assessment, service planning, and treatment, including, but not
limited to, family support and consultation services, parenting
support and consultation services, and peer support or self-help
group support, where appropriate for the individual .

(5) Provision for clients who have been suffering from an
untreated serious emotional disturbance or substance use disorder,
or both, for lessthan one year and who do not require thefull range
of servicesbut are at risk of becoming homeless or justice involved

91



—137— SB 326

unless a comprehensive individual and family support services
plan is implemented. These clients shall be served in a manner
that is designed to meet their needs, including housing for clients
that isimmediate, transitional, permanent, or al of these.

(6) Provision for services to be client-directed, to use
psychosocia rehabilitation and recovery principles, and to be
integrated with other services.

(7) Provision for psychiatric and psychological collaboration
in overall service planning.

(8) Provision for services specifically directed to children and
youth experiencing first episode psychosis.

(9) Provisonfor servicesfor frequent usersof behavioral health
urgent care, crisis stabilization units, and hospitals or emergency
departments as the primary resource for mental health and
substance use disorder treatment.

(10) Provision for services to meet the special needs of clients
who are physically disabled, clients who are intellectually or
developmentally disabled, or persons of American Indian or Alaska
Native descent.

(c) Each child or youth shall have aclearly designated personal
services coordinator or case manager who may be part of a
multidisciplinary treatment team that is responsible for providing
case management services. The personal services coordinator may
be a person or entity formally designated as primarily responsible
for coordinating the services accessed by the client. The client
shall be provided information on how to contact their designated
person or entity.

(d) A persona services coordinator shall perform all of the
following:

(1) Conduct a comprehensive assessment and periodic
reassessment of aclient’s needs. The assessment shall include the
following:

(A) Taking the client’s history.

(B) Identifying the individual’s needs, including reviewing
available records and gathering information from other sources,
including behavioral health service providers, medical providers,
family members, social workers, and others needed to form a
compl ete assessment.

(C) Assessing the client’s living arrangements, employment or
education status, and training needs.

91



SB 326 — 138 —

(2) Plan for services using information collected through the
assessment. The planning process shall do al of the following:

(A) ldentify the client's goals and the behavioral health,
supportive, medical, educational, social, prevocational, vocational
rehabilitative, housing, or other community services needed to
assist the client to reach their goals.

(B) Include active participation of the client and others in the
development of the client’s goals.

(C) Identify a course of action to address the client’s needs.

(D) Address the transition of care when a client has achieved
their goals.

(3) Assist the client in accessing needed behavioral health,
supportive, medical, educational, social, prevocational, vocational,
rehabilitative, housing, or other community services.

(4) Coordinate the services the county furnishes to the client
between settings of care, including appropriate discharge planning
for short-term hospital and institutional stays.

(5 Coordinate the services the county furnishes to the client
with the services the client receives from managed care
organizations, the Medicaid fee-for-service delivery system, other
human services agencies, and community and social support
providers, including local educational agencies.

(6) Ensure that, in the course of coordinating care, the client’s
privacy is protected in accordance with al federal and state privacy
laws.

() The county shall ensure that each provider furnishing
services to clients maintains and shares, as appropriate, client
health records in accordance with professional standards.

(f) Theservice planning process shall ensure children and youth
receive age-appropriate, gender-appropriate, and culturally
appropriate services or appropriate services based on a
characteristic listed or defined in Section 11135 of the Government
Code, to the extent feasible, that are designed to enable recipients
to:

(1) (A) Liveinthe most independent, least restrictive housing
feasiblein thelocal community and to livein asupportive housing
environment that strives for family reunification.

(B) Rejoin or return to a home they had previously maintained
with a family member or in shared housing environment that is
supportive of their recovery and stabilization.

91



—139— SB 326

(2) Engage in the highest level of educational or productive
activity appropriate to their age, abilities, and experience.

(3) Create and maintain a support system consisting of friends,
family, and participation in community activities.

(4) Accessnecessary physical health care and maintain the best
possible physical health.

(5 Reduce or eliminate serious antisocia or criminal behavior
and thereby reduce or eliminate their contact with the justice
system.

(6) Reduce or eliminate the distress caused by the symptoms of
either mental illness or substance use disorder, or both.

(7) Utilize trauma-informed approaches to reduce trauma and
avoid retraumati zation.

(9) (1) (A) Theclient'sclinical record shall describethe service
array that meets the requirements of subdivisions (d) and (f) and,
to the extent applicable to the individual, the requirements of
subdivision (a) and (b).

(B) The State Department of Health Care Servicesmay develop
and revise documentation standards for service planning to be
consistent with the standards devel oped pursuant to paragraph (3)
of subdivision (h) of Section 14184.402.

(2) Documentation of the service planning processintheclient’s
clinical record pursuant to paragraph (1) may fulfill the
documentation requirements for both the Medi-Cal program and
this section.

(h) For purposes of this section, “behavioral health services’
shall have the meaning as defined in Section 5892.

(i) For purposes of this section, “ substance use disorder” shall
have the meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

() This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 77. Section 5878.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5878.1. (a) Itistheintent of thisarticle to establish programs
that ensure services will be provided to severely mentally ill
children as defined in Section 5878.2 and that they be part of the
children’s system of care established pursuant to this part. It isthe
intent of this act that services provided under this chapter to
severely mentally ill children are accountable, developed in

91



SB 326 —140—

partnership with youth and their families, culturally competent,
and individualized to the strengths and needs of each child and
their family.

(b) Nothing in this act shall be construed to authorize any
servicesto be provided to aminor without the consent of the child’s
parent or legal guardian beyond those already authorized by
existing statute.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, isrepealed.

SEC. 78. Section 5878.1 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5878.1. (a) Itistheintent of this article to establish programs
that ensure serviceswill be provided to eligible children and youth,
as defined in Section 5892, and that they are part of the children
and youth system of care established pursuant to this part.

(b) It istheintent of this act that services provided under this
chapter are accountable, developed in partnership with youth and
their familiesand child welfare agencies, are culturally competent,
and individualized to the strengths and needs of each child and
their family.

(c) Nothinginthisact shall be construed to authorize a service
to be provided to a minor without the consent of the child’s parent
or legal guardian beyond those already authorized by existing
statute.

(d) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 79. Section 5878.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5878.2. (a) For purposesof thisarticle, “children with aserious
emotional disturbance” means minors under 18 years of age who
meet the criteria set forth in subdivision (a) of Section 5600.3.

(b) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 80. Section 5878.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

91



— 141 — SB 326

5878.3. (a) Subject to the availability of funds as determined
pursuant to Part 4.5 (commencing with Section 5890) of this
division, county mental health programs shall offer services to
severely mentally ill children for whom services under any other
public or private insurance or other mental health or entitlement
program isinadequate or unavailable. Other entitlement programs
include but are not limited to mental health services available
pursuant to Medi-Cal, child welfare, and specia education
programs. The funding shall cover only those portions of care that
cannot be paid for with public or private insurance, other mental
health funds or other entitlement programs.

(b) Funding shall be at sufficient levels to ensure that counties
can provide each child served all of the necessary services set forth
in the applicable treatment plan developed in accordance with this
part, including serviceswhere appropriate and necessary to prevent
an out of home placement, such as services pursuant to Chapter 4
(commencing with Section 18250) of Part 6 of Division 9.

(c) The State Department of Health Care Servicesshall contract
with county mental health programs for the provision of services
under this article in the manner set forth in Section 5897.

(d) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 81. Section 5878.3 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5878.3. (& (1) (A) Counties shall use funds distributed
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 to offer services to
eligible children and youth, as defined in of Section 5892, for
whom services under other public or private insurance or other
mental health, substance use disorder, or other entitlement program
is inadequate or unavailable. Counties are not required to spend
funds for services pursuant to this part from any other source,
including funds deposited in the mental health account of thelocal
health and welfare fund.

(B) Other entitlement programsinclude, but are not limited to,
mental health and substance use disorder treatment services
available pursuant to Medi-Cal, child welfare, and special education
programs.

91



SB 326 —142—

(C) The funding shall cover only those portions of care that
cannot be paid for with public or private insurance, other mental
health and substance use disorder funds, or other entitlement
programs.

(2) To maximize federal financia participation in furtherance
of subdivision (d) of Section 5890, a county shall submit claims
for reimbursement to the State Department of Health Care Services
in accordance with applicable Medi-Cal rules and procedures for
a behavioral health service or supportive service eligible for
reimbursement pursuant to Title X1X or XXI of thefederal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396, et seq. and 1397aa, et seq.)
when such service is paid, in whole or in part, using funds from
the Behavioral Health Services Fund established pursuant to
Section 5890.

(3) (A) Tomaximizefunding from other sources, acounty shall
seek reimbursement for a behavioral heath service, supportive
service, housing intervention, or other related activity provided
pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 5892 that is covered by, or
can be paid from, another available funding source, including other
mental health funds, substance use disorder funds, public and
private insurance, and other local, state, and federal funds. This
paragraph does not require counties to exhaust other funding
sources before using behavioral health services fund moneys to
pay for aservice or related activity.

(B) A county shall make a good faith effort to enter into
contracts or single case agreements with health care service plans
and disability insurance plans, pursuant to Section 1374.72 of the
Health and Safety Code and Section 10144.5 of the Insurance
Code, as a contracted provider.

(C) A county shall also submit requests for prior authorization
for services, request letters of agreement for payment as an
out-of-network provider, and pursue other means to obtain
reimbursement in accordance with state and federal laws.

(4) (A) A county may report to the Department of Managed
Health Care or the Department of Insurance, as appropriate,
complaints about a health plan’s or a health insurer’s failure to
make a good faith effort to contract or enter into a single case
agreement with the county.

(B) A county may also report to the Department of Managed
Health Care or the Department of Insurance, respectively, afailure

91



—143— SB 326

by a health plan or insurer to timely reimburse the county for
services the plan or insurer must cover as required by state or
federal law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1374.72 and
1374.721 of the Health and Safety Code and Sections 10144.5 and
10144.52 of the Insurance Code.

(C) Upon receipt of acomplaint from a county, the Department
of Managed Health Care or the Department of Insurance, as
applicable, shall timely investigate the complaint.

(b) (1) Funding shall be at sufficient levels to ensure counties
can provide each child served al of the services determined to be
necessary during the service planning process in accordance with
this part, including services where appropriate and necessary to
prevent an out of home placement, such as services pursuant to
Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 18250) of Part 6 of Division
0.

(2) A county may usethisfunding to provide servicesto address
first episode psychosis.

(c) The State Department of Health Care Servicesshall contract
with county behaviora health programs for the provision of
services under thisarticle in the manner set forth in Section 5897.

(d) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall
apply:

(1) “Behaviora health services’ shall have the meaning as
defined in Section 5892.

(2) “Substance use disorder treatment services’ shall have the
meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891. 5.

(3) “Supportive services’ shall have the meaning as defined in
subdivision (h) of Section 5887.

(e) Thisact shall not be construed to modify or reduce a health
plan’s obligations under the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan
Act of 1975.

(f) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 82. Section 5881 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5881. (@) Evauationshal beconducted by participating county
evaluation staff and, subject to the availability of funds, by the
State Department of Health Care Services and the Mental Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission.

91



SB 326 — 144 —

(b) Evaluation at both levels shall do all of the following:

(1) Ensure that county level systems of care are serving the
targeted population.

(2) Ensure that the timely performance data related to client
outcome and cost avoidance is collected, analyzed, and reported.

(3) Ensurethat system of care components are implemented as
intended.

(4) Provideinformation documenting needsfor future planning.

(o) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 83. Section 5881 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5881. (@) Evauationshal beconducted by participating county
evaluation staff and, subject to the availability of funds, by the
State Department of Health Care Services and the Behavioral
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission.

(b) Evaluation at both levels shall do all of the following:

(1) Ensurecounty level systemsof care are serving the targeted
population.

(2) Ensurethetimely performance datarelated to client outcome
and cost avoidance is collected, analyzed, and reported.

(3) Ensure system of care components are implemented as
intended.

(4) Provideinformation documenting needsfor future planning.

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 84. Section 5886 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5886. (a) The Mental Health Student Services Act is hereby
established as a mental health partnership grant program for the
purpose of establishing mental health partnerships between a
county’smental health or behavioral health departments and school
districts, charter schools, and the county office of education within
the county.

(b) The Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission shall award grants to county mental health or
behavioral health departments to fund partnerships between

91



—145— SB 326

educational and county mental health entities. Subject to an
appropriation for this purpose, commencing with the 2021-22
fiscal year, the commission shall award a grant under this section
to a county mental health or behavioral health department or
another lead agency, as identified by the partnership within each
county that meets the requirements of this section.

(1) County, city, or multicounty mental health or behavioral
health departments, or a consortium of those entities, including
multicounty partnerships, may, in partnership with one or more
school districtsand at |east one of the following educational entities
located within the county, apply for a grant to fund activities of
the partnership:

(A) The county office of education.

(B) A charter school.

(2) Aneducational entity may be designated asthe lead agency
at the request of the county, city, or multicounty department, or
consortium, and authorized to submit the application. The county,
city, or multicounty department, or consortium, shall bethe grantee
and receive any grant funds awarded pursuant to this section even
if an educational entity isdesignated asthe lead agency and submits
the application pursuant to this paragraph.

() The commission shall establish criteriafor awarding funds
under the grant program, including the allocation of grant funds
pursuant to this section, and shall require that applicants comply
with, at aminimum, all of the following requirements:

(1) That all school districts, charter schools, and the county
office of education have been invited to participate in the
partnership, to the extent possible.

(2) That applicants include with their application a plan
developed and approved in collaboration with participating
educational entity partners and that include a letter of intent, a
memorandum of understanding, or other evidence of support or
approval by the governing boards of al partners.

(3) That plans address all of the following goals:

(A) Preventing mental illnesses from becoming severe and
disabling.

(B) Improving timely access to services for underserved
populations.

91



SB 326 — 146 —

(C) Providing outreach to families, employers, primary care
health care providers, and others to recognize the early signs of
potentially severe and disabling mental illnesses.

(D) Reducing the stigma associated with the diagnosis of a
mental illness or seeking mental health services.

(E) Reducing discrimination against peoplewith mental illness.

(F) Preventing negative outcomes in the targeted population,
including, but not limited to:

(i) Suicide and attempted suicide.

(i) Incarceration.

(iii) School failure or dropout.

(iv) Unemployment.

(v) Prolonged suffering.

(vi) Homelessness.

(vii) Removal of children from their homes.

(viii) Involuntary mental health detentions.

(4) That the plan includes a description of the following:

(A) Theneed for mental health servicesfor children and youth,
including campus-based mental health services, aswell aspotential
gapsin local service connections.

(B) The proposed use of funds, which shall include, at a
minimum, that funds will be used to provide personnel or peer
support.

(C) How the fundswill be used to facilitate linkage and access
to ongoing and sustained services, including, but not limited to,
objectives and anticipated outcomes.

(D) How the partnership will collaborate with preschool and
childcare providers, or other early childhood service organizations,
to ensure the mental health needs of children are met before and
after they transition to a school setting.

(E) The partnership’s ability to do all of the following:

(i) Obtain federal Medicaid or other reimbursement, including
Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment funds,
when applicable, or to leverage other funds, when feasible.

(if) Collect information on the health insurance carrier for each
child or youth, with the permission of the child or youth’s parent,
to alow the partnership to seek reimbursement for mental health
services provided to children and youth, where applicable.

91



— 147 — SB 326

(iii) Engage ahealth care service plan or ahealth insurer in the
mental health partnership, when applicable, and to the extent
mutually agreed to by the partnership and the plan or insurer.

(iv) Administer an effective service program and the degree to
which mental health providers and educational entitieswill support
and collaborate to accomplish the goals of the effort.

(v) Connect children and youth to a source of ongoing mental
health services, including, but not limited to, through Medi-Cal,
specialty mental health plans, county mental health programs, or
private health coverage.

(vi) Continue to provide services and activities under this
program after grant funding has been expended.

(d) Grants awarded pursuant to this section shall be used to
provide support services that include, at a minimum, al of the
following:

(1) Services provided on school campuses, to the extent
practicable.

(2) Suicide prevention services.

(3) Drop-out prevention services.

(4) Outreach to high-risk youth and young adults, including,
but not limited to, foster youth, youth who identify aslesbian, gay,
bisexual, transgender, or queer, and youth who have been expelled
or suspended from school.

(5) Placement assistance and devel opment of a service plan that
can be sustained over timefor studentsin need of ongoing services.

(e) Funding may also be used to provide other prevention, early
intervention, and direct services, including, but not limited to,
hiring qualified mental health personnel, professional devel opment
for school staff on trauma-informed and evidence-based mental
health practices, and other strategies that respond to the mental
health needs of children and youth, as determined by the
commission.

(f) The commission shall determine the amount of grants and
shall take into consideration the level of need and the number of
schoolage youth in participating educational entities when
determining grant amounts. I n determining the distribution of funds
appropriated in the 202122 fiscal year, the commission shall take
into consideration any previous funding the grantee received under
this section.

91



SB 326 —148—

(g) The commission may establish incentives to provide
matching funds by awarding additional grant fundsto partnerships
that do so.

(h) If the commission is unable to provide a grant to a
partnership in acounty because of alack of applicants or because
no applicants met the minimum requirementswithin the timeframes
established by the commission, the commission may redistribute
those funds to other eligible grantees.

(i) Partnerships currently receiving grants from the Investment
in Mental Health Wellness Act of 2013 (Part 3.8 (commencing
with Section 5848.5)) are eligible to receive a grant under this
section for the expansion of services funded by that grant or for
the inclusion of additional educational entity partners within the
mental health partnership.

() Grants awarded pursuant to this section may be used to
supplement, but not supplant, existing financial and resource
commitments of the county, city, or multicounty mental health or
behaviora health departments, or a consortium of those entities,
or educational entities that receive a grant.

(k) (1) The commission shall develop metrics and a system to
measure and publicly report on the performance outcomes of
services provided using the grants.

(2) (A) The commission shall provide a status report to the
fiscal and policy committees of the L egislature on the progress of
implementation of this section no later than March 1, 2022, and
provide an updated report no later than March 1, 2024. Thereports
shall address, at a minimum, all of the following:

(i) Successful strategies.

(i) Identified needs for additional services.

(iii) Lessonslearned.

(iv) Numbers of, and demographic information for, the
schoolage children and youth served.

(v) Available data on outcomes, including, but not limited to,
linkages to ongoing services and success in meeting the goals
identified in paragraph (3) of subdivision (c).

(B) Thereportsto be submitted pursuant to this paragraph shall
be submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

(I) This section does not require the use of funds allocated for
the purpose of satisfying the minimum funding obligation under

91



—149— SB 326

Section 8 of Article XV1 of the California Constitution for the
partnerships established by this section.

(m) The commission may enter into exclusive or nonexclusive
contracts, or amend existing contracts, on abid or negotiated basis
in order to implement this section. Contracts entered into or
amended pursuant to this subdivision are exempt from Chapter 6
(commencing with Section 14825) of Part 5.5 of Division 3 of
Title 2 of the Government Code, Section 19130 of the Government
Code, and Part 2 (commencing with Section 10100) of Division
2 of the Public Contract Code, and shall be exempt from thereview
or approval of any division of the Department of General Services.

(n) Thissection shall beimplemented only to the extent moneys
are appropriated in the annual Budget Act or another statute for
purposes of this section.

(o) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 85. Section 5886 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5886. (a) TheBehavioral Health Student ServicesAct ishereby
established as a mental health partnership grant program for the
purpose of establishing mental health partnerships between a
county’s mental health or behaviora health departments and school
districts, charter schools, and the county office of education within
the county.

(b) The Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission shall award grants to county mental
health or behavioral health departments to fund partnerships
between educationa and county mental health entities. Subject to
an appropriation for this purpose, commencing with the 202122
fiscal year, the commission shall award a grant under this section
to a county mental health or behaviora health department, or
another lead agency, as identified by the partnership within each
county that meets the requirements of this section.

(1) County, city, or multicounty mental health or behavioral
health departments, or a consortium of those entities, including
multicounty partnerships, may, in partnership with one or more
school districtsand at | east one of the following educational entities

91



SB 326 — 150 —

located within the county, apply for a grant to fund activities of
the partnership:

(A) The county office of education.

(B) A charter school.

(2) (A) An educational entity may be designated as the lead
agency a the request of the county, city, or multicounty
department, or consortium, and authorized to submit the
application.

(B) Thecounty, city, or multicounty department, or consortium,
shall be the grantee and receive grant funds awarded pursuant to
this section, even if an educational entity is designated as the lead
agency and submits the application pursuant to this paragraph.

() The commission shall establish criteria for awarding funds
under the grant program, including the alocation of grant funds
pursuant to this section, and shall require that applicants comply
with, at aminimum, all of the following requirements:

(1) That al school districts, charter schools, and the county
office of education have been invited to participate in the
partnership, to the extent possible.

(2) That applicants include with their application a plan
developed and approved in collaboration with participating
educational entity partners and that include a letter of intent, a
memorandum of understanding, or other evidence of support or
approval by the governing boards of all partners.

(3) That plans address all of the following goals:

(A) Preventing mental illnesses from becoming severe and
disabling.

(B) Improving timely access to services for underserved
populations.

(C) Providing outreach to families, employers, primary care
health care providers, and others to recognize the early signs of
potentially severe and disabling mental illnesses.

(D) Reducing the stigma associated with the diagnosis of a
mental illness or seeking mental health services.

(E) Reducing discrimination against people with mental illness.

(F) Preventing negative outcomes in the targeted population,
including, but not limited to, al of the following:

(i) Suicide and attempted suicide.

(i) Incarceration.

(iii) School failure or dropout.

91



—151— SB 326

(iv) Unemployment.

(v) Prolonged suffering.

(vi) Homelessness.

(vii) Removal of children and youth from their homes.

(viii) Involuntary mental health detentions.

(4) That plansinclude a description of the following:

(A) Theneed for mental health servicesfor children and youth,
including campus-based mental health services and potential gaps
in local service connections.

(B) The proposed use of funds, which shall include, at a
minimum, that funds will be used to provide personnel or peer
support.

(C) How the fundswill be used to facilitate linkage and access
to ongoing and sustained services, including, but not limited to,
objectives and anticipated outcomes.

(D) How the partnership will collaborate with preschool and
childcare providers, or other early childhood service organizations,
to ensure the mental health needs of children are met before and
after they transition to a school setting.

(E) The partnership’s ability to do all of the following:

(i) Obtain federal Medicaid or other reimbursement, including
Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment funds,
when applicable, or to leverage other funds, when feasible.

(ii) Collect information on the health insurance carrier for each
child or youth, with the permission of the child or youth's parent,
to alow the partnership to seek reimbursement for mental health
services provided to children and youth, where applicable.

(iii) Engage ahealth care service plan or ahealth insurer in the
mental health partnership, when applicable, and to the extent
mutually agreed to by the partnership and the plan or insurer.

(iv) Administer an effective service program and the degree to
which mental health providers and educational entitieswill support
and collaborate to accomplish the goals of the effort.

(v) Connect children and youth to a source of ongoing mental
health services, including, but not limited to, through Medi-Cal,
specialty mental health plans, county mental health programs, or
private health coverage.

(vi) Continue to provide services and activities under this
program after grant funding has been expended.

91



SB 326 —152—

(d) Grants awarded pursuant to this section shall be used to
provide support services that include, at a minimum, al of the
following:

(1) Services provided on school campuses, to the extent
practicable.

(2) Suicide prevention services.

(3) Drop-out prevention services.

(4) Outreach to high-risk youth and young adults, including,
but not limited to, foster youth, youth who identify as LGBTQ+,
victims of domestic violence and sexua abuse, and youth who
have been expelled or suspended from school.

(5) Placement assistance and devel opment of a service plan that
can be sustained over timefor studentsin need of ongoing services.

(e) Funding may also be used to provide other prevention, early
intervention, and direct services, including, but not limited to,
hiring qualified mental health personnel, professional devel opment
for school staff on trauma-informed and evidence-based mental
health practices, and other strategies that respond to the mental
health needs of children and youth, as determined by the
commission.

(f) (1) The commission shall determine the amount of grants
and shall take into consideration the level of need and the number
of schoolage youth in participating educational entities when
determining grant amounts.

(2) Indetermining the distribution of funds appropriated in the
202122 fiscal year, the commission shall take into consideration
previous funding the grantee received under this section.

(g) The commission may establish incentives to provide
matching funds by awarding additional grant fundsto partnerships
that do so.

(h) If the commission is unable to provide a grant to a
partnership in acounty because of alack of applicants or because
no applicants met the minimum requirementswithin thetimeframes
established by the commission, the commission may redistribute
those funds to other eligible grantees.

(i) Partnerships currently receiving grants from the Investment
in Mental Health Wellness Act of 2013 (Part 3.8 (commencing
with Section 5848.5)) are dligible to receive a grant under this
section for the expansion of services funded by that grant or for

91



—153— SB 326

the inclusion of additional educational entity partners within the
mental health partnership.

() Grants awarded pursuant to this section may be used to
supplement, but not supplant, existing financial and resource
commitments of the county, city, or multicounty mental health or
behaviora health departments, or a consortium of those entities,
or educational entities that receive a grant.

(k) (1) The commission shall develop metrics and a system to
measure and publicly report on the performance outcomes of
services provided using the grants.

(2) (A) The commission shall provide a status report to the
fiscal and policy committees of the L egislature on the progress of
implementation of this section no later than March 1, 2022, and
provide an updated report no later than March 1, 2024. Thereports
shall address, at a minimum, all of the following:

(i) Successful strategies.

(i) Identified needs for additional services.

(iii) Lessonslearned.

(iv) Numbers of, and demographic information for, the
schoolage children and youth served.

(v) Available data on outcomes, including, but not limited to,
linkages to ongoing services and success in meeting the goals
identified in paragraph (3) of subdivision (c).

(B) Thereportsto be submitted pursuant to this paragraph shall
be submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

(I) This section does not require the use of funds allocated for
the purpose of satisfying the minimum funding obligation under
Section 8 of Article XVI of the California Constitution for the
partnerships established by this section.

(m) The commission may enter into exclusive or nonexclusive
contracts, or amend existing contracts, on abid or negotiated basis
to implement this section.

(n) Thissection shall beimplemented only to the extent moneys
are appropriated in the annual Budget Act or another statute for
purposes of this section.

(o) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

91



SB 326 —154—

SEC. 86. Part 4.1 (commencing with Section 5887) is added
to Division 5 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code, to read:

PART 4.1. FULL-SERVICE PARTNERSHIP

5887. (a) Each county shall establish and administer a full
service partnership program that include the following services:

(1) Mental health services, supportive services, and substance
use disorder treatment services.

(2) Assertive Community Treatment and Forensic Assertive
Community Treatment fidelity, Individual Placement and Support
model of Supported Employment, high fidelity wraparound, or
other evidence-based services and treatment models, as specified
by the State Department of Health Care Services. Counties with
apopulation of lessthan 200,000 may request an exemption from
these requirements. Exemption requests shall be subject to approval
by the State Department of Health Care Services. The State
Department of Health Care Services shall collaborate with the
California State Association of Countiesand the County Behaviora
Health Directors Association of California on reasonable criteria
for those requests and atimely and efficient exemption process.

(3) Assertive field-based initiation for substance use disorder
treatment services, including the provision of medications for
addiction treatment, as specified by the State Department of Health
Care Services.

(4) Outpatient behavioral health services, either clinic or field
based, necessary for the ongoing evaluation and stabilization of
an enrolled individual .

(5) Ongoing engagement services hecessary to maintain enrolled
individuals in their treatment plan inclusive of clinica and
nonclinical services, including services to support maintaining
housing.

(6) Other evidence-based services and treatment models, as
specified by the State Department of Health Care Services.

(7) The service planning process pursuant to Sections 5806 or
5868 and all services identified during the applicable process.

(8) Housing interventions pursuant to Section 5830.

(b) (1) (A) Full-service partnership services shall be provided
pursuant to awhole-person approach that istraumainformed, age

91



—155— SB 326

appropriate, and in partnership with families or an individual’s
natural supports.

(B) These services shal be provided in a streamlined and
coordinated manner so asto reduce any barriers to services.

(2) Full-service partnership services shall support theindividual
in the recovery process, reduce health disparities, and be provided
for thelength of timeidentified during the service planning process
pursuant to Sections 5806 and 5868.

(c) Full-service partnership programs shal employ
community-defined evidence practices, as specified by the State
Department of Health Care Services.

(d) (1) Full-service partnership programs shall enroll eligible
adults and older adults, as defined in Section 5892, who meet the
priority population criteria specified in subdivision (c) of Section
5892 and other criteria, as specified by the State Department of
Health Care Services.

(2) Full-service partnership programs shall enroll €ligible
children and youth, as defined in Section 5892.

(e) Full-service partnership programs shall have an established
standard of care with levels based on an individual’s acuity and
criteria for step-down into the least intensive level of care, as
specified by the State Department of Health Care Services, in
consultation with the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, counties, providers, and other
stakeholders.

(f) All behavioral health services, as defined in subdivision (j)
of Section 5891.5, and supportive services provided to a client
enrolled in afull-service partnership shall be paid from the funds
allocated pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of Section
5892, subject to Section 5891.

(9) (1) Theclinical record of each client participating in afull
service partnership program shall describe al services identified
during the service planning process pursuant to Sections 5806 and
5868 that are provided to the client pursuant to this section.

(2) The State Department of Health Care Services may develop
and revise documentation standards for service planning to be
consistent with the standards devel oped pursuant to paragraph (3)
of subdivision (h) of Section 14184.402.

(3) Documentation of the service planning processintheclient’s
clinical record pursuant to paragraph (1) may fulfill the

91



SB 326 — 156 —

documentation requirements for both the Medi-Cal program and
this section.

(h) For purposes of this part, the following definitions shall
apply:

(1) “Community-defined evidence practices’ means an
aternative or complement to evidence-based practices, that offer
culturally anchored interventionsthat reflect the values, practices,
histories, and lived-experiences of the communities they serve.
These practices come from the community and the organizations
that serve them and are found to yield positive results as determined
by community consensus over time.

(2) “Substance use disorder treatment services’ means those
services as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

(3) “Supportive services’ means those services necessary to
support clients' recovery and wellness, including, but not limited
to, food, clothing, linkages to needed social services, linkages to
programs administered by the federal Social Security
Administration, vocationa and education-related services,
employment assistance, including supported employment,
psychosocial rehabilitation, family engagement, psychoeducation,
transportation assistance, occupational therapy provided by an
occupational therapist, and group and individual activities that
promote a sense of purpose and community participation.

(i) This section shall be implemented only to the extent that
funds are provided from the Behavioral Health Services Fund for
purposes of this section. This section does not obligate the counties
to use funds from any other source for services pursuant to this
section.

5887.1. This part shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 87. Section 5890 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5890. (a) The Mental Health Services Fund is hereby created
in the State Treasury. The fund shall be administered by the state.
Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code, all
moneys in the fund are, except as provided in subdivision (d) of
Section 5892, continuously appropriated, without regard to fiscal
years, for the purpose of funding the following programs and other
related activities as designated by other provisions of thisdivision:

91



— 157 — SB 326

(1) Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800), the Adult and Older
Adult Mental Health System of Care Act.

(2) Part 3.2 (commencing with Section 5830), Innovative
Programs.

(3) Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), Prevention and
Early Intervention Programs.

(4) Part 3.9 (commencing with Section 5849.1), No Place Like
Home Program.

(5) Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850), the Children’s
Mental Health ServicesAct.

(b) The establishment of this fund and any other provisions of
the act establishing it or the programs funded shall not be construed
to modify the obligation of health care service plansand disability
insurance policies to provide coverage for mental health services,
including those services required under Section 1374.72 of the
Health and Safety Code and Section 10144.5 of the Insurance
Code, related to mental health parity. This act shall not be
construed to modify the oversight duties of the Department of
Managed Health Care or the duties of the Department of Insurance
with respect to enforcing these obligations of plans and insurance
policies.

(c) This act shall not be construed to modify or reduce the
existing authority or responsibility of the State Department of
Health Care Services.

(d) The State Department of Health Care Services shall seek
approval of all applicablefederal Medicaid approval sto maximize
the availability of federal funds and eligibility of participating
children, adults, and seniors for medically necessary care.

(e) Share of costsfor services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing
with Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850)
of this division, shall be determined in accordance with the
Uniform Method of Determining Ability to Pay applicableto other
publicly funded mental health services, unlessthisUniform Method
isreplaced by another method of determining copayments, inwhich
case the new method applicable to other mental health services
shall be applicable to services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing
with Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850)
of thisdivision.

(f) (1) The Supportive Housing Program Subaccount is hereby
created in the Mental Health Services Fund. Notwithstanding

91



SB 326 — 158 —

Section 13340 of the Government Code, all moneys in the
subaccount are reserved and continuously appropriated, without
regard tofiscal years, to the CaliforniaHealth Facilities Financing
Authority to provide fundsto meet itsfinancial obligations pursuant
to any service contracts entered into pursuant to Section 5849.35.
Notwithstanding any other law, including any other provision of
this section, no later than thelast day of each month, the Controller
shall, before any transfer or expenditure from the fund for any
other purpose for the following month, transfer from the Mental
Health Services Fund to the Supportive Housing Program
Subaccount an amount that has been certified by the California
Headlth Facilities Financing Authority pursuant to paragraph (3)
of subdivision (a) of Section 5849.35, but not to exceed an
aggregate amount of one hundred forty million dollars
($140,000,000) per year. If, in any month, the amounts in the
Mental Health Services Fund are insufficient to fully transfer to
the subaccount or the amounts in the subaccount are insufficient
to fully pay the amount certified by the CaliforniaHealth Facilities
Financing Authority, the shortfall shall be carried over to the next
month, to be transferred by the Controller with any transfer
required by the preceding sentence. Moneys in the Supportive
Housing Program Subaccount shall not be loaned to the General
Fund pursuant to Section 16310 or 16381 of the Government Code.

(2) Prior totheissuance of any bonds pursuant to Section 15463
of the Government Code, the Legislature may appropriate for
transfer fundsin the Mental Health Services Fund to the Supportive
Housing Program Subaccount in an amount up to one hundred
forty million dollars ($140,000,000) per year. Any amount
appropriated for transfer pursuant to this paragraph and deposited
in the No Place Like Home Fund shall reduce the authorized but
unissued amount of bonds that the California Health Facilities
Financing Authority may issue pursuant to Section 15463 of the
Government Code by a corresponding amount. Notwithstanding
Section 13340 of the Government Code, all moneys in the
subaccount transferred pursuant to this paragraph are reserved and
continuously appropriated, without regard to fiscal years, for
transfer to the No Place Like Home Fund, to be used for purposes
of Part 3.9 (commencing with Section 5849.1). The Controller
shall, before any transfer or expenditure from the fund for any
other purpose for the following month but after any transfer from

91



—159— SB 326

the fund for purposes of paragraph (1), transfer moneys
appropriated from the Mental Health Services Fund to the
subaccount pursuant to this paragraph in equal amounts over the
following 12-month period, beginning no later than 90 days after
the effective date of the appropriation by the Legidature. If, inany
month, the amounts in the Mental Health Services Fund are
insufficient to fully transfer to the subaccount or the amounts in
the subaccount areinsufficient to fully pay the amount appropriated
for transfer pursuant to this paragraph, the shortfall shall be carried
over to the next month.

(3) The sum of any transfers described in paragraphs (1) and
(2) shall not exceed an aggregate of one hundred forty million
dollars ($140,000,000) per year.

(4) Paragraph (2) shall become inoperative once any bonds
authorized pursuant to Section 15463 of the Government Code are
issued.

(g) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 88. Section 5890 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5890. (@) (1) The Behavioral Health Services Fund is hereby
created in the State Treasury.

(2) Thefund shall be administered by the state.

(3) Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code,
all moneys in the fund are, except as provided in subdivision (€)
of Section 5892, continuously appropriated, without regard to
fiscal years, for the purpose of funding the programs, services, and
other related activities as specified in Section 5892 and Part 3.9
(commencing with Section 5849.1), the No Place Like Home
Program.

(b) (1) The establishment of this fund and other provisions of
the act establishing it or the programs funded shall not be construed
to modify the obligation of health care service plans and disability
insurance policies to provide coverage for behaviora health
services, including those services required under Section 1374.72
of the Health and Safety Code and Section 10144.5 of the Insurance
Code, related to mental health and substance use disorder parity.

91



SB 326 — 160 —

(2) This act does not modify the oversight duties of the
Department of Managed Hedth Care or the duties of the
Department of Insurance with respect to enforcing these obligations
of plans and insurance policies.

(c) Thisact doesnot modify or reduce the existing authority or
responsibility of the State Department of Health Care Services.

(d) The State Department of Health Care Services shall seek
approval of all applicablefederal Medicaid approval sto maximize
the availability of federal funds and eligibility of participating
children and youth, adults, and older adultsfor medically necessary
care.

(e) Share of costsfor services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing
with Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850)
shall be determined in accordance with the Uniform Method of
Determining Ability to Pay applicable to other publicly funded
mental health and substance use disorder treatment services, unless
thisuniform method is replaced by another method of determining
copayments, in which case the new method applicable to other
mental health and substance use disorder treatment services shall
be applicable to services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with
Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850).

() (1) (A) The Supportive Housing Program Subaccount is
hereby created in the Behavioral Health Services Fund.

(B) Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code,
all moneys in the subaccount are reserved and continuously
appropriated, without regard to fiscal years, to the CaliforniaHealth
Facilities Financing Authority to provide fundsto meet itsfinancial
obligations pursuant to service contracts entered into pursuant to
Section 5849.35.

(C) Notwithstanding any other law, including any other
provision of this section, no later than the last day of each month,
the Controller shall, before any transfer or expenditure from the
fund for any other purpose for the following month, transfer from
the Behavioral Health Services Fund to the Supportive Housing
Program Subaccount an amount that has been certified by the
Cdlifornia Heath Facilities Financing Authority pursuant to
paragraph (3) of subdivision (a) of Section 5849.35 but not to
exceed an aggregate amount of one hundred forty million dollars
($140,000,000) per year.

91



—161— SB 326

(D) If, in any month, the amounts in the Behavioral Health
Services Fund are insufficient to fully transfer to the subaccount
or the amounts in the subaccount are insufficient to fully pay the
amount certified by the California Health Facilities Financing
Authority, the shortfall shall be carried over to the next month, to
be transferred by the Controller with any transfer required by the
preceding sentence.

(E) Moneys in the Supportive Housing Program Subaccount
shall not be loaned to the General Fund pursuant to Section 16310
or 16381 of the Government Code.

(2) (A) Prior to the issuance of any bonds pursuant to Section
15463 of the Government Code, the Legislature may appropriate
for transfer funds in the Behavioral Health Services Fund to the
Supportive Housing Program Subaccount in an amount up to one
hundred forty million dollars ($140,000,000) per year.

(B) Any amount appropriated for transfer pursuant to this
paragraph and deposited in the No Place Like Home Fund shall
reduce the authorized but unissued amount of bonds that the
CaliforniaHedth Facilities Financing Authority may issue pursuant
to Section 15463 of the Government Code by a corresponding
amount.

(C) Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the Government Code,
all moneysin the subaccount transferred pursuant to this paragraph
arereserved and continuously appropriated, without regard to fiscal
years, for transfer to the No Place Like Home Fund, to be used for
purposes of Part 3.9 (commencing with Section 5849.1).

(D) The Controller shall, before any transfer or expenditure
from the fund for any other purpose for the following month but
after any transfer from the fund for purposes of paragraph (1),
transfer moneys appropriated from the Behavioral Health Services
Fund to the subaccount pursuant to this paragraph in equal amounts
over the following 12-month period, beginning no later than 90
days after the effective date of the appropriation by the Legidature.

(E) If, in any month, the amounts in the Behavioral Health
Services Fund are insufficient to fully transfer to the subaccount
or the amounts in the subaccount are insufficient to fully pay the
amount appropriated for transfer pursuant to this paragraph, the
shortfall shall be carried over to the next month.

91



SB 326 —162—

(3) Thesum of any transfer described in paragraphs (1) and (2)
shall not exceed an aggregate of one hundred forty million dollars
($140,000,000) per year.

(4) Paragraph (2) shall become inoperative once bonds
authorized pursuant to Section 15463 of the Government Code are
issued.

(g) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 89. Section 5891 of the Welfare and Institutions Code is
amended to read:

5891. (@ (1) (A) Thefunding established pursuant to thisact
shall be utilized to expand mental health services.

(B) Except as provided in subdivision (j) of Section 5892 due
to the state’'sfiscal crisis, these funds shall not be used to supplant
existing state or county funds utilized to provide mental health
Sservices.

(C) The state shall continue to provide financial support for
mental health programs with not less than the same entitlements,
amounts of allocations from the General Fund or from the Local
Revenue Fund 2011 in the State Treasury, and formuladistributions
of dedicated funds as provided in the last fiscal year which ended
prior to the effective date of this act.

(D) The state shall not make any change to the structure of
financing mental health services, which increasesacounty’s share
of costsor financial risk for mental health services unlessthe state
includes adequate funding to fully compensate for such increased
costs or financial risk.

(E) These funds shall only be used to pay for the programs
authorized in Sections 5890 and 5892. These funds may not be
used to pay for any other program.

(F) These funds may not be loaned to the General Fund or any
other fund of the state, or acounty general fund or any other county
fund for any purpose other than those authorized by Sections 5890
and 5892.

(2) To maximize federal financia participation in furtherance
of subdivision (d) of Section 5890, a county shall submit claims
for reimbursement to the State Department of Health Care Services
in accordance with applicable Medi-Cal rules and procedures for
a behavioral health service or supportive service eligible for

91



—163— SB 326

reimbursement pursuant to Title X1X or XXI of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396, et seq. and 1397aa, et seq.)
when such service is paid, in whole or in part, using the funding
established pursuant to this act.

(3) (A) Tomaximizefunding from other sources, acounty shall
seek reimbursement for a behavioral health service, supportive
service, housing intervention, or other related activity provided,
pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 5892, that is covered by or
can be paid from another available funding source, including other
mental health funds, substance use disorder funds, public and
private insurance, and other local, state, and federal funds. This
paragraph does not require counties to exhaust other funding
sources before using behavioral health services fund moneys to
pay for a service-related activity.

(B) A county shall make a good faith effort to enter into
contracts, single case agreements, or other agreements to obtain
reimbursement with health care service plans and disability
insurance plans, pursuant to Section 1374.72 of the Health and
Safety Code and Section 10144.5 of the Insurance Code.

(C) A county shall also submit requests for prior authorization
for services, request letters of agreement for payment as an
out-of-network provider, and pursue other means to obtain
reimbursement in accordance with state and federal laws.

(b) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (@), and except as provided
in paragraph (2), the Controller may use the funds created pursuant
to this part for loans to the General Fund as provided in Sections
16310 and 16381 of the Government Code. Any such loan shall
be repaid from the General Fund with interest computed at 110
percent of the Pooled Money Investment Account rate, with interest
commencing to accrue on the date the loan is made from the fund.
This subdivision does not authorize any transfer that would
interfere with the carrying out of the object for which these funds
were created.

(2) Thissubdivision does not apply to the Supportive Housing
Program Subaccount created by subdivision (f) of Section 5890
or any moneys paid by the California Health Facilities Financing
Authority to the Department of Housing and Community
Development as a service fee pursuant to a service contract
authorized by Section 5849.35.

91



SB 326 —164—

(c) CommencingJuly 1, 2012, on or beforethe 15th day of each
month, pursuant to a methodology provided by the State
Department of Health Care Services, the Controller shall distribute
to each Local Mental Health Service Fund established by counties
pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 5892, all unexpended and
unreserved funds on deposit as of the last day of the prior month
inthe Mental Health Services Fund, established pursuant to Section
5890, for the provision of programs and other related activities set
forth in Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800), Part 3.2
(commencing with Section 5830), Part 3.6 (commencing with
Section 5840), Part 3.9 (commencing with Section 5849.1), and
Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850).

(d) (1) Counties shall base their expenditures on the county
mental health program’sthree-year program and expenditure plan
or annual update, as required by Section 5847.

(2) Thissubdivision does not affect subdivision (a) or (b).

(e) Thisact shall not be construed to modify or reduce a health
plan’s obligations under the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan
Act of 1975.

(f) This section shall become operative immediately if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

(g) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 90. Section 5891 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5891. (a) (1) (A) Thefunding established pursuant tothisact
shall be utilized by countiesto expand mental health and substance
use disorder treatment services.

(B) These funds shall not be used to supplant existing state or
county funds utilized to provide mental health servicesor substance
use disorder treatment services.

(C) The state shall continue to provide financial support for
mental health and substance use disorder programs with not less
than the same entitlements, amounts of allocationsfrom the General
Fund or from the Local Revenue Fund 2011 in the State Treasury,
and formula distributions of dedicated funds as provided in the
last fiscal year which ended prior to the effective date of this act.

91



—165— SB 326

(D) The state shall not make a change to the structure of
financing mental health and substance use disorder treatment
services that increases a county’s share of costs or financial risk
for behavioral health services unless the state includes adequate
funding to fully compensate for such increased costs or financial
risk.

(E) These funds shall only be used to pay for the programs
authorized in Sections 5890 and 5892.

(F) These funds may not be used to pay for another program.

(G) These funds may not be loaned to the General Fund or
another fund of the state, a county general fund, or another county
fund for any purpose other than those authorized by Sections 5890
and 5892.

(2) To maximize federal financial participation in furtherance
of subdivision (d) of Section 5890, a county shall submit claims
for reimbursement to the State Department of Health Care Services
in accordance with applicable Medi-Cal rules and procedures for
a behavioral health service or supportive service eligible for
reimbursement pursuant to Title X1X or XXI of the federal Social
Security Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 1396, et seq. and 1397aa, et seq.)
when such service is paid, in whole or in part, using the funding
established pursuant to this act.

(3) (A) Tomaximizefunding from other sources, acounty shall
seek reimbursement for a behavioral health service, supportive
service, housing intervention, or other related activity provided,
pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 5892, that is covered by or
can be paid from another available funding source, including other
mental health funds, substance use disorder funds, public and
private insurance, and other local, state, and federal funds. This
paragraph does not require counties to exhaust other funding
sources before using behaviora health services fund moneys to
pay for aservice or related activity.

(B) A county shall make a good faith effort to enter into
contracts, single case agreements, or other agreements to obtain
reimbursement with health care service plans and disability
insurance plans, pursuant to Section 1374.72 of the Health and
Safety Code and Section 10144.5 of the Insurance Code.

(C) A county shall also submit requests for prior authorization
for services, request letters of agreement for payment as an

91



SB 326 — 166 —

out-of-network provider, and pursue other means to obtain
reimbursement in accordance with state and federal laws.

(4) (A) A county may report to the Department of Managed
Health Care or the Department of Insurance, as appropriate,
complaints about a health plan’s or a health insurer’s failure to
make a good faith effort to contract or enter into a single case
agreement or other agreement with the county.

(B) A county may also report to the Department of Managed
Health Care or the Department of Insurance, respectively, afailure
by a health plan or insurer to timely reimburse the county for
services the plan or insurer must cover as required by state or
federal law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1374.72 and
1374.721 of the Health and Safety Code and Sections 10144.5 and
10144.52 of the Insurance Code.

(C) Upon receipt of acomplaint from a county, the Department
of Managed Health Care or the Department of Insurance, as
applicable, shall timely investigate the complaint.

(b) (1) (A) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) and except as
provided in paragraph (2), the Controller may use the funds created
pursuant to this part for loans to the General Fund as provided in
Sections 16310 and 16381 of the Government Code.

(B) Those loans shall be repaid from the General Fund with
interest computed at 110 percent of the Pooled Money Investment
Account rate, with interest commencing to accrue on the date the
loan is made from the fund.

(C) This subdivision does not authorize a transfer that would
interfere with the carrying out of the object for which these funds
were created.

(2) This subdivision does not apply to the Supportive Housing
Program Subaccount created by subdivision (f) of Section 5890
or moneys paid by the California Heath Facilities Financing
Authority to the Department of Housing and Community
Development as a service fee pursuant to a service contract
authorized by Section 5849.35.

(c) CommencingJuly 1, 2012, on or beforethe 15th day of each
month, pursuant to a methodology provided by the State
Department of Health Care Services, the Controller shall distribute
to each Local Behavioral Health Service Fund established by
counties, pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 5892, all
unexpended and unreserved funds on deposit as of the last day of

91



— 167 — SB 326

the prior month in the Behavioral Health Services Fund, established
pursuant to Section 5890, for the provision of programs and other
related activities set forth in Section 5892.

(d) (1) A county shall baseitsexpenditureson the county mental
health and substance use disorder program’s integrated plan or
annua update asrequired by Section 5963.02 or intermittent update
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5963.03.

(2) Thissubdivision does not affect subdivision (a) or (b).

(e) Each year, the State Department of Health Care Services
shall post on its internet website the methodology used for
allocating revenue from the Behavioral Health Service Fund to
the counties.

(f) For purposes of this section, “behavioral health services’
shall have the meaning as defined in subdivision (k) of Section
5892.

(g) For purposes of this section, “substance use disorder” shall
have the meaning as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

(h) For purposes of this section, “substance use disorder
treatment services’ shall have the meaning as defined in
subdivision (c) of Section 5891.5.

(i) For purposesof thissection, “ supportive services’ shall have
the meaning as defined in subdivision (h) of Section 5887.

() Thisact shall not be construed to modify or reduce a health
plan’s obligations under the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan
Act of 1975.

(k) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 91. Section 5891.5 of the Welfare and I nstitutions Code
isamended to read:

5891.5. (a) (1) The programs in paragraphs (1) to (3),
inclusive, and paragraph (5) of subdivision (a) of Section 5890
may include substance use disorder treatment for children, adults,
and older adultswith cooccurring mental health and substance use
disorders who are dligible to receive mental health services
pursuant to those programs. The MHSA includes persons with a
serious mental disorder and a diagnosis of substance abuse in the
definition of persons who are eligible for MHSA services in
Sections 5878.2 and 5813.5, which reference paragraph (2) of
subdivision (b) of Section 5600.3.

91



SB 326 — 168 —

(2) Provision of substance use disorder treatment services
pursuant to this section shall comply with all applicable
requirements of the Mental Health Services Act.

(3) Treatment of cooccurring mental health and substance use
disorders shall be identified in a county’s three-year program and
expenditure plan or annual update, as required by Section 5847.

(b) (1) When a person being treated for cooccurring mental
health and substance use disorders pursuant to subdivision (a) is
determined to not need the mental health servicesthat are eligible
for funding pursuant to the MHSA, the county shall refer the person
receiving treatment to substance use disorder treatment services
in atimely manner.

(2) Funding established pursuant to the MHSA may be used to
assess whether a person has cooccurring mental health and
substance use disorders and to treat a person who is preliminarily
assessed to have cooccurring mental health and substance use
disorders, even when the person is later determined not to be
eligible for services provided with funding established pursuant
to the MHSA.

(c) A county shall report to the department, in a form and
manner determined by the department, both of the following:

(1) Thenumber of people assessed for cooccurring mental health
and substance use disorders.

(2) Thenumber of people assessed for cooccurring mental health
and substance use disorders who were ultimately determined to
have only a substance use disorder without another cooccurring
mental health condition.

(d) Thedepartment shall by January 1, 2022, and each January
1 thereafter, publish on its internet website a report summarizing
county activities pursuant to this section for the prior fiscal year.
Data shall be reported statewide and by county or groupings of
counties, as necessary to protect the private health information of
persons assessed.

(e) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department may implement, interpret, or make specific this
section by means of plan or county letters, information notices,
plan or provider bulletins, or other similar instructions, without
taking any further regulatory action.

91



—169— SB 326

(2) On or before July 1, 2025, the department shall adopt
regul ations necessary to implement this section in accordance with
the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340)
of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(f) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 92. Section 5891.5 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5891.5. (a) (1) Notwithstanding any other law, the programs
and services and supports in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of
subdivision (a) of Section 5892 may include substance use disorder
treatment services, as defined in this section for children, youth,
adults, and older adults.

(2) Notwithstanding Section 5830, the provision of housing
interventions to individual s with a substance use disorder shall be
optional for counties.

(3) Counties that provide substance use disorder treatment
services shall provide al forms of federal Food and Drug
Administration approved medications for addiction treatment.

(4) Funding established pursuant to the Behavioral Health
Services Act may be used to assess whether a person has a
substance use disorder and to treat a person prior to adiagnosis of
asubstance use disorder, even when the personislater determined
not to be eligible for services provided with funding established
pursuant to the Behavioral Health ServicesAct.

(5) Substance use disorder treatment services shall beidentified
in a county’s integrated plan or annual update, as required by
Section 5963.02.

(b) (1) A county shal report to the department data and
information regarding implementation of this section specified by
the department.

(2) Thedataandinformation shall bereportedinaform, manner,
and frequency determined by the department.

(c) (1) For purposes of this section, “substance use disorder”
means an adult, child, or youth who has at |least one diagnosis of
amoderate or severe substance use disorder from the most current
version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental
Disorders for Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders, with

91



SB 326 —170—

the  exception of  tobacco-related disorders  and
non-substance-related disorders.

(2) For purposes of this section, “substance use disorder
treatment services’ include harm reduction, treatment, and recovery
services, including federal Food and Drug Administration approved
medi cations.

(d) (1) The department shall, by January 1, 2022, and each
January 1 thereafter, publish on its internet website a report
summarizing county activities pursuant to this section for the prior
fiscal year.

(2) Datashall bereported statewide and by county or groupings
of counties, as necessary to protect the private health information
of persons assessed.

(e) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 93. Section 5892 of the Welfare and Institutions Codeis
amended to read:

5892. (@) Inorder to promote efficient implementation of this
act, the county shall use funds distributed from the Mental Health
Services Fund as follows:

(1) In the 2005-06, 200607, and 200708 fiscal years, 10
percent shall be placed in atrust fund to be expended for education
and training programs pursuant to Part 3.1 (commencing with
Section 5820).

(2) In the 2005-06, 2006-07, and 2007-08 fisca years, 10
percent for capital facilities and technological needs shall be
distributed to counties in accordance with aformula developed in
consultation with the County Behavioral Heath Directors
Association of Californiato implement plans developed pursuant
to Section 5847.

(3) Twenty percent of fundsdistributed to the counties pursuant
to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 shall be used for prevention and
early intervention programs in accordance with Part 3.6
(commencing with Section 5840).

(4) The expenditure for prevention and early intervention may
be increased in any county in which the department determines
that the increase will decrease the need and cost for additional
servicesto persons with severe mental illnessin that county by an
amount at least commensurate with the proposed increase.

91



—171— SB 326

(5 The balance of funds shall be distributed to county mental
health programsfor servicesto personswith severe mental illnesses
pursuant to Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) for the
children’s system of care and Part 3 (commencing with Section
5800) for the adult and older adult system of care. These services
may include housing assistance, as defined in Section 5892.5, to
the target population specified in Section 5600.3.

(6) Five percent of the total funding for each county mental
health program for Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800), Part
3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), and Part 4 (commencing
with Section 5850), shall be utilized for innovative programs in
accordance with Sections 5830, 5847, and 5848.

(b) (1) Inany fiscal year after the 2007-08 fiscal year, programs
for services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800)
and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) may include funds
for technological needs and capital facilities, human resource
needs, and a prudent reserve to ensure services do not have to be
significantly reduced in years in which revenues are below the
average of previous years. The total allocation for purposes
authorized by this subdivision shall not exceed 20 percent of the
average amount of funds allocated to that county for the previous
five fiscal years pursuant to this section.

(2) A county shall calculate an amount it establishes as the
prudent reserve for its Local Mental Health Services Fund, not to
exceed 33 percent of the average community services and support
revenue received for the fund in the preceding five years. The
county shall reassess the maximum amount of this reserve every
five years and certify the reassessment as part of the three-year
program and expenditure plan required pursuant to Section 5847.

(3 Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the State Department of Health Care Services may allow counties
to determine the percentage of funds to allocate across programs
created pursuant to Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) for
the children’s system of care and Part 3 (commencing with Section
5800) for the adult and older adult system of care for the 2020-21
and 202122 fiscal years by means of all-county letters or other
similar instructions without taking further regulatory action.

(c) The alocations pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b) shall
includefunding for annual planning costs pursuant to Section 5848.

91



SB 326 —172—

The total of these costs shall not exceed 5 percent of the total of
annual revenues received for the fund. The planning costs shall
include funds for county mental health programs to pay for the
costs of consumers, family members, and other stakeholders to
participate in the planning process and for the planning and
implementation required for private provider contracts to be
significantly expanded to provide additional services pursuant to
Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing
with Section 5850).

(d) Prior to making the allocations pursuant to subdivisions (a),
(b), and (c), funds shall be reserved for the costs for the State
Department of Heath Care Services, the California Behavioral
Health Planning Council, the Office of Statewide Health Planning
and Development, the Mental Heath Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, the State Department of Public Health,
and any other state agency to implement all duties pursuant to the
programs set forth in this section. These costs shall not exceed 5
percent of the total of annual revenues received for the fund. The
administrative costs shall include funds to assist consumers and
family membersto ensure the appropriate state and county agencies
give full consideration to concerns about quality, structure of
service delivery, or access to services. The amounts allocated for
administration shall include amounts sufficient to ensure adequate
research and evaluation regarding the effectiveness of services
being provided and achievement of the outcome measures set forth
in Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800), Part 3.6 (commencing
with Section 5840), and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850).
The amount of funds availablefor the purposes of this subdivision
in any fiscal year is subject to appropriation in the annual Budget
Act.

(e) In the 200405 fiscal year, funds shal be allocated as
follows:

(1) Forty-five percent for education and training pursuant to
Part 3.1 (commencing with Section 5820).

(2) Forty-five percent for capital facilities and technology needs
in the manner specified by paragraph (2) of subdivision (a).

(3) Five percent for local planning in the manner specified in
subdivision (c).

(4) Fivepercent for stateimplementation in the manner specified
in subdivision (d).

91



—173— SB 326

(f) Each county shall place all funds received from the State
Mental Health Services Fund in a local Mental Health Services
Fund. The Local Mental Health Services Fund balance shall be
invested consistent with other county funds and theinterest earned
on the investments shall be transferred into the fund. The earnings
on investment of these funds shall be available for distribution
from the fund in future fiscal years.

(g) All expenditures for county mental health programs shall
be consistent with a currently approved plan or update pursuant
to Section 5847.

(h) (1) Other thanfundsplaced in areserve in accordance with
an approved plan, any funds allocated to a county that have not
been spent for their authorized purpose within three years, and the
interest accruing on those funds, shall revert to the state to be
deposited into the Reversion Account, hereby established in the
fund, and available for other counties in future years, provided,
however, that funds, including interest accrued on those funds, for
capital facilities, technological needs, or education and training
may be retained for up to 10 years before reverting to the Reversion
Account.

(2) (A) If acounty receives approval from the Mental Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission of a plan for
innovative programs, pursuant to subdivision (€) of Section 5830,
the county’s funds identified in that plan for innovative programs
shall not revert to the state pursuant to paragraph (1) so long as
they are encumbered under the terms of the approved project plan,
including any subsequent amendments approved by the
commission, or until three years after the date of approval,
whichever is later.

(B) Subparagraph (A) applies to al plans for innovative
programs that have received commission approval and are in the
process at the time of enactment of the act that added this
subparagraph, and to al plans that receive commission approval
thereafter.

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), funds allocated to a county
with a population of less than 200,000 that have not been spent
for their authorized purpose within five years shall revert to the
state as described in paragraph (1).

(4) (A) Notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (2), if a county
with a population of less than 200,000 receives approval from the

91



SB 326 —174—

Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission
of a plan for innovative programs, pursuant to subdivision (e) of
Section 5830, the county’s funds identified in that plan for
innovative programs shall not revert to the state pursuant to
paragraph (1) so long as they are encumbered under the terms of
the approved project plan, including any subsequent amendments
approved by the commission, or until five years after the date of
approval, whichever is later.

(B) Subparagraph (A) applies to al plans for innovative
programs that have received commission approval and are in the
process at the time of enactment of the act that added this
subparagraph, and to all plans that receive commission approval
thereafter.

(i) Notwithstanding subdivision (h) and Section 5892.1, unspent
funds allocated to a county, and interest accruing on those funds,
which are subject to reversion asof July 1, 2019, and July 1, 2020,
shall be subject to reversion on July 1, 2021.

() If there are revenues available in the fund after the Mental
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission has
determined there are prudent reserves and no unmet needs for any
of the programs funded pursuant to this section, including all
purposes of the Prevention and Early Intervention Program, the
commission shall develop aplan for expenditures of these revenues
to further the purposes of this act and the Legislature may
appropriate these funds for any purpose consistent with the
commission’s adopted plan that furthers the purposes of this act.

(k) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall becomeinoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 94. Section 5892 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5892. (@) To promote efficient implementation of this act, the
county shall use funds distributed from the Mental Health Services
Fund asfollows:

(1) Twenty percent of fundsdistributed to the counties pursuant
to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 shall be used for prevention and
early intervention programs in accordance with Part 3.6
(commencing with Section 5840).

91



—175— SB 326

(2) The expenditure for prevention and early intervention may
be increased in a county in which the department determines that
theincrease will decrease the need and cost for additional services
to persons with severe mental illnessin that county by an amount
at least commensurate with the proposed increase.

(3) The balance of funds shall be distributed to county mental
health programsfor servicesto personswith severe mental illnesses
pursuant to Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) for the
children’s system of care and Part 3 (commencing with Section
5800) for the adult and older adult system of care. These services
may include housing assistance, as defined in Section 5892.5, to
the target population specified in Section 5600.3.

(4) Five percent of the total funding for each county mental
health program for Part 3 (commencing with Section 5800), Part
3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), and Part 4 (commencing
with Section 5850) shall be utilized for innovative programs in
accordance with Sections 5830, 5847, and 5963.03.

(b) (1) Programsfor services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing
with Section 5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850)
may include funds for technological needs and capital facilities,
human resource needs, and a prudent reserve to ensure services
do not have to be significantly reduced in yearsin which revenues
are below the average of previous years. The total alocation for
purposes authorized by this subdivision shall not exceed 20 percent
of the average amount of funds allocated to that county for the
previous five fiscal years pursuant to this section.

(2) A county shall calculate a maximum amount it establishes
as the prudent reserve for its Local Behavioral Health Services
Fund, not to exceed 33 percent of the average of the total funds
distributed to the county pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section
5891 in the preceding five years.

(3) A county with a population of less than 200,000 shall
cal culate a maximum amount it establishes as the prudent reserve
for its Local Behavioral Health Services Fund, not to exceed 25
percent of the average of the total funds distributed to the county
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 in the preceding five
years.

() Notwithstanding subdivision (a) of Section 5891, the
alocations pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b) shall include
funding for annual planning costs pursuant to Sections 5847 and

91



SB 326 — 176 —

5963.03. The total of these costs shall not exceed 5 percent of the
total of annual revenues received for the Local Behavioral Health
Services Fund. The planning costs shall include funds for county
mental health programs to pay for the costs of consumers, family
members, and other stakeholders to participate in the planning
process and for the planning and implementation required for
private provider contracts to be significantly expanded to provide
additional services pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with Section
5800) and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850).

(d) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) of Section 5891, the
allocations pursuant to subdivision (a) may include funding to
improve plan operations, quality outcomes, fiscal and
programmatic data reporting, and monitoring of subcontractor
compliance for all county behavioral health programs, including,
but not limited to, programs administered by aMedi-Cal behaviora
health delivery system, as defined in subdivision (i) of Section
14184.101, and programs funded by the Projects for Assistance
in Transition from Homelessness grant, the Community Mental
Health Services Block Grant, and other Substance Abuse and
Mental Health Services Administration grants.

(2) The total of these costs shall not exceed 2 percent of the
total of annual revenues received for the Local Behavioral Health
Services Fund.

(3) A county may commence use of funding pursuant to this
paragraph on July 1, 2025.

() (1) (A) Prior to making the alocations pursuant to
subdivisions (a), (b), (c), and (d), funds shall be reserved for state
directed purposes for the California Health and Human Services
Agency, the State Department of Hedth Care Services, the
Cdlifornia Behavioral Health Planning Council, the Department
of Health Care Access and Information, the Behavioral Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission, the State
Department of Public Health, and any other state agency.

(B) Thesecostsshall not exceed 5 percent of thetotal of annual
revenues received for the fund.

(C) Thecostsshall includefundsto assist consumersand family
members to ensure the appropriate state and county agencies give
full consideration to concerns about quality, structure of service
delivery, or access to services.

91



— 177 — SB 326

(D) The amounts allocated for state directed purposes shall
include amounts sufficient to ensure adequate research and
evaluation regarding the effectiveness of services being provided
and achievement of the outcome measures set forth in Part 3
(commencing with Section 5800), Part 3.6 (commencing with
Section 5840), and Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850).

(E) The amount of funds available for the purposes of this
subdivision in any fiscal year is subject to appropriation in the
annual Budget Act.

(2) Prior to making the allocations pursuant to subdivisions (a),
(b), (c), and (d), funds shall be reserved for the costs of the
Department of Health Care Access and Information to administer
a behavioral health workforce initiative in collaboration with the
California Health and Human Services Agency. Funding for this
purpose shall not exceed thirty-six million dollars. The amount of
funds available for the purposes of this subdivision in any fiscal
year is subject to appropriation in the annual Budget Act.

(f) Each county shall place all funds received from the State
Mental Health Services Fund in alocal Mental Health Services
Fund. The Local Mental Health Services Fund balance shall be
invested consistent with other county funds and theinterest earned
on the investments shall be transferred into the fund. The earnings
on investment of these funds shall be available for distribution
from the fund in future fiscal years.

(g) All expenditures for county mental health programs shall
be consistent with a currently approved plan or update pursuant
to Section 5847.

(h) (1) Other thanfundsplaced in areservein accordance with
an approved plan, any funds alocated to a county that have not
been spent for thelr authorized purpose within three years, and the
interest accruing on those funds, shall revert to the state to be
deposited into the Reversion Account, hereby established in the
fund, and available for other counties in future years, provided,
however, that funds, including interest accrued on those funds, for
capital facilities, technological needs, or education and training
may beretained for up to 10 years before reverting to the Reversion
Account.

(2) (A) If acounty receives approval from the Mental Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission of a plan for
innovative programs, pursuant to subdivision (€) of Section 5830,

91



SB 326 —178—

the county’s funds identified in that plan for innovative programs
shall not revert to the state pursuant to paragraph (1) so long as
they are encumbered under the terms of the approved project plan,
including any subsequent amendments approved by the
commission, or until three years after the date of approval,
whichever is later.

(B) Subparagraph (A) applies to al plans for innovative
programs that have received commission approval and are in the
process at the time of enactment of the act that added this
subparagraph, and to al plans that receive commission approval
thereafter.

(3 Notwithstanding paragraph (1), funds alocated to a county
with a population of less than 200,000 that have not been spent
for their authorized purpose within five years shall revert to the
state as described in paragraph (1).

(4) (A) Notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (2), if a county
with a population of less than 200,000 receives approval from the
Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission
of a plan for innovative programs, pursuant to subdivision (e) of
Section 5830, the county’s funds identified in that plan for
innovative programs shall not revert to the state pursuant to
paragraph (1) so long as they are encumbered under the terms of
the approved project plan, including any subsequent amendments
approved by the commission, or until five years after the date of
approval, whichever is later.

(B) Subparagraph (A) applies to all plans for innovative
programs that have received commission approval and are in the
process at the time of enactment of the act that added this
subparagraph, and to al plans that receive commission approval
thereafter.

(i) Notwithstanding subdivision (h) and Section 5892.1, unspent
funds allocated to a county, and interest accruing on those funds,
which are subject to reversion asof July 1, 2019, and July 1, 2020,
shall be subject to reversion on July 1, 2021.

(j) If there are revenues available in the fund after the State
Department of Health Care Services has determined there are
prudent reserves and no unmet needs for any of the programs
funded pursuant to this section, the department, in consultation
with counties, shall develop a plan for expenditures of these
revenues to further the purposes of this act and the Legidature

91



—179— SB 326

may appropriate these funds for any purpose consistent with the
department’s plan that furthers the purposes of this act.

(k) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

(1) This section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 95. Section 5892 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5892. (a) To promote efficient implementation of this act,
subject to subdivision (c), the county shall use funds distributed
from the Behavioral Health Services Fund as follows:

() (A) (i) Thirty percent of funds distributed to the counties
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 shall be used for
housing interventions programs pursuant to Part 3.2 (commencing
with Section 5830).

(if) Of the funds distributed pursuant to clause (i), 50 percent
shall be used for housing interventions for persons who are
chronically homeless, with afocus on those in encampments.

(i) Of thefundsdistributed to pursuant clause (i), no more than
25 percent may be used for capital development projects pursuant
to paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 5830.

(B) Commencing with the 2026-29 fiscal years county
integrated plan, pursuant to Section 5963.02, and ongoing
thereafter, for counties with a population of less than 200,000, the
State Department of Health Care Services shall establish criteria
and aprocessfor approving county requestsfor an exemption from
subparagraph (A) that considers factors including a county’s
homel ess popul ation, the number of individualsreceiving Medi-Cal
specialty behavioral health services or substance use disorder
treatment services in another county, and other factors as
determined by the State Department of Health Care Services. The
State Department of Health Care Services shall collaborate with
the California State Association of Counties and the County
Behavioral Heath Directors Association of California on
reasonable criteria for those reguests and a timely and efficient
exemption process. Requests for approval of an exemption under
this subparagraph shall be responded to, approved, or denied within

91



SB 326 — 180 —

30 days of receipt by the department, or shall otherwise be deemed
approved by the department.

(C) Commencing with the 2032-35 fiscal years county
integrated plan, pursuant to Section 5963.02, and ongoing
thereafter, the State Department of Health Care Services may
establish criteria and a process for approving county requests for
an exemption from subparagraph (A) that considersthe factors set
forth in subparagraph (B), regardless of the population size of the
county. The State Department of Health Care Services shall
collaborate with the California State Association of Counties and
the County Behavioral Health Directors Association of California
on reasonable criteriafor those requests and atimely and efficient
exemption process.

(2) (A) Thirty-five percent of the funds distributed to counties
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 shall be used for
full-service partnership programs pursuant to Part 4.1 (commencing
with Section 5887).

(B) Commencing with the 2032-35 fiscal years county
integrated plan, pursuant to Section 5963.02, and ongoing
thereafter, the State Department of Health Care Services may
establish criteria and a process for approving reguests for an
exemption from subparagraph (A) that considers factors such as
county population, client counts, and other factors as determined
by the State Department of Health Care Services. The State
Department of Health Care Services shall collaborate with the
California State A ssociation of Countiesand the County Behaviora
Health Directors Association of California on reasonable criteria
for those requests and atimely and efficient exemption process.

(C) Housing interventions provided to individuals enrolled in
full-service partnership programs shal be funded pursuant to
subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1).

(3) (A) Thirty-five percent of the funds distributed to counties
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 shall be used for the
following Behavioral Health Services and Supports:

(i) Services pursuant to Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850)
for the children’s system of care and Part 3 (commencing with
Section 5800) for the adult and older adult system of care,
excluding those services specified in paragraphs (1) and (2).

(if) Early intervention programs in accordance with Part 3.6
(commencing with Section 5840).

91



—181— SB 326

(iif) Outreach and engagement.

(iv) Workforce education and training.

(v) Capital facilities and technological needs.

(vi) Innovative behavioral health pilots and projects.

(B) (i) A county shall utilize at least 51 percent of Behavioral
Hedth Services and Supports funding for early intervention
programs.

(if) A county shall utilize at least 51 percent of the county’s
funding allocated for early intervention programs to serve
individuals who are 25 years of age and younger.

(iii) A county shall comply with other funding allocations
specified by the State Department of Health Care Servicesfor the
purposes listed in subparagraph (A).

(4) (A) A county may pilot and test innovative behavioral health
models of care programs or innovative promising practicesfor the
programs specified in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3).

(B) Thegoal of theseinnovative pilots and innovative promising
practicesisto build the evidence base for the effectiveness of new
statewide strategies.

(5) The programs established pursuant to paragraphs (1), (2),
(3), and (4) shall include services to address the needs of eligible
children and youth, 0 to 5 years of age, inclusive, transition age
youth, and foster youth.

(6) A county isonly obligated to fund the programs established
pursuant to paragraphs (1) to (4), inclusive, with the funds it
receives pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891.

(b) (1) A county shall establish and maintain a prudent reserve
to ensure county programs are able to continue to meet the needs
of children and youth, adults, and older adults participating in
housing intervention programs pursuant to paragraph (1) of
subdivision (a), full-service partnership programs pursuant to
paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), and receiving services pursuant
to clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (a),
during yearsinwhich revenuesfor the Behavioral Health Services
Fund are below recent averages adjusted by changes in the state
population and the California Consumer Price Index.

(2) Notwithstanding the allocation percentages specified in
paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of subdivision (&), a county may
transfer funds into the prudent reserve from housing intervention
programs pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a), full-service

91



SB 326 —182—

partnership programs pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (a),
and Behaviora Health Services and Supports pursuant to paragraph
(3) of subdivision (a).

(3) A county shall calculate a maximum amount it establishes
as the prudent reserve for its Local Behavioral Health Services
Fund, not to exceed 20 percent of the average of the total funds
distributed to the county pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section
5891 in the preceding five years.

(4) A county with a population of less than 200,000 shall
calculate a maximum amount it establishes as the prudent reserve
for its Local Behavioral Health Services Fund, not to exceed 25
percent of the average of the total funds distributed to the county
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891 in the preceding five
years.

(5) (A) A county shall assess the maximum amount of its
prudent reserve pursuant to paragraphs (3) and (4) every three
years and shall include a plan for the expenditure of funds
exceeding the maximum amount in the county’s integrated plan
required pursuant to Section 5963.02.

(B) A county shall spend funds exceeding the maximum amount
on programs and services authorized in paragraphs (1), (2), and
(3) of subdivision (a).

(6) (A) A county shall spend prudent reserve funds on the
programs and services authorized in paragraphs (1) and (3), and
clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (a).

(B) A county shall not spend prudent reserve funds for the
purposes specified in paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section
5830.

(© (1) A county may transfer up to 14 percent of thetotal funds
allocated to the county in afiscal year between one or more of the
purposes authorized in paragraphs (1), (2) and (3) of subdivision
(). A county shall not decrease the alocation for any one of the
purposes authorized in paragraph (1), (2) or (3) by more than 7
percent of the total funds allocated to the county in afiscal year.
County changes to the alocation percentages specified in
paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of subdivision (a) shall be subject to
the approval of the State Department of Health Care Services.

(2) A county changing its alocation percentages pursuant to
this subdivision does not relieve the county from the obligation to
comply with any applicable laws, including, but not limited to,

91



—183— SB 326

clauses (ii) and (iii) of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1), and
paragraphs (3) and (5), of subdivision (a).

(3) A county shall include proposed changes to the allocation
percentages in the county integrated plan pursuant to Section
5963.02, and shall consult with local stakeholders pursuant to
Section 5963.03.

(4) A county shall submit a request to shift funding allocation
to the State Department of Health Care Servicesfor approval after
fulfilling the integrated planning and local stakeholder consultation
requirements pursuant to Sections 5963.02 and 5963.03. The
county shall submit the request for approval in aform and manner,
and in accordance with timelines, prescribed by the department.
Counties shall provide any other information, records, and reports
that the department deems necessary for the purposes of this
subdivision. The State Department of Health Care Services shall
collaborate with the California State Association of Counties and
the County Behavioral Health Directors Association of California
on reasonable criteriafor those requests and atimely and efficient
approval process. Requests for approval of a shift under this
subparagraph shall be responded to, approved, or denied within
30 days of receipt by the department, or shall otherwise be deemed
approved by the department.

(A) The department shall review a county’s request based on
the county’s compliance with paragraphs (1) and (2) and
demonstration that the requested shift is responsive to local
priorities, based on, a aminimum, local dataand community input
in the planning process.

(B) The State Department of Health Care Services may approve
a proposed shift in funding allocations for the current integrated
planning period based upon data and information acounty submits
demonstrating the need for the adjustment.

(C) Unless an annua change is approved by the State
Department of Health Care Services, approved allocation
adjustments are irrevocabl e during the applicable three-year period
and acounty shall not adjust the allocation of fundsin the county’s
subsequent annual and intermittent updates to the county’s
integrated plan. The State Department of Health Care Services
shall collaborate with the California State Association of Counties
and the County Behaviora Health Directors Association on
reasonable criteria for such requests and a timely and efficient

91



SB 326 —184—

approval process. Requests for approval of a change under this
subparagraph shall be responded to, approved, or denied within
30 days of receipt by the department, or shall otherwise be deemed
approved by the department.

(d) The programs established pursuant to subdivision (a) shall
prioritize services for the following popul ations:

(1) Eligible adults and older adults, as defined in subdivision
(k), who satisfy one of the following:

(A) Arechronically homeless or experiencing homel essness or
are at risk of homelessness.

(B) Arein, or are at risk of being in, the justice system.

(C) Arereentering the community from prison or jail.

(D) Are at risk of conservatorship pursuant to Chapter 3
(commencing with Section 5350) of Part 1 of Division 5.

(E) Areat risk of institutionalization.

(2) Eligible children and youth, as defined in subdivision (k),
who satisfy one of the following:

(A) Arechronically homeless or experiencing homelessness or
are at risk of homelessness.

(B) Arein, or at risk of being in, the juvenile justice system.

(C) Are reentering the community from a youth correctional
facility.

(D) Arein the child welfare system pursuant to Section 300,
601, or 602.

(E) Areat risk of institutionalization.

() (1) (A) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) of Section 5891,
the alocations pursuant to subdivision (a) shall include funding
for annual planning costs pursuant to Sections 5963.02 and
5963.03.

(B) The total of these costs shall not exceed 5 percent of the
total of annual revenues received for the Local Behavioral Health
Services Fund.

(C) The planning costs shall include funds for county mental
health and substance use disorder programsto pay for the costs of
consumers, family members, and other stakeholdersto participate
in the planning process.

(2) (A) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) of Section 5891, the
allocations pursuant to subdivision (a) may include funding to
improve plan operations, quality outcomes, fiscal and
programmatic data reporting pursuant to Section 5963.04, and

91



—185— SB 326

monitoring of subcontractor compliance for all county behavioral
health programs, including, but not limited to, programs
administered by aMedi-Cal behaviora health delivery system, as
defined in subdivision (i) of Section 14184.101, and programs
funded by the Projects for Assistance in Transition from
Homelessness grant, the Community Mental Health Services Block
Grant, and other Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
Administration grants.

(B) Thetotal of the costsin subparagraph (A) shall not exceed
2 percent of the total of annual revenues received for the Local
Behavioral Health Services Fund. For counties with a population
of less than 200,000, the total of the costs in subparagraph (A)
shall not exceed 4 percent of the total annual revenues received
from the Local Behavioral Health Services Fund.

(C) A county may commence use of funding pursuant to this
paragraph on July 1, 2025.

(D) Notwithstanding any other law, new costs to implement
thisarticlethat exceed existing county obligationsand arein excess
of the funds provided by subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2) of
subdivision (e) shall be evaluated by the State Department of
Health Care Servicesfor inclusion in the Governor’s 2024-25 May
Revision. The department shall consult with the California State
Association of Counties and the County Behavioral Health
DirectorsAssociation of California, no later than March 15, 2024,
to evaluate the resources needed to implement this article.

(f) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (&) of Section 5891, prior
to making the allocations pursuant to subdivisions (a), (b), (d), and
(e), funds shall be reserved for:

(A) State directed purposes consistent with the Behavioral
Health ServicesAct, for the CaliforniaHealth and Human Services
Agency, State Department of Health Care Services, the California
Behavioral Health Planning Council, the Department of Health
Care Access and Information, the Behavioral Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission, the State Department
of Public Health, and any other state agency.

(B) The coststo assist consumers and family members so that
the appropriate state and county agencies give full consideration
to concerns about quality, structure of service delivery, or access
to services.

91



SB 326 — 186 —

(C) The costs for research and evauation regarding the
effectiveness of programs and services listed in subdivision (a)
and achievement of the outcome measures and metrics pursuant
to subdivision (d) of Section 5897.

(D) (i) Thecostsof the Department of Health Care Access and
Information to implement abehavioral health workforceinitiative.
The cost for thisinitiative shall be aminimum of 3 percent of the
total funds allocated pursuant to this subdivision.

(i) This initiative shall be developed in consultation with
stakeholders, including, but not limited to, behavioral health
professionals, counties, behaviora health education and training
programs, and behavioral health consumer advocates. Theinitiative
shall focus on efforts to build and support the workforce to meet
the need to provide holistic and quality services and support the
development and implementation of strategies for training,
supporting, and retaining the county behavioral health workforce
and noncounty contracted behavioral health workforce, including
efforts to increase the racia, ethnic, and linguistic diversity of
behavioral health providersand increase accessto behaviora health
providersin geographically underserved areas.

(ili) A portion of theworkforceinitiative may focus on providing
technical assistance and support to county contracted providersto
implement and maintain workforce provisions that support the
stabilization and retention of the broad behavioral health workforce.

(iv) A portion of theworkforceinitiative may focuson providing
technical assistance and support to county and contracted providers
to maximize the use of peer support specialists.

(E) The costs for the State Department of Public Health to
provide popul ation-based mental heal th and substance use disorder
prevention programs. A minimum of 4 percent of the total funds
allocated pursuant to this subdivision shall be distributed to the
State Department of Public Health for this purpose. Of these funds,
at least 51 percent shall be used for programs serving popul ations
who are 25 years of age or younger. The State Department of
Public Health shall consult with the State Department of Health
Care Services and the Behavioral Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission to ensure the provision of these
programs.

91



— 187 — SB 326

(i) Population-based prevention programsare activitiesdesigned
to reduce the prevalence of mental health and substance use
disorders and resulting conditions.

(if) Population-based prevention programs shall incorporate
evidence-based promising or community-defined evidence practices
and meet one or more of the following conditions:

(I) Target the entire population of the state, county, or particular
community to reduce the risk of individuals developing a mental
health or substance use disorder.

(I1) Target specific populations at elevated risk for a mental
health, substance misuse, or substance use disorder.

(111) Reduce stigma associated with seeking help for mental
health challenges and substance use disorders.

(IV) Target populationsdisproportionately impacted by systemic
racism and discrimination.

(V) Prevent suicide, self-harm, or overdose.

(iii) Population-based prevention programs may beimplemented
statewide or in community settings.

(iv) Population-based prevention programs shall not includethe
provision of early intervention, diagnostic, and treatment for
individuals.

(v) Population-based prevention programs shall be provided on
a schoolwide or classroom basis and may be provided by a
community-based organization off campus or on school grounds.

(vi) School-based prevention supports and programs shall be
provided at a school site or arranged for by a school on a
schoolwide or classroom basis and shall not provide services and
supportsfor individuas. These supports and programs may include,
but are not limited to:

(I) School-based health centers, student wellness centers, or
student wellbeing centers.

(I1) Activities, including, but not limited to, group coaching and
consultation, designed to prevent substance misuse, increase
mindfulness, self-regulation, development of protective factors,
calming strategies, and communication skills.

(111) Integrated or embedded school-based programs designed
to reduce stigma associated with seeking help for mental health
challenges and substance use disorders.

(V) Student mental health first aid programs designed to
identify and prevent suicide or overdose.

91



SB 326 — 188 —

(V) Integrated training and systems of support for teachers and
school administrators designed to mitigate suspension and
expulsion practices and assist with classroom management.

(vii) Early childhood popul ation-based prevention programsfor
children 0to 5 years of age, inclusive, shall be provided in arange
of settings.

(viii) Funding under this provision shall comply with Section
5891 and shall be used to strengthen popul ation-based strategies
and not supplant funding for services and supports for which
ongoing funding is available through Children and Youth
Behavioral Health Initiative or other sources.

(F) TheBehavioral Health ServicesAct Innovation Partnership
Fund as provided for in Section 5845.1. A maximum of twenty
million dollars ($20,000,000) shall be deposited into the fund
annually, for fiscal years 202627 to 203031, inclusive. Thereafter
funding shall be determined through the annual budget act.

(G) At its discretion, the commission may utilize funding
received in support of the Mental Health Wellness Act to support
this section, consistent with subparagraph (F) of paragraph (2) of
subdivision (g), and subdivision (h), of Section 5848.5.

(2) The costs for the purposes specified in paragraph (1) shall
not exceed 10 percent of the total of annual revenues received for
the State Behavioral Health Services Fund. The amount of funds
available for the purposes of this subdivision in any fiscal year is
subject to appropriation in the annual Budget Act.

(g) Each county shall place all funds received from the State
Behavioral Health Services Fund in a local Behavioral Health
Services Fund. The Local Behaviora Health Services Fund balance
shall beinvested consistent with other county funds and the interest
earned on the investments shall be transferred into the fund. The
earnings on investment of these funds shall be available for
distribution from the fund in future fiscal years.

(h) All expendituresfor county behavioral health programsshall
be consistent with a currently approved county integrated plan or
annual update pursuant to Section 5963.02 or an intermittent update
prepared pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5963.03.

(i) (1) Other than funds placed in areserve in accordance with
an approved plan, any funds alocated to a county that have not
been spent for their authorized purpose within three years, and the
interest accruing on those funds, shall revert to the state to be

91



—189— SB 326

deposited into the Reversion Account, hereby established in the
fund, and available for other counties in future years, provided,
however, that funds, including interest accrued on those funds, for
capital facilities, technological needs, or education and training
may be retained for up to 10 years before reverting to the Reversion
Account.

(2) (A) TheController shall revert funds by offsetting amounts
from each monthly distribution to a county’s Local Behavioral
Health Service Fund pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 5891,
until the full amount of the reverted funds has been offset. The
reverted funds shall be deposited into the Reversion Account for
use, consistent with this section and Sections 5890, 5891 and
5891.5, as determined by the State Department of Health Care
Services.

(B) Funds that have been reverted that are owed to a county as
aresult of an audit adjustment, or for other reasons, shall be paid
from the Reversion Account. If the balance of funds in the
Reversion Account isinadequate, funds owed to a county shall be
offset from the monthly distributions to other counties pursuant
to subdivision (c) of Section 5891, based on a methodology
provided by the State Department of Health Care Services. Owed
funds shall be paid to a county in the monthly distribution pursuant
to subdivision (c) of Section 5891.

(C) If the State Department of Health Care Services withholds
funds from a monthly distribution to a county pursuant to
subdivision (e) of Section 5963.04, funds shall be reverted first
and the remaining balance shall be withheld.

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), funds allocated to a county
with a population of less than 200,000 that have not been spent
for their authorized purpose within five years shall revert to the
state as described in paragraph (1).

() If there are revenues available in the fund after the State
Department of Health Care Services has determined there are
prudent reserves and no unmet needs for any of the programs
funded pursuant to this section, the department, in consultation
with counties, shal develop a plan for expenditures of these
revenues to further the purposes of this act and the Legislature
may appropriate these funds for any purpose consistent with the
department’s plan that furthers the purposes of this act.

91



SB 326 — 190 —

(k) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall
apply:

(1) “Behavioral health services’ means mental health services
and substance use disorder treatment services, asdefined in Section
5891.5.

(2) “Chronically homeless’ means an individual or family that
is chronically homeless, as defined in Section 11360 of Title 42
of the United States Code, or as otherwise modified or expanded
by the State Department of Health Care Services.

(3) “Experiencing homelessnessor areat risk of homel essness’
means people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness, as
defined in Section 91.5 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, or as otherwise defined by the State Department of
Health Care Services for purposes of the Medi-Cal program.

(4) “Outreach and engagement” means activities to reach,
identify, and engage individuals and communitiesin the behavioral
health system, including peers and families, and to reduce
disparities. Counties may include evidence-based practices and
community-defined evidence practicesin the provision of activities.

(5) “Workforce education and training” includes, but is not
limited to, the following for the county workforce:

(A) Workforcerecruitment, development, training, and retention.

(B) Professional licensing and/or certification testing and fees.

(C) Loan repayment.

(D) Retention incentives and stipends.

(E) Internship and apprenticeship programs.

(F) Continuing education.

(G) Efforts to increase the racial, ethnic, and geographic
diversity of the behavioral health workforce.

(6) “Community-defined evidence practices’ means an
alternative or complement to evidence-based practices, that offer
culturally anchored interventions that reflect the val ues, practices,
histories, and lived-experiences of the communities they serve.
These practices come from the community and the organizations
that serve them and are found to yield positive results as determined
by community consensus over time.

(7) (A) “Eligible children and youth” means persons who are
25 years of age or under, including early childhood or transition
age youth who do either of the following:

91



—191— SB 326

(i) Meet the criteria specified in subdivision (d) of Section
14184.402, notwithstanding age limitations.

(if) Have asubstance use disorder, as defined in subdivision (c)
of Section 5891.5.

(B) Eligible children and youth are not required to be enrolled
in the Medi-Cal program.

(8) (A) “Eligible adults and older adults’ means persons who
are 26 years of age or older who do either of the following:

(i) Meet the criteria specified in subdivision (c) of Section
14184.402.

(if) Have asubstance use disorder, as defined in subdivision (¢)
of Section 5891.5.

(B) Eligible adults and older adults are not required to be
enrolled in the Medi-Cal program.

() This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 96. Section 5892.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5892.1. (a) All unspent funds subject to reversion pursuant to
subdivision (h) of Section 5892 as of July 1, 2017, are deemed to
have been reverted to the fund and reallocated to the county of
origin for the purposes for which they were originally allocated.

(b) (1) The department shall, on or before July 1, 2018, in
consultation with counties and other stakeholders, prepare areport
to the Legidature identifying the amounts that were subject to
reversion prior to July 1, 2017, including to which purposes the
unspent funds were allocated pursuant to Section 5892.

(2) Priortothe preparation of the report referenced in paragraph
(1), the department shall provide to counties the amounts it has
determined are subject to reversion, and provide a process for
counties to appeal this determination.

(©) (1) ByJduly 1, 2018, each county with unspent funds subject
to reversion that are deemed reverted and reallocated pursuant to
subdivision (a) shall prepare a plan to expend these funds on or
before July 1, 2020. The plan shall be submitted to the commission
for review.

(2) A county with unspent funds that are deemed reverted and
reallocated pursuant to subdivision (a) that has not prepared and
submitted a plan to the commission pursuant to paragraph (1) as

91



SB 326 —192—

of January 1, 2019, shall remit the unspent funds to the state
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (h) of Section 5892 no
later than July 1, 20109.

(d) Fundsincluded in the plan required pursuant to subdivision
(c) that are not spent as of July 1, 2020, shall revert to the state
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (h) of Section 5892.

(e) Notwithstanding subdivision (d), innovation fundsincluded
in the plan required pursuant to subdivision (c) that are not spent
by July 1, 2020, or the end of the project plan approved by the
Mental Health Service Oversight and Accountability Commission
pursuant to subdivision (€) of Section 5830, whichever is later,
shall revert to the state pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 5892.

() (1) Therequirement for submitting areport imposed under
subdivision (b) isinoperative on July 1, 2022, pursuant to Section
10231.5 of the Government Code.

(2) A report to be submitted pursuant to subdivision (b) shall
be submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

(g9) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking any further regulatory action, may
implement, interpret, or make specific this section, Section 5899.1,
and subdivision (h) of Section 5892, by means of all-county letters
or other similar instructions, until applicable regulations are
adopted in accordance with Section 5898, or until July 1, 2019,
whichever occurs first. The al-county letters or other similar
instructions shall be issued only after the department provides the
opportunity for public participation and comments.

(h) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 97. Section 5892.1 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5892.1. (a) All unspent funds subject to reversion pursuant to
subdivision (i) of Section 5892 as of July 1, 2017, are deemed to
have been reverted to the fund and reallocated to the county of
origin for the purposes for which they were originally allocated.

(b) (1) The department shall, on or before July 1, 2018, in
consultation with counties and other stakeholders, prepare areport

91



—193— SB 326

to the Legidature identifying the amounts that were subject to
reversion prior to July 1, 2017, including to which purposes the
unspent funds were allocated pursuant to Section 5892.

(2) Priortothe preparation of the report referenced in paragraph
(1), the department shall provide to counties the amounts it has
determined are subject to reversion and provide a process for
counties to appeal this determination.

(©) (1) ByJduly 1, 2018, each county with unspent funds subject
to reversion that are deemed reverted and reallocated pursuant to
subdivision (a) shall prepare a plan to expend these funds on or
before July 1, 2020. The plan shall be submitted to the commission
for review.

(2) A county with unspent funds that are deemed reverted and
reallocated pursuant to subdivision (a) that has not prepared and
submitted a plan to the commission pursuant to paragraph (1) as
of January 1, 2019, shall remit the unspent funds to the state
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 5892 no
later than July 1, 2019.

(d) Fundsincluded in the plan required pursuant to subdivision
(c) that are not spent as of July 1, 2020, shall revert to the state
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 5892.

(e) Notwithstanding subdivision (d), innovation fundsincluded
in the plan required pursuant to subdivision (c) that are not spent
by July 1, 2020, or the end of the project plan approved by the
Behavioral Health Service Oversight and Accountability
Commission pursuant to subdivision (e) of Section 5830, whichever
is later, shall revert to the state pursuant to subdivision (h) of
Section 5892.

() (1) Therequirement for submitting areport imposed under
subdivision (b) isinoperative on July 1, 2022, pursuant to Section
10231.5 of the Government Code.

(2) A report to be submitted pursuant to subdivision (b) shall
be submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

(9) (1) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code,
the department, without taking further regulatory action, may
implement, interpret, or make specific this section, Section 5899.1,
and subdivision (h) of Section 5892 by means of all-county letters
or other similar instructions until applicable regul ations are adopted

91



SB 326 —194—

in accordance with Section 5898 or until July 1, 2019, whichever
occursfirst.

(2) The al-county letters or other similar instructions shall be
issued only after the department provides the opportunity for public
participation and comments.

(h) This section shall be operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 98. Section 5892.3 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5892.3. (a) There is hereby created a Behaviora Health
ServicesAct Revenue Stability Workgroup to assess year-over-year
fluctuations in tax revenues generated by the Behavioral Health
ServicesAct, in recognition of the need for areliable strategy for
short- and long-term fiscal stability, commencing no later than
June 30, 2024.

(b) The workgroup shall develop and recommend solutions to
reduce Behavioral Health Services Act revenue volatility and to
propose appropriate prudent reserve levels to support the
sustainability of county programs and services.

(©) (1) TheCaliforniaHeath and Human ServicesAgency and
the State Department of Health Care Services shall jointly convene
and lead the workgroup.

(2) Members of the workgroup shall serve without
compensation. Members shall include representatives from the
following entities:

(A) Behavioral Health Services Oversight and Accountability
Commission.

(B) Legidative Analyst’s Office.

(C) County Behavioral Hedth Director's Association of
California.

(D) Cdlifornia State Association of Counties, including both
urban and rural county representatives.

(3) TheCaliforniaDepartment of Finance may consult with the
workgroup, as needed, to provide technical assistance.

(d) The workgroup shal review and analyze current and
historical revenues generated pursuant to the Mental Health
Services Act and the Behavioral Health Services Act and current
and historical prudent reserve levels to develop the
recommendations specified in subdivision (b).

91



—195— SB 326

() Onor before June 30, 2025, the CaliforniaHea th and Human
ServicesAgency and the State Department of Health Care Services
shall submit areport that includes its recommendations specified
in subdivision (b) to the Legidlature and the Governor’s Office.

(f) The workgroup may meet as often as necessary, as
determined by the members of the workgroup, until the workgroup
isdisbanded upon submission of the report specified in subdivision
(b).

(g) Prudent reserve requirements specified in this subdivision
may be changed, and requirements to mitigate Behavioral Health
Services Act revenue volatility and improve fiscal stability may
be developed, based upon recommendations made by the
Behavioral Health Services Act Revenue Stability Workgroup
pursuant to Section 5892.3.

(h) TheCaliforniaHealth and Human ServicesAgency and the
State Department of Health Care Services may jointly reconvene
theworkgroup, if at any point the recommended revenue volatility
strategy and prudent reserve requirements no longer adequately
support the sustainability of county programs and services given
the year-over-year fluctuations in tax revenues generated by the
Behavioral Health ServicesAct.

SEC. 99. Section 5892.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5892.5. (a) (1) TheCadiforniaHous ng FinanceAgency, with
the concurrence of the State Department of Health Care Services,
shall release unencumbered Mental Health Services Fund moneys
dedicated to the Mental Health ServicesAct housing program upon
the written request of the respective county. The county shall use
these Mental Health Services Fund moneys rel eased by the agency
to provide housing assistance to the target populations who are
identified in Section 5600.3.

(2) For purposes of this section, “housing assistance” means
each of the following:

(A) Rental assistance or capitalized operating subsidies.

(B) Security deposits, utility deposits, or other move-in cost
assistance.

(C) Utility payments.

(D) Moving cost assistance.

91



SB 326 — 196 —

(E) Capital fundingto build or rehabilitate housing for homeless,
mentally ill personsor mentally ill personswho are at risk of being
homeless.

(b) For purposes of administering those funds released to a
respective county pursuant to subdivision (a), the county shall
comply with all of the requirements described inthe Mental Health
Services Act, including, but not limited to, Sections 5664, 5847,
subdivision (h) of Section 5892, and 5899.

(o) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 100. Section 58925 is added to the Welfare and
Institutions Code, to read:

5892.5. (@) (1) TheCadiforniaHousing FinanceAgency, with
the concurrence of the State Department of Health Care Services,
shall release unencumbered Behavioral Heath Services Fund
moneys dedicated to the Mental Health Services Act housing
program upon the written request of the respective county.

(2) Thecounty shall usethese Behavioral Health Services Fund
moneys released by the agency to provide housing interventions
pursuant to Section 5830.

(b) For purposes of administering those funds released to a
respective county pursuant to subdivision (a), the county shall
comply with al of the requirements described in the Behavioral
Health Services Act, including, but not limited to, Section 5664,
Section 5963.02, subdivision (g) of Section 5892, and Section
5963.04.

(c) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 101. Section 5893 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

5893. (a) Inany year in which the funds available exceed the
amount allocated to counties, such funds shall be carried forward
to the next fiscal year to be available for distribution to counties
in accordance with Section 5892 in that fiscal year.

(b) All funds deposited into the Mental Health Services Fund
shall be invested in the same manner in which other state funds

91



— 197 — SB 326

areinvested. Thefund shall beincreased by its share of the amount
earned on investments.

(c) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 102. Section 5893 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

5893. (@) Inayear that the funds available exceed the amount
allocated to counties, the excess funds shall be carried forward to
the next fiscal year to be available for distribution to counties in
accordance with Section 5892 in that fiscal year.

(b) (1) All fundsdepositedintothe Behavioral Health Services
Fund shall be invested in the same manner that other state funds
areinvested.

(2) Thefund shall beincreased by its share of the amount earned
on investments.

(c) This section shal become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 103. Section 5895 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5895. (@) If any provisionsof Part 3 (commencing with Section
5800) or Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850) are repealed or
modified so the purposes of this act cannot be accomplished, the
funds in the Mental Health Services Fund shall be administered
in accordance with those sections asthey read on January 1, 2004.

(b) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 104. Section 5897 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

5897. (a) Notwithstanding any other state law, the State
Department of Health Care Services shall implement the mental
health services provided by Part 3 (commencing with Section
5800), Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), and Part 4
(commencing with Section 5850) through contracts with county
mental health programs or counties acting jointly. A contract may
be exclusive and may be awarded on a geographic basis. For

91



SB 326 — 198 —

purposes of this section, acounty mental health program includes
acity receiving funds pursuant to Section 5701.5.

(b) Two or more counties acting jointly may agree to deliver or
subcontract for the delivery of those mental health services. The
agreement may encompass all or any part of the mental health
services provided pursuant to these parts. Any agreement between
counties shall delineate each county’s responsibilities and fiscal
liability.

(c) The department shall implement the provisions of Part 3
(commencing with Section 5800), Part 3.2 (commencing with
Section 5830), Part 3.6 (commencing with Section 5840), and Part
4 (commencing with Section 5850) through the county mental
health services performance contract, as specified in Chapter 2
(commencing with Section 5650) of Part 2.

(d) The department shall conduct program reviews of
performance contracts to determine compliance. Each county
performance contract shall be reviewed at least once every three
years, subject to available funding for this purpose.

(e) When a county mental health program is not in compliance
with its performance contract, the department may request a plan
of correction with a specific timeline to achieve improvements.
The department shall post on its internet website any plans of
correction requested and the related findings.

(f) Contracts awarded by the State Department of Health Care
Services, the State Department of Public Health, the California
Behavioral Health Planning Council, the Office of Statewide Hedlth
Panning and Development, and the Mental Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission pursuant to Part 3
(commencing with Section 5800), Part 3.1 (commencing with
Section 5820), Part 3.2 (commencing with Section 5830), Part 3.6
(commencing with Section 5840), Part 3.7 (commencing with
Section 5845), Part 4 (commencing with Section 5850), and Part
4.5 (commencing with Section 5890), may be awarded in the same
manner in which contracts are awarded pursuant to Section 5814
and the provisions of subdivisions (g) and (h) of Section 5814 shall
apply to those contracts.

(g) For purposes of Section 14712, the alocation of funds
pursuant to Section 5892 that are used to provide services to
Medi-Cal beneficiaries shall beincluded in cal culating anticipated
county matching funds and the transfer to the State Department

91



—199— SB 326

of Health Care Services of the anticipated county matching funds
needed for community mental health programs.

(h) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 105. Section 5897 isadded to the Welfare and I nstitutions
Code, to read:

5897. (@) (1) Notwithstanding any other state law, the State
Department of Health Care Services shall implement the programs
and services specified in subdivision (a) of Section 5892, and
related activities, through contracts with acounty or counties acting
jointly.

(2) A contract may be exclusive and may be awarded on a
geographic basis.

(3) For purposes of this section, a “county” includes a city
receiving funds pursuant to Section 5701.5.

(b) (1) Two or more countiesacting jointly may agreeto deliver
or subcontract for the delivery of programs and services pursuant
to subdivision (a) of Section 5892.

(2) Theagreement may encompassall or part of these programs
and services.

(3) Anagreement between countiesshall delineate each county’s
responsibilities and fiscal liability.

(c) The department shall contract with counties, or counties
acting jointly pursuant to subdivision (a), through the county
performance contract as specified in Chapter 2 (commencing with
Section 5650) of Part 2.

(d) (1) The department shall conduct program reviews of
performance contracts to determine compliance, including
compliance with Sections 5963.02 and 5963.04.

(2) Each county performance contract shall bereviewed at |east
once every three years, subject to available funding for this
purpose.

() (1) If a county behavioral health department is not in
compliance with its performance contract, the department may
request a plan of correction with a specific timeline to achieve
improvements and take administrative action, including, but not
limited to, the temporary withholding of funds and the imposition
of monetary sanctions pursuant to Section 5963.04.

91



SB 326 — 200 —

(2) Thedepartment shall post plans of correction requested and
the related findings on its internet website.

(f) Contracts awarded by the State Department of Health Care
Services, the State Department of Public Health, the California
Behavioral Health Planning Council, the Department of Health
Care Access and Information, the Behavioral Health Services
Oversight and Accountability Commission and the California
Health and Human Services Agency to implement programs and
services set forth in subdivision (&) of Section 5892 and programs
pursuant to Part 3.1 (commencing with Section 5820) may be
awarded in the same manner that contracts are awarded pursuant
to Section 5814, and the provisions of subdivisions (g) and (h) of
Section 5814 shall apply to those contracts.

(g) For purposes of Section 14712, the alocation of funds
pursuant to Section 5892 that are used to provide services to
Medi-Cal beneficiaries shall beincluded in cal culating anticipated
county matching funds and the transfer to the State Department
of Health Care Services of the anticipated county matching funds
needed for community mental health programs.

(h) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 106. Section 5898 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
isamended to read:

5898. (@) The State Department of Health Care Services, in
consultation with the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission, shall develop regulations, as
necessary, for the State Department of Health Care Services, the
Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission,
or designated state and local agencies to implement this act.
Regulations adopted pursuant to this section shall be developed
with the maximum feasible opportunity for public participation
and comments.

(b) If amendments to the Menta Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 107. Section 5898 isadded to the Welfare and Institutions
Code, to read:

91



—201— SB 326

5898. (a) (1) The State Department of Health Care Services
shall develop regulations, as necessary, to implement this act.

(2) Regulations adopted pursuant to this section shall be
developed with the maximum feasible opportunity for public
participation and comments.

(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

SEC. 108. Section 5899 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
is amended to read:

5899. (a) (1) The State Department of Health Care Services,
in consultation with the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission and the County Behavioral Health
Directors Association of California, shall develop and administer
instructions for the Annual Mental Health Services Act Revenue
and Expenditure Report.

(2) Theinstructions shall include a requirement that the county
certify the accuracy of this report.

(3) With the exception of expenditures and receipts related to
the capital facilities and technology needs component described
in paragraph (6) of subdivision (d), each county shall adhere to
uniform accounting standards and procedures that conform to the
Generaly Accepted Accounting Principles prescribed by the
Controller pursuant to Section 30200 of the Government Code
when accounting for receipts and expenditures of Mental Health
ServicesAct (MHSA) fundsin preparing the report.

(4) Counties shall report receipts and expenditures related to
capital facilities and technology needs using the cash basis of
accounting, which recognizes expenditures at the time payment is
made.

(5) Each county shall electronically submit the report to the
department and to the Mental Health Services Oversight and
Accountability Commission.

(6) Thedepartment and the commission shall annually post each
county’s report in atext-searchable format on its internet website
in atimely manner.

(b) The department, in consultation with the commission and
the County Behavioral Health DirectorsAssociation of California,
shall revise the instructions described in subdivision (a) by July

91



SB 326 —202—

1, 2017, and as needed thereafter, to improve the timely and
accurate submission of county revenue and expenditure data.

(c) The purpose of the Annua Mental Health Services Act
Revenue and Expenditure Report is as follows:

(1) Identify the expenditures of MHSA funds that were
distributed to each county.

(2) Quantify the amount of additional funds generated for the
mental health system as aresult of the MHSA.

(3) Identify unexpended funds and interest earned on MHSA
funds.

(4) Determinereversion amounts, if applicable, from prior fiscal
year distributions.

(d) Thisreport is intended to provide information that allows
for the evaluation of all of the following:

(1) Children’s systems of care.

(2) Prevention and early intervention strategies.

(3) Innovative projects.

(4) Workforce education and training.

(5 Adultsand older adults systems of care.

(6) Capital facilities and technology needs.

(e) If a county does not submit the annual revenue and
expenditure report described in subdivision (a) by the required
deadline, the department may withhold MHSA funds until the
reports are submitted.

(f) A county shall also report the amount of MHSA funds that
were spent on mental health services for veterans.

(g) By October 1, 2018, and by October 1 of each subsequent
year, the department shall, in consultation with counties, publish
on itsinternet website areport detailing funds subject to reversion
by county and by originally alocated purpose. The report also
shall include the date on which the funds will revert to the Mental
Health Services Fund.

(h) If amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are
approved by the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary
election, this section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2026,
and as of January 1, 2027, is repealed.

SEC. 109. Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 5963) isadded
to Part 7 of Division 5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, to
read:

91



—203— SB 326

CHAPTER 3. BEHAVIORAL HEALTH MODERNIZATION ACT
Article 2. Behavioral Health Planning and Reporting

5963. (@) It is the intent of the Legidature that this article
establish the Integrated Plan for Behavioral Health Services and
Outcomes, which each county shall develop every three years to
include all of the following:

(1) A demonstration of how the county will utilize variousfunds
for behavioral health services to deliver high-quality, culturally
responsive, and timely care along the continuum of servicesin the
least restrictive setting from prevention and wellness in schools
and other settingsto community-based outpatient care, residential
care, crisis care, acute care, and housing services and supports.

(2) A demonstration of how the county will use Behavioral
Health Services Act funds to prioritize addressing the needs of
those who meet both of the following:

(A) Chronicaly  homeless, experiencing  unsheltered
homelessness, or are at risk of homelessness, are incarcerated or
at risk of being incarcerated, are reentering the community from
prison, jail, or a correctional facility, or at risk of
ingtitutionalization, conservatorship, or arein the child welfare or
adult protective system.

(B) The criteriafor eligible adults and older adults, as defined
in Section 5892, or for eligible children and youth, as defined in
Section 5892.

(3) A demonstration of how the county will strategically invest
in early intervention and advancing behavioral health innovation.

(4) A demonstration of how the county has considered other
local program planning effortsin the development of theintegrated
plan to maximize opportunities to leverage funding and services
from other programs, including federal funding, Medi-Cal managed
care, and commercial heath plans.

(5) A demonstration of how the county will support and retain
a robust, diverse county and noncounty contracted behavioral
health workforce to achieve the statewide and local behavioral
health outcome goals.

(6) A development process in partnership with local
stakeholders.

91



SB 326 —204—

(7) A set of measures used to track progress and hold counties
accountable in meeting specific outcomes and goas of the
integrated plan, including outcomes and goals that reduce
disparities.

(8) Information for the state to consider, if necessary, to
recommend changes to the county’s integrated plan or requiring
sanctions to a county’s Behavioral Health Services Act funding
asaresult of acounty not meeting its obligations or state outcome
metrics.

(b) For purposes of thisarticle, the following definitions apply:

(1) “Chronically homeless’ means an individual or family that
is chronically homeless, as defined in Section 11360 of Title 42
of the United States Code, or as otherwise modified or expanded
by the State Department of Health Care Services.

(2) “Department” means the State Department of Health Care
Services.

(3) “Experiencing homelessnessor areat risk of homel essness’
means people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness, as
defined in Section 91.5 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, or as otherwise defined by the department.

(4) “Integrated plan” means the Integrated Plan for Behavioral
Health Services and Outcomes required by this section.

(c) Notwithstanding any other law, new and ongoing county
and behaviora health agency administrative costs to implement
thisarticle and Section 14197.71, any costs for plan development
required under this article that exceed the amounts set forth in
subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (e) of Section
5892, and any costsfor reporting required by thisarticle that exceed
the amounts set forth in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2) of
subdivision (e) of Section 5892, shall beincluded in the Governor’s
2024-25 May Revision. The State Department of Health Care
Services shall consult with the California State Association of
Counties and the County Behavioral Health Directors Association
of California no later than March 15, 2024, to estimate the
resources needed to implement this article and Section 14197.71.

5963.01. (a) A county shall work with each Medi-Ca managed
care plan, as defined in subdivision (j) of Section 14184.101, that
covers residents of the county on development of the managed
care plan’s popul ation needs assessment.

91



—205— SB 326

(b) A county shall work with its local health jurisdiction on
development of its community health improvement plan.

(c) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

5963.02. (@) (1) Each county shall prepare and submit an
integrated plan and annual updates to the Behavioral Health
Services Oversight and Accountability Commission and the
department.

(2) All references to the three-year program and expenditure
plan mean the integrated plan.

(3) Each county’s board of supervisors shall approve the
integrated plan and annual updates by June 30 prior to the fiscal
year or years the integrated plan or update would cover.

(4) A county shall not use the integrated plan to demonstrate
compliance with federal law, state law, or requirements imposed
by the department related to programs listed in subdivision (c).

(b) (1) Each section of the integrated plan and annual update
listed in subdivision (c) shall be based on available funding or
obligations under Section 30025 of the Government Code and
corresponding contracts for the applicable fiscal years and in
accordance with established stakehol der engagement and planning
requirements as required in Section 5963.03.

(2) A county shall consider relevant data sources, including
local data, to guide addressing local needs, including the prevalence
of mental health and substance use disorders, the unmet need for
mental health and substance use disorder treatment in the county,
behavioral health disparities, and the homelessness point-in-time
count, in preparing each integrated plan and annual update, and
should use the data to demonstrate how the plan appropriately
allocatesfunding between mental health and substance use disorder
treatment services.

(3) A county shall consider the popul ation needs assessment of
each Medi-Cal managed care plan, as defined in subdivision (j) of
Section 14184.101, that coversresidents of the county in preparing
each integrated plan and annual update.

(4) A county shall consider the community health improvement
plan of the local health jurisdiction for the county in preparing
each integrated plan and annual update.

91



SB 326 — 206 —

(5 A county shall stratify data to identify behavioral health
disparities and consider approaches to eliminate disparities,
including, but not limited to, promising practices, models of care,
community-defined evidence practices, workforce diversity, and
cultural responsiveness in preparing each integrated plan and
annual update.

(6) A county shall report and consider the achievement of
defined goals and outcomes measures of the prior integrated plan
and annual update, in addition to other data and information as
specified by the department pursuant to Section 5963.05, in
preparing each integrated plan and annual update.

(7) A county with a population greater than 200,000 shall
collaborate with the five most populous cities in the county,
managed care plans, and continuums of care to outline respective
responsibilities and coordination of services related to housing
interventions described in Section 5830.

(8) A county shall consider input and feedback into the plan
provided by stakeholders, including, but not limited to, those with
lived behavioral health experience, including peers and families.

(¢) Theintegrated plan and annual updates shall include asection
for each of the following:

(1) (A) Community mental health services provided pursuant
to Part 2 (commencing with Section 5600).

(B) Programs and services funded from the Behavioral Health
Services Fund pursuant to Section 5890, including a description
of how the county meets the requirements of paragraph (7) of
subdivision (b).

(C) Programsand servicesfunded by the Projectsfor Assistance
in Transition from Homelessness grant pursuant to Sections
290cc-21 to 290cc-35, inclusive, of Title 42 of the United States
Code.

(D) Programs and services funded by the Community Mental
Health Services Block Grant pursuant to Sections 300x to 300x-9,
inclusive, of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(E) Programsand servicesfunded by the Substance Abuse Block
Grant pursuant to Sections 300x-21 to 300x-35, inclusive, of Title
42 of the United States Code.

(F) Programs and services provided pursuant to Article 5
(commencing with Section 14680) of Chapter 8.8 of Part 3 of

91



— 207 — SB 326

Division 9 and Chapter 8.9 (commencing with Section 14700) of
Part 3 of Division 9.

(G) Programs and services provided pursuant to Article 3.2
(commencing with Section 14124.20) of Chapter 7 of Part 3 of
Division 9.

(H) Programs and services provided pursuant to Section
14184.401.

(1) Programs and services funded by distributions from the
Opioid Settlements Fund established pursuant to Section 12534
of the Government Code.

(J) Services provided through other federal grants or other
county mental health and substance use disorder programs.

(2) A budget that includesthe county planned expenditures and
reserves for the county distributions from the Behavioral Health
Service Fund and any other fundsallocated to the county to provide
the services and programs set forth in paragraph (1). The budget
shall aso include proposed adjustments pursuant to the
requirements set forth in paragraph (c) of Section 5892.

(3) (A) A description of how the integrated plan and annual
update aligns with statewide behavioral health goals and outcome
measures, including goals and outcome measures to reduce
identified disparities, as defined by the department in consultation
with counties, stakeholders, and the Behavioral Health Services
and Oversight Accountability Commission, pursuant to Section
5963.05.

(B) Outcome measures may include, but are not limited to,
measures that demonstrate achievement of goals to reduce
homelessness among those eligible for housing interventions
pursuant to Section 5830 and measuresthat demonstrate reductions
in the number of people who are justice-involved in the county
and who are eligible adults or older adults, as defined in Section
5892, or digible children and youth, as defined in Section 5892.

(4) A description of how the integrated plan aigns with local
goals and outcome measuresfor behaviora health, including goals
and outcome measures to reduce identified disparities.

(5 The programs and services specified in paragraph (1) shall
include descriptions of efforts to reduce identified disparities in
behavioral health outcomes.

(6) A description of the data sources considered to meet the
requirements specified in paragraph (2) of subdivision (b).

91



SB 326 — 208 —

(7) A description of how the county has considered the unique
needs of LGBTQ+ youth, justice-involved youth, child
welfare-involved, justice-involved adults, and older adults in the
housing intervention program pursuant to Part 3.2 (commencing
with Section 5830) and Full Service Partnership program pursuant
to Part 4.1 (commencing with Section 5887).

(8) A description of its workforce strategy, to include actions
the county will taketo ensureits county and noncounty contracted
behavioral health workforce is well-supported and culturally and
linguistically concordant with the population to be served, and
robust enough to achieve the statewide and local behavioral health
goals and measures. This description shall include how the county
will do all of the following:

(A) Maintain and monitor anetwork of appropriate, high-quality,
culturally and linguistically concordant county and noncounty
contracted providers, where applicable, that is sufficient to provide
adequate access to services and supports for individuals with
behavioral health needs.

(B) Meet federal and state standards for timely access to care
and services, considering the urgency of the need for services.

(C) Ensurethe health and welfare of the individual and support
community integration of the individual.

(D) Promote the delivery of servicesin aculturaly competent
manner to al individuals, including those with limited English
proficiency and diverse cultura and ethnic backgrounds and
disabilities, regardless of age, religion, sexual orientation, and
gender identity.

(E) Ensure physical access, reasonable accommodations, and
accessible equipment for individuals with physical, intellectual
and developmental, and mental disabilities.

(F) Select andretain all contracted network providers, including
ensuring all contracted providers meet minimum standards for
license, certification, training, experience, and credentialing
requirements.

(G) Ensurethat the contractor’s hiring practices meet applicable
nondiscrimination standards and demonstrate best practices in
promoting diversity and equity.

(H) Adequately fund contracts to ensure that noncounty
contracted providers are resourced to achieve the behavioral health

91



—209— SB 326

goas outlined in their contract for the purposes of meeting
statewide metrics.

(1) Conduct oversight of compliance of all federal and state laws
and regulations of all contracted network providers.

(J) Fill county vacanciesand retain county employees providing
direct behavioral health services, if applicable.

(9) A description of the system developed to transition a
beneficiary’s care between the beneficiary’s mental health plan
and their managed care plan based upon the beneficiary’s health
condition.

(10) Certification by the county behavioral health director, that
ensuresthat the county has complied with all pertinent regul ations,
laws, and statutes, including stakeholder participation requirements.

(11) Certification by the county behavioral health director and
by the county chief administration officer or their designee that
the county has complied with fiscal accountability requirements,
as directed by the department, and that all expenditures are
consistent with applicable state and federal law.

(d) The county shall submit its integrated plan and annual
updates to the department and the commission in a form and
manner prescribed by the department.

(e) Thedepartment shall post onitsinternet website, in atimely
manner, the integrated plan submitted by every county pursuant
to this section.

(f) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

5963.03. (a) (1) Eachintegrated plan shall be developed with
local stakeholders, including, but not limited to, al of the
following:

(A) Eligibleadultsand older adults, as defined in Section 5892.

(B) Familiesof eligible children and youth, eligible adults, and
eligible older adults, as defined in Section 5892.

(C) Youths or youth mental health or substance use disorder
organizations.

(D) Providers of mental health services and substance use
disorder treatment services.

(E) Public safety partners, including county juvenile justice
agencies.

(F) Local education agencies.

91



SB 326 —210—

(G) Higher education partners.

(H) Early childhood organizations.

(1) Local public health jurisdictions.

(J) County social services and child welfare agencies.

(K) Labor representative organizations.

(L) Veterans.

(M) Representatives from veterans organizations.

(N) Health care organizations, including hospitals.

(O) Health care service plans, including Medi-Cal managed
care plans as defined in subdivision (j) of Section 14184.101.

(P) Disahility insurers.

(Q) Tribal and Indian Health Program designees established for
Medi-Cal Tribal consultation purposes.

(R) Thefive most populous citiesin countieswith apopulation
greater than 200,000.

(S) Areaagencieson aging.

(T) Independent living centers.

(U) Continuums of care, including representatives from the
homeless service provider community.

(V) Regiona centers.

(W) Emergency medical services.

(X) Community-based organizations serving culturally and
linguistically diverse constituents.

(2) (A) (i) A county shall demonstrate a partnership with
constituents and stakehol ders throughout the process that includes
meaningful stakeholder involvement on mental health and
substance use disorder policy, program planning, and
implementation, monitoring, workforce, quality improvement,
health equity, evaluation, and budget allocations.

(ii) Stakeholders shal include sufficient participation of
individuals representing diverse viewpoints, including, but not
limited to, representatives from youth from historically
marginalized communities, representatives from organizations
specializing in working with underserved racially and ethnically
diverse communities, representativesfrom LGBTQ+ communities,
victims of domestic violence and sexual abuse, and people with
lived experience of homelessness.

(iif) A county may provide supports, including, but not limited
to, training and technical assistance, to ensure stakeholders,
including peers and families, receive sufficient information and

91



—211— SB 326

data to meaningfully participate in the development of integrated
plans and annual updates.

(B) A draft plan and update shall be prepared and circulated for
review and comment for at least 30 days to representatives of
stakeholder interest and any interested party who has requested a
copy of the draft plan.

(b) (1) The behavioral health board established pursuant to
Section 5604 shall conduct apublic hearing on the draft integrated
plan and annual updates at the close of the 30-day comment period
required by subdivision (a).

(2) Each adopted integrated plan and update shall include
substantive written recommendations for revisions.

(3) The adopted integrated plan or update shall summarize and
analyze the recommended revisions.

(4) The behaviora health board shall review the adopted
integrated plan or update and make recommendations to the local
mental health agency, local substance use disorder agency, or local
behaviora health agency, as applicable, for revisions.

(5 Theloca mental health agency, local substance use disorder
agency, or local behavioral health agency, as applicable, shall
provide an annual report of written explanations to the local
governing body and the department for substantive
recommendations made by the local behavioral health board that
are not included in the final integrated plan or update.

(6) A county may providetraining to ensure stakeholdersreceive
sufficient information and data to meaningfully participate in the
development of integrated plans and annual updates.

(©) (1) A county shall prepare annual updates to its integrated
plan and may prepare intermittent updates.

(2) In preparing annual and intermittent updates:

(A) A county is not required to comply with the stakeholder
process described in subdivisions (a) and (b).

(B) A county shall post on itsinternet website all updatesto its
integrated plan and a summary and justification of the changes
made by the updates for a 30-day comment period prior to the
effective date of the updates.

(d) For purposesof this section, “substantive recommendations
made by the local behavioral hedth board” means a
recommendation that is brought before the board and approved by

91



SB 326 —212—

amajority vote of the membership present at a public hearing of
the local behavioral health board that has established a quorum.

(e) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

5963.04. (&) (1) Annually, countiesand Medi-Cal behaviora
health delivery systems, as defined in subdivision (i) of Section
14184.101, shall submit the County Behavioral Health Outcomes,
Accountability, and Transparency Report to the department.

(2) Thisreport shall includethefollowing dataand information
that shall be submitted in aform, manner, and in accordance with
timelines prescribed by the department:

(A) The county’s annua allocation of state and federal
behavioral health funds, by category.

(B) The county’s annual expenditure of state and federal
behavioral health funds, by category.

(C) The amounts of annual and cumulative unspent state and
federal behavioral health funds, including funds in a reserve
account, by category.

(D) The county’s annual expenditure of county general funds
and other funds, by category, on mental health or substance use
disorder treatment services.

(E) The sources and amounts spent annually as the nonfederal
share for Medi-Cal specialty mental health services and Medi-Cal
substance use disorder treatment services, by category.

(F) All administrative costs, by category.

(G) All contracted services, and the cost of those contracted
services, by category.

(H) Information on behavioral health services provided to
persons not covered by Medi-Cal, including, but not limited to,
those who are uninsured or covered by Medicare or commercial
insurance, by category.

(1) Other data and information, which shall include, but is not
limited to, information on spending on children and youth, service
utilization data, performance outcome measures across all
behavioral health delivery systems, and data and information
pertaining to populations with identified disparitiesin behavioral
health outcomes, as specified by the department. Thisshall include
data through the lens of health equity to identify racial, ethnic,
age, gender, and other demographic disparitiesand inform disparity

91



—213— SB 326

reduction efforts. Other data and information may include the
number of people who are eligible adults and older adults, as
defined in Section 5892, who are incarcerated, experiencing
homel essness, inclusive of the availability of housing, the number
of eligible children and youth, as defined in Section 5892, who
access evidence based early psychosis and mood disorder detection
and intervention programs.

(J Data and information on workforce measures and metrics,
including, but not limited to, all of the following:

(i) Vacancies and effortsto fill vacancies.

(if) The number of county employees providing direct clinical
behavioral health services.

(ili) Whether there is a net change in the number of county
employees providing direct clinical behavioral health services
compared to the prior year and an explanation for that change.

(b) Thedepartment shall establish metrics, in consultation with
counties, stakeholders, and the Behaviora Heath Services
Oversight and A ccountability Commission to measure and evaluate
the quality and efficacy of the behavioral health services and
programs listed in paragraph (1) of subdivision (c) of Section
5963.02. The metrics shall be used to identify demographic and
geographic disparities in the quality and efficacy of behavioral
health services and programslisted in paragraph (1) of subdivision
(c) of Section 5963.02.

(c) Each county’s board of supervisors shall attest that the
County Behavioral Headth Outcomes, Accountability, and
Transparency Report iscomplete and accurate beforeit is submitted
to the department.

(d) Each year, the department shall post on itsinternet website
a statewide County Behavioral Health Outcomes, Accountability,
and Transparency Report.

() (1) The department may require a county or Medi-Cal
behavioral health delivery system, as defined in subdivision (i) of
Section 14184.101, to revise its integrated plan or annual update
pursuant to Section 5963.02 if the department determinesthe plan
or update fails to adequately address local needs pursuant to
paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 5963.02.

(2) The department may impose a corrective action plan or
require a county or Medi-Cal behaviora health delivery system,
as defined in subdivision (i) of Section 14184.101, to revise its

91



SB 326 —214—

integrated plan or annual update pursuant to Section 5963.02 if
the department determines that the county or delivery systemfails
to make adequate progress in meeting the metrics established by
the department pursuant to subdivision (b).

(3) (A) (i) If acounty or Medi-Cal behavioral health delivery
system fails to submit the data and information specified in
subdivision (a) by the required deadline, or as otherwise required
by the department, fails to allocate funding pursuant to Section
5892, or fails to follow the process pursuant to Section 5963.03,
the department may impose a corrective action plan, monetary
sanctions, or temporarily withhold payments to the county or
Medi-Cal behavioral health delivery system, pursuant to Section
14197.7.

(if) Subject to the guidance issued pursuant to Section 5963.05,
if a county’s actual expenditures of its alocations from the
Behavioral Health Services Fund significantly varies from its
budget in Section 5963.02, the department may impose acorrective
action plan, monetary sanctions, or temporarily withhold payments
to the county pursuant to Section 14197.7.

(iii) Notwithstanding subdivision (0) of Section 14197.7,
temporarily withheld payments shall be withheld from the
Behavioral Health Services Fund.

(B) (i) Notwithstanding subdivision (q) of Section 14197.7,
monetary sanctions collected pursuant to this section shall be
deposited in the Behavioral Health Services Act Accountability
Fund, which is hereby created in the State Treasury.

(if) Subject to the department’s guidance issued pursuant to
Section 5963.05, all moniesin the Behavioral Health ServicesAct
Accountability Fund shall be continuously appropriated and
alocated and distributed to the county that paid the monetary
sanction upon the department’s determination that the county has
come into compliance.

(C) Thedepartment shall temporarily withhold amountsit deems
necessary to ensure the county or Medi-Ca behavioral health
delivery system comes into compliance.

(D) Thedepartment shall releasethetemporarily withheld funds
when it determines the county or Medi-Ca behavioral health
delivery system has come into compliance.

(f) Thissection shall be read in conjunction with, and apply in
addition to, any other applicable law that authorizesthe department

91



—215— SB 326

to impose sanctions or otherwise take remedial actions against a
county and Medi-Cal behavioral health delivery system.

(g) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2026, if
amendments to the Mental Health Services Act are approved by
the voters at the March 5, 2024, statewide primary election.

5963.05. (@) Notwithstanding Chapter 3.5 (commencing
Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government
Code, the department may implement, interpret, or make specific
the amendments made pursuant to this act by means of plan or
county letters, information notices, plan or provider bulletins, or
other similar instructions without taking further regulatory action.

(b) By July 1, 2033, the department shall adopt regulations
necessary to implement, interpret, or make specific the amendments
made pursuant to this act in accordance with the requirements of
Chapter 3.5 (commencing Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3
of Title 2 of the Government Code.

(©) (1) For purposes of implementing this act, the department
may enter into exclusive or nonexclusive contracts, or amend
existing contracts, on abid or negotiated basis, including contracts
to implement new or change existing information te